Alma Mater Studiorum - Università di Bologna

DOTTORATO DI RICERCA IN

SCIENZE BIOMEDICHE E NEUROMOTORIE

Ciclo 35

Settore Concorsuale: 06/F1 - MALATTIE ODONTOSTOMATOLOGICHE

Settore Scientifico Disciplinare: MED/28 - MALATTIE ODONTOSTOMATOLOGICHE

INFLUENCE OF APPLICATION MODE OF UNIVERSAL ADHESIVES ON BOND STRENGTH PERFORMANCES AND ENZYMATIC ACTIVITY OF CORONAL AND RADICULAR DENTIN

Presentata da: Federica Florenzano

Coordinatore Dottorato

Matilde Yung Follo

Supervisore

Annalisa Mazzoni

Co-supervisore

Lorenzo Breschi

Esame finale anno 2023

Table of Contents

Influence of application mode of universal adhesives on bond strength performances and enzymatic activity of coronal and radicular dentin	3
ABSTRACT	3
Objective:	3
Materials and methods:	3
Results	5
Keynotes:	6
INTRODUCTION	7
Classification of adhesive systems	8
Universal adhesives	12
Application of dental adhesives	13
Dentin hybridization	14
Degradation of the hybrid layer	15
MMPs Enzimatic activity	16
Solvent role in adhesive system	18
Evaporation mode	20
Pulpal pressure	21
Resin- composite cements	23

Aim:	
Materials & Methods:	
Study protocol and registration	
Eligibility criteria and search strategy	
Study selection and data extraction	
Risk of bias assessment	
Meta-analysis	
Certainty of evidence assessment	
Results:	
Study selection	
Descriptive analysis of the selected studies	
Risk of bias of the included studies	
Quantitative synthesis: meta-analyses	
Loss of retention	
Marginal discoloration	
Marginal adaptation	
POS	
Certainty of evidence assessment	

Aim:	49
Materials and methods	49
Study protocol and registration :	49
Assessment of the Risk of Bias:	51
Meta-analysis:	51
Certainty of evidence assessment :	52
Results:	57
Study selection	57
Risk of bias of the included studies	58
Quantitative synthesis: meta-analyses:	59
Loss of retention	60
Marginal discoloration:	60
Marginal adaptation:	60
Certainty of evidence assessment:	60
The influence of adhesive evaporation on bonding performances to dentin and on enzymatic	С
activity to dentin in presence or not of pulpal pressure	64
Aim:	64
Matarials and matheday	<u> </u>
Materials and methods:	64
Specimens preparation	64
Scanning electron microscony (SEM) evaluation	05
In situ Zymography	05
Statistical analysis	
Kesuits:	66
Microtensile bond strength test (uIBS)	66
Scanning electron microscope (SEM) evaluation	68
In situ zymography anarysis	08
Evaluation of fiber post adhesion to root dentin achieved with different resin cements: 1-yea	ır in
vitro results	71
Aim:	71
Materials and methods	
Results	76
Push-out bond strength test	76
Interfacial nanoleakage expression	/9
Effect of resin cement strategy on bonding performances of orthodontic bracket and tooth c	olor
changes	82
Aim:	82
Matherials and metods:	82
Results:	85
Discussion	91
Conclusions:	
References:	

Influence of application mode of universal adhesives on bond strength performances and enzymatic activity of coronal and radicular dentin

ABSTRACT

Objective:

The primary object of this thesis was to analize the application mode of the universal adhesives and to give clear instructions for reliable clinical procedures. Firstly, we analized the etching mode of universal adhesives on the bond strength to dentin and on the risk of retention, marginal discoloration, marginal adaptation and post-operative sensitivity (POS) by running two systematic reviews. After that we conduct three *in vitro* studies with three different aims: 1) to study the evaporation mode of a universal adhesive on coronal dentin; 2) to examine the cementation approach on radicular dentin (a very different substrate compared with the coronal one); and to evaluate the adhesion of metal brackets to enamel using resin-cements with or without an adhesive.

Materials and methods:

For the first step we have conducted a systematic review. Randomized controlled clinical trials (RCTs) in which resin composites and universal adhesives were used for restoration of non carious cervical lesions (NCCLs) were considered.

Secondary, we proceeded with a different systematic review. Only RCTs in which NCCLs were restored with composites and universal adhesives applied in selective enamel etch (SEE) or self-etch (SE) mode were included.

Further, three different *in vitro* studies were conducted. Regarding the study on evaporation mode, middle/deep dentin of 80 sound extracted human molars were bonded with/without the presence of a simulated pulpal pressure with a universal adhesive applied in total-etch (TE) or SE mode. Two

adhesive evaporation techniques were tested: air-drying or suction with a disposable device. Then, the adhesive was light-cured for 10s, and a 4-mm-thick composite build-up was made. The specimens were stored in artificial saliva at 37°C for 24h (T0) or 6 months (T6), after which they were cut into sticks and submitted to μ TBS test. Fractographic analysis was performed using scanning electron microscopy (SEM). Additional teeth of the same groups (n=3) were prepared for *in situ* zymographic analysis. Bonded sticks were ground down and exposed to fluorescein-conjugated gelatin. Enzymatic activity was evaluated on the images obtained using a confocal microscope. Data were statistically analyzed (p<0.05)

Secondary, about the *in vitro* study of the cementation of a fiber into radicular dentin, 100 premolars were endodontically treated and assigned to 10 groups with different resin-cements (5 different type used in self-cure mode or in light-cure mode). Half of the teeth from each group were subjected to push-out bond strength (PBS) evaluation after 24h (T0), while other half was tested after 12 months (T12) of artificial saliva aging. Additional 4 teeth per group were prepared for nanoleakage (NL) expression evaluation. PBS values were analyzed using multivariate analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey post hoc test. NL scores were analyzed using Chi-square tests (α =0.05).

Finally, for the last study, orthodontic brackets were cemented on 40 freshly extracted human premolars according to 4 different adhesive protocols. Shear bond strength test (SBS) was conducted with an Instron Universal Testing machine. Afterwards, teeth were randomly allocated into subgroups to evaluate two adhesive removal techniques: SL-Sof-Lex on low-speed handpiece; TC-tungsten-carbide multi-laminated high-rotation drill. A 3D scan (3shape) of each model was taken at the beginning (T0), after the SBS (T1) and after cement removal (T2) to assess volumetric differences. To assess the color of buccal enamel surface, spectrophotometry (SpectroShade) was used at room temperature under natural light before the cementation of the bracket, after the bracket removal and after the removal of cement.

Results

After screening of the first systematics review at 12- and 18/24-months the risk for retention loss was higher for SE than for TE groups. No significant differences were observed for marginal discoloration and adaptation. The probability of POS occurrence was less in SE than in TE groups. Using universal adhesives in TE or SEE mode provides more predictable retention, while SE strategy reduces the risk of POS occurrence.

About the second systematic review, the SEE approach seems to perform better than SE.

Regarding the first *in vitro* study it reveals that air-drying resulted in significantly higher µTBS values than suction, regardless of the aging and the adhesive application mode. At T6, the SE groups maintained the same bond strength level as at baseline. SEM images showed the presence of sparse water-tree formations at the adhesive interface in the suction groups, irrespective of the application mode. Suction-evaporation, aging and ER mode increased MMPs activity.

About the fiber post adhesion to root dentin, statistical analysis revealed that variables "cement" and "aging" significantly influenced PBS, but not "polymerization" and "root region". Differences in NL expression were present at T0, and in general the aging process produced an increase in marginal infiltration.

Lastly, brackets cemented with new universal resin-cement with previous etchant application demonstrated bond strength similar to those cemented with the gold standard resin-composite used with the traditional adhesive system. Both adhesive removal techniques successfully cleaned the tooth surface, but also removed a portion of the enamel, particularly SL (p<0.05). The changes in the tooth color were not affected significantly neither by the cementation mode with the materials tested nor with different cement removal techniques (p>0.05).

Conclusion:

It can be stated that SEE performed better than SE and TE when a universal adhesive is used in terms of uTBS.

Evaporating with air-drying is to be preferred to suction mode for the evaporation of the solvent of universal adhesive in terms of uTBS and enzymatic activity.

Aging and choice of resin cement for cementation of fiber posts influenced the PBS, while root region and polymerization protocol seemed to have no influence on posts' resistance to dislodgment.

Finally brackets cementation with TE with tradition adhesive system and the use of a new resincement seems to offer the highest bond strength and leaves more cement remnants after the bracket removal. Cleaning of the remaining cement from the enamel with TC burs seems to be as efficient and less aggressive in terms of healthy tooth tissue preservation compared to the SL.

Keynotes:

universal adhesive; evaporation; dentin; bond strength; bracket; adhesive system.

INTRODUCTION

Developments of bonding systems technologies have completely changed the traditional concepts of adhesive dentistry. Researchers and manufacturers have synergically worked together to simplify clinical procedures, limit operator sensitivity and reduce procedural time. Besides, substantial efforts have been made in the chemistry of adhesive systems to create performable bonding interfaces while maintaining the interfacial integrity stable over time.

Chronologically speaking, universal adhesives represent the latest simplified bonding system launched on the market, constituted by a mixture of hydrophilic and hydrophobic monomers, diluents, and photo-initiator components, all provided in a single bottle solution containing ethanol or acetone as solvents depending on the product. The "universality" of these bonding systems consists of the possibility to be applied in different modes, with/out previous phosphoric acid etching (etch-and-rinse, EAR, and self-etch, SE, mode, respectively) or with only enamel etching (according to the selective enamel etching technique, SEE).

Etching enamel with phosphoric acid has changed the course of restorative dentistry, introducing the modern concept of adhesive dentistry. In general, adhesion mechanism to enamel has remained consistently simple and reliable since the introduction of the acid-etch technique in 1955 by Michael Buonocore [1]. The formation of resin interdigitations into the enamel microporosities created by the dissolution of hydroxyapatite with phosphoric acid is still the crucial mechanism for mechanical bonding of resin-based adhesives to enamel. For dentin, a similar micro-mechanical interdigitating between these two interfaces has been theorized, but it is impeded by the intrinsic humid substrate that usually characterizes this tooth substrate. [2-5] This assumption was based on the abundant resin tags formed by dental adhesives into the dentinal tubules when dentin was previously etched with phosphoric acid (165). Then, the monomer interdiffusion has been demonstrated as the fundamental mechanism in achieving effective dentine bonding (5). Dentin hybridization through monomeric interdiffusion is the key to obtain an effective bond to the dentin tissue. However, the bond between the dental substrate and the restorative material is affected by the presence of residual water or excess solvent.

Several in vitro studies have analyzed the dentin-adhesive bond strength, but not all of them have considered the possibility to replicate the outward fluid flow that clinically occurs through the dentinal tubules due to positive pulpal pressure, estimated to be approximately 15 cm H₂O [9]. Since the accumulation of water at the adhesive interface was demonstrated to decrease bonding performances of adhesive systems, this could count for decreased longevity of the bonded restorations. For this reason, it is mandatory to test bond strength in presence or not of pulpal

pressure, and very few data exist on the bonding performances of the universal adhesives in presence of simulated pulpal pressure.

Within this complicated mechanism, the type of solvent has an important role in adhesive infiltration into the wet dentin substrate. In case of uncomplete solvent evaporation, its residues may interfere with the mechanical properties of resinous materials and consequently have a detrimental impact on the quality and durability of the bonding interface. In addition, uncomplete solvent evaporation may lead to increase in water accumulation within the resin structure and consequently interfere with its polymerization reaction. As a consequence, phenomena of structural plasticization and matrix swelling have been observed [10]. It has been shown that mixing the adhesive with the primer solution decreases the mechanical resistance of adhesive systems because the polymerization process is inhibited by compounds in the primer [8,11]. Among the different methods used for solvent evaporation, no clear indication exists on whether it is the best to be clinically adopted in order to refrain from the deleterious mechanisms previously indicated. Therefore, the evaluation of the effects of different solvent evaporation method is advisable.

Classification of adhesive systems

Traditionally, adhesive bonding systems consist of an acid, primer and adhesive. Acid is used for the removal of mineral crystals and exposure of the collagen fibrils. Primer is a hydrophilic solution of resinous monomers, which allows the infiltration of the resinous monomers, especially in demineralized dentin. The adhesive itself contains mixtures of monomers that penetrate the surfaces treated with the primer, creating a mechanical adhesion to dentin [12]. These components can be presented in separate bottles or together, being carried out in one, two or three clinical application steps.

Ultimately, the adhesive system can be classified according to:

-Generation;

-Solvent;

-Clinical application steps;

-Interaction with the substrate.

The first generation of adhesives, presented by Buonocore in 1956, used NPG-GMA as the main component. This type of adhesive was based on ionic bonds with hydroxyapatite and covalent bonds with collagen, by binding the calcium ions present on the dental surface. The clinical results of these adhesives were very poor with adhesion values hovering around 1-3 MPa [13].

The second generation of adhesives was introduced around the end of the 70s trying to improve the agents used in the first generation. Mainly, polymerizable phosphates such as bis-GMA were added to the resins to promote calcium adhesion of the mineralized tooth structure. This mechanism allowed the formation of ionic bonds which, however, dissolved very quickly in an aqueous environment causing debonding or microleakage (13). The smear layer, as in the first generation, was maintained and the adhesion values obtained were between 4-6 MPa [13].

The third generation introduced in the early 1980s brought with it a major change: acid etching of dentin to modify or partially remove the smear layer. The acid etching was the new milestone of modern adhesion possible thanks to Nakabayashi. By doing so, the dentinal tubules were free and allowed a better application of the primer that was made up mainly of monomers such as 4-META or HEMA [3, 13]. Nakabayashi demonstrated that acid etching of dentin did not cause inflammatory reactions or pulp necrosis [3]. The main disadvantage of this generation was the use of unfilled resins due to their scarcely effective penetration [13].

The fourth generation of adhesive systems has been introduced since the 1990s. It was the first to introduce complete removal of the smear layer and is still considered the gold standard of dentin bonding today. Three separate components are used, sequentially: etchant, primer and bonding. Enamel and dentin are etched simultaneously for 15-20 s, then rinsed and the tooth surface should be left moist to ensure wet bonding and avoid collagen fiber collapse. The formation of the hybrid layer by infiltration of the resins into the dentin surface is the basis of this generation of adhesives and ensures a high bond strength as well as a good dentin seal [13]. Their disadvantage is given by the complexity of using the different components contained individually in separate bottles, due to the multiple steps necessary for their application and by the success of the "wet bonding" which is difficult to reproduce in a standardized way, it is operator dependent.

The fifth generation aims to reduce the steps necessary for the application of fourth generation adhesives, simplifying and speeding up the clinician's work while maintaining the same values in terms of adhesion. In addition, the attempt to remove or at least reduce post-operative sensitivity [13]. Among these, we find the 2-step adhesive systems which consist in the application of etchant and subsequently of primer and bonding in a single solution. This formulation is more susceptible to degradation in water over time than fourth generation adhesives.

The sixth generation of adhesives are also known as "self-etch primers", as the etch step is eliminated. This adhesive system involves the use of an acid primer, followed by the application of the adhesive without rinse the tooth surface. In this way the smear layer is not removed, which is therefore part of the substrate and the "wet bonding" problem is also solved [13]. While the dentin bond values of this generation of adhesives are good, the bond to enamel is less effective. The reason is the use of an

acidic primer that does not have a sufficiently acidic pH. To overcome this problem, a selective preetching of the enamel is proposed using traditional orthophosphoric acid, paying attention not to etch the dentin as well, which would lead to "over-etching" and dentinal hypersensitivity problems [13]. With the seventh generation, researchers tried to further reduce the number of steps necessary for the application also to eliminate operator-dependent errors. 1-step formulations are proposed with etchant, primer, and bonding in a single bottle ("all-in-one bottle"). The main problem is represented by the different chemical nature of the various components and their possibility of remaining stable over time when joined together [13]. This generation of adhesives has lower immediate and over time adhesion values than any adhesive on the market today.

The eighth generation of adhesives has been introduced since 2010, with the inclusion of nanometric fillers. These particles with an average size of about 12 nm increase the penetration of the resinous monomers as well as the thickness of the hybrid layer, improving the mechanical properties of the adhesive system. The type of filler and the methodology with which it is incorporated influence the viscosity of the adhesive and the infiltration capacity of the monomer in the spaces between the collagen fibers [13].

Referring to the classification based on the type of solvent, the addition of a solvent within the composition of an adhesive is essential as it significantly improves the wettability of the adhesive itself with respect to the dental substrate [14].

Solvents can dissolve or disperse one or more substances. When this happens, the molecules or ions separate from each other and the space that remains between them is occupied by the solvent molecules (14). The energy required to break the bonds between the solute molecules is given by the formation of bonds between the solute particles and the solvent molecules (14).

The solubility of these molecules is mainly given by their polarity. Solvents can therefore be classified according to their polarity in [14]:

- polar protic: has a hydroxyl group that can form strong hydrogen bonds (for example: water and ethanol);

- dipolar aprotic: forms hydrogen bonds without the need for a hydroxyl group, but by exploiting a dipole moment. It typically has a ketone group (for example: acetone);

- apolar: it has a low dielectric constant and a low dipole moment.

The most used solvents for formulating adhesives are water, ethanol, and acetone. The use of these solvents compared to others is mainly due to their excellent biocompatibility and wide availability [14].

Another important characteristic to take into consideration when talking about solvents is the vapor tension or pressure, the tendency of a particular substance to pass from the condensed to the gaseous

phase. The possibility that the solvent does not evaporate optimally once the adhesive has been applied to the tooth surface could cause voids and therefore increase the permeability of the adhesive layer (14).

The aqueous solvent has a high dielectric constant, this allows the hydrogen bonds between the collagen fibers to be broken, guaranteeing their re-expansion. Furthermore, it allows the dissociation of weak acids to demineralize enamel and dentin and for this reason, it is often used as a solvent in self-etching systems. It keeps the tooth surface moist, but is less volatile than other solvents, it could risk interfering with adhesion by leaving the substrate too wet.

Regarding the acetone solvent, it has a high vapor pression, therefore it evaporates very quickly. This evaporation allows the residual water to be displaced from the tooth surface, and for this characteristic it is often used in etch-and-rinse systems (14). Precisely, because of this characteristic, drying must be delicate.

Finally, the alcoholic solvent, ethanol evaporates better than water, but worse than acetone, consequently the drying process will be intermediate compared to the other two solvents.

According to Van Meerbeek's classification [12], dental adhesives can be classified by mechanism of action into two categories: "etch-and-rinse"(E&R), "self-etch"(SE) or "etch-and-dry" adhesives. The differences lie essentially in the different approaches in removing the smear layer.

The etch and rinse system involves the use of a strong acid (usually 34-37% orthophosphoric acid) for the preparation of the dental substrates and a subsequent water rinsing to eliminate any acid residues. Indeed, water rinsing has the function of blocking acid demineralization and removing the smear layer [6].

Instead no separate acid etching is foresee in the Self-Etch System, as the tooth substrate conditioning takes place simultaneously with the impregnation by the primer and/or bonding and subsequently only one drying is done without rinsing the tooth surface. Consequently, the smear layer is not carried away, but remains as an integral part of the hybrid layer. Drying is a fundamental step here, because it evaporates the solvent and thus carrying away the water that is essential to allow the dissociation of the acid and therefore its action [6].

The simplified application of this methodology reduces the operator errors and allows lower postoperative sensitivity. However, it has the disadvantage of resulting in a lower adhesive effectiveness to the enamel by not using a strong acid.

Finally, dental adhesives can be classified by number of application steps (the most used classification) into: 3-step, 2-step, 1-step.

The 3-Step methodology is applicable only with etch-and-rinse systems, providing for the sequential application of etchant, primer and bonding. Currently, it is regarded as the gold standard for clinically

excellent results. It can be used on different substrates thanks to the possibility of association with coupling agents and/or silanes. The disadvantage is represented by a long time of application and use and by the possibility of post-operative sensitivity.

The 2-Step methodology can be used with both etch-and-rinse and self-etch systems.

In E&R, a first step of etching is performed and then primer and bonding are applied as a single formulation. This saves time, but the adhesion values are considerably lower than with the 3-step (29). The problem of post-operative sensitivity persists.

In the SE, on the other hand, we have the simultaneous application of etchant and primer: an acid primer is used which is subsequently dried without having to rinse it before applying the bonding. Although these are also less effective at the enamel level, they were proven to be very good in terms of bond strength to dentin and do not cause post-operative sensitivity. To overcome the problem concerning poor adhesion to the enamel, added a selective etching of this substrate is usually proposed.

In the 1-Step methodology, etchant, primer and bonding are contained in a single solution, thus allowing only one operating step, optimizing times to the maximum.

Universal adhesives

Universal adhesives are the answer of many manufacturers to the increasingly insistent demand from clinicians for simplified adhesive systems.

They are called "universal", or "multi-mode", due to the possibility of using them with one of the adhesive strategies chosen by the clinician (E&R, SE or SEE). In addition, they are very versatile adhesives capable of bonding dental structures and the different types of materials used for both direct and indirect restorations, such as resins, glass ceramics, zirconia and metals [7].

As self-etch adhesives, however, they have a poor ability to etch enamel, which is why many authors recommend selective etching. As far as dentin is concerned, on the other hand, it has been seen that they are more performant in terms of immediate bond strength used in etch-and-rinse mode for better penetration of the adhesive inside the dentinal tubules.

However, the etch-and-rinse method is less suitable than the self-etch method when the stability of the bond over time is taken into consideration. This could be attributed to the composition of these adhesives due to the presence of the 10-Methacryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate monomer (10-MDP) capable of establishing a chemical bond with the substrate [7]. The chemical interaction between MDP and hydroxyapatite leads to the surface dissolution of the tooth tissues, which is

followed by the adsorption of MDP on the dentin/enamel surface and the deposition of MDP-Ca salts with lower solubility than that of the salts produced from other functional monomers.

Another aspect to take into consideration is the fact that dentin is a moist substrate and to allow good compatibility with hydrophobic resins, in recent years, attempts have been made to use monomers that are as hydrophilic as possible. Precisely for this reason, universal adhesives (especially the more recent ones), also contain water in association with organic solvents such as ethanol and acetone, so that there is better penetration of the monomer into dentin [8].

Although these components are essential for the composition of such adhesives, they should be adequately removed and/or evaporated during clinical procedures to avoid an inhibition of monomer polymerization.

This evaporation can occur by rubbing the adhesive on the tooth surface, for example with the help of a brush, followed by air-drying [8]. Currently there is no clear indication regarding the correct evaporation time. However, it can be said that a prolonged evaporation time of the solvent leads to an increase in the adhesive bond [8], but finally it depends on the formulation of the specific universal adhesive.

Application of dental adhesives

As previously mentioned, on the basis of the application mode dental adhesive can be classified in "etch and rinse" and "self-etch".

E&R adhesives are applied after complete phosphoric acid etching of dental substrate, the etching should be applied 15 seconds for dentin and 30 seconds for enamel and then rinse well for the same time of acid application. Afterwards it follows the application of the primer with a microbrush that prevent the collapse of demineralized collagen fibrils, promote the formation of the hybrid layer and that should be evaporated in order to allow the bonding to penetrate into the dentinal tubules. The passage of the evaporation is controversial because it doesn't be too long, but at the same time not too short even. [12, 15, 16] Finally the application with a microbrush of the adhesive, that should be not too dense to allow a good adhesion in terms of longevity and marginal adaptation.

Self-etch adhesives instead foresee a selected enamel etching of 15 seconds, rinse well for the same time and then application of etching-primer with a microbrush for 20 seconds, then evaporation. In this adhesive in the first bottle there is a mild acid with the primer. Finally with different microbrush, application of the bonding, gently air-drying and then polymerization for 20 seconds.

In this different type of dental adhesive there is 10-MDP that chemically interacts with dentin during demineralization; this adhesives also contain hydrophilic components and water, for that reason they require extended drying. [17]

Finally, Universal adhesive foresee one single bottle in which primer and bonding are together. The application of the adhesive is preceded to a selective enamel etching with orthophosphoric acid for 15 seconds, then with a microbrush the application for 20 seconds and at last evaporation and polymerization for 20 seconds. It contains 10-MDP and may contains Silane, it reduces risk of overdried or moist dentin, it interacts with different materials, it is a mixture of hydrophobic and hydrophilic components and for this reason it requires extended drying. [18]

Dentin hybridization

The application of the adhesive system (EAR, SE, SEE) on dentin surface results in the formation of "hybrid layer" (HL), a tissue that is composed of demineralized collagen fibrils reinforced by resin matrix. This resin-impregnation creates a transitional "hybrid" layer, that is neither resin nor tooth, but a hybrid of the two. The thin layer of resin-reinforced dentin locks the two dissimilar substances together on a molecular level, sealing the surface against leakage and imparting a high degree of acid resistance [19].

Generally, thicker hybrid layers are observed when using EAR adhesive systems when compared to SE systems, because of the action of a more acid etchant used in the first mode, that completely dissolves the smear layer. [20] But thicker hybrid layers do not necessarily mean higher bond strengths, since both adequate immediate bond strength and good clinical behavior was observed when using SE systems. [21-24] Neither EAR or SE adhesive systems can prevent the phenomenon of nanoleakage - the diffusion of small ions or molecules within the hybrid layer in the absence of gap formation. [25,26]

About adhesion to radicular dentin we must consider the structural features of the root canal. Ferrari et al. (2000) evaluated dentine morphology in root canals in terms of tubule orientation and density. Root dentin is a very different structure compared to coronal dentin, it contains accessory root canals, areas of resorption, embedded and free pulp stones, and varying amounts of irregular secondary dentine 155].

Adhesion to radicular dentin can be obtained by 3 different cementation strategies: etch-and-rinse (EAR), self-etch (SE) and self- adhesive approach (SA). The first two groups of cements rely on the use of adhesive systems and formation of hybrid layer. Hybrid layer thickness in root canal dentine has not been reported in the dental literature.

The hybrid layer would be more important for adhesion to apical dentine than resin tag formation because fewer tags are available for resin penetration in this area.[153] Kielbassa et al. in 2004 demonstrated in an in vitro study that complete infiltration of adhesive into root canal dentine was achieved after conditioning dentine with phosphoric acid. [153] Nevertheless, with the development of the innovative universal resin-cements for the luting of the fiber post inside the root canal dentine, as Josic et al. demonstrated in a recent study [154] good bond strength values developed also with multimode resin-cements without previous etching mode.

Degradation of the hybrid layer

Complete infiltration of monomers into the wet and demineralized dentin is not easily achieved, leaving incompletely infiltrated zones along the bottom of the HL containing denuded collagen fibrils [26-29] surrounded by rinse-water. This has been confirmed by immunohistochemical labeling of acid-etched, resin-infiltrated dentin, after staining with anti-type I collagen antibodies. This revealed a weak labeling of collagen fibrils at the top half of the HL, but an intense labeling of collagen fibrils in the deepest part of the HL [29,30]. These results suggest that resin penetrates the top half of the HL, but not the bottom half.

In the SE strategy, a separate acid-etching step is not required since the adhesive co-monomers simultaneously demineralize and infiltrate the dentinal substrate, decreasing the discrepancy between the depth of demineralization and the depth of resin infiltration, creating a more homogenous resin infiltration of demineralized collagen fibrils when compared to E&R systems [29-32]. The stability of the SE adhesive bonding technique depends on the effectiveness of the coupling between the collagen fibril substrate and the comonomers [29-33]. Some studies reported a reduced amount of porosities and more homogenous resin infiltration and a better protection of collagen fibrils in SE adhesives compared to the E&R technique [29,34]. However, the efficacy of SE bonding on enamel without separate acid etching is still questionable [29,35,36].

About the hybrid layer created by using UA, it has been confirmed that this new type of adhesives cannot infiltrate to the full depth of demineralized dentin created by phosphoric acid in the E&R strategy [37]. In contrast, the HL of UA with the SE technique seems to be shallower and more durable, since this adhesive contains functional monomers capable of chemically interacting with hydroxyapatite and maintaining the collagen fibrils protected over time [29,37-40].

The degradation of the HL remains an ongoing issue, fundamental to improve the longevity of the resin-dentin interface. Experimental strategies are developed by different research groups to extend the longevity of resin-dentin bonds: increasing the degree of conversion and esterase resistance of

hydrophilic adhesives; inhibitors of collagenolytic enzymes; use of collagen cross-linking agents; biomimetic remineralization of resin-dentin bonds; Calcium-chelation dry bonding; and finally also ethanol wet-bonding with hydrophobic resins [29,33].

MMPs Enzimatic activity

Dentin is a collagen-based mineralized tissue consisting of inorganic apatite crystallites embedded in an extracellular matrix (ECM). Type I collagen is the main component of the ECM compartment of dentin, representing up to 90% of the organic material, in addition, several proteins constitute approximately 10% of the matrix. The non-collagenous dentin proteins include proteoglycans, phospholipids, and enzymes. Among the dentin enzymes, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) have the roles in several physiological and pathological processes in dentin.

Metalloproteinases are a family of more than 20 proteolytic enzymes; a class of zinc and calcium dependent endopeptidases capable of degrading extracellular matrix proteins as well as coagulation factors, lipoproteins, growth factors, chemotactic and cell adhesion molecules [43].

They are usually secreted as pro-enzymes in an inactive form to be then activated by other proteinases (including active MMPs) or by chemical agents (including reactive oxygen species); even a low pH would seem to be able to activate them, interrupting the bridge between the Zn2+ ion and the cysteine residue [43].

Human dentin contains at least five types of MMPs including MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-7, MMP-8, MMP-9, and MMP-20 [41,44-49, 156]. They are trapped within the mineralized dentin matrix during tooth development [45] and dentinal caries [48].

The majority of them are produced as latent zymogens (pro-MMPs). Disruption of MMP-collagen binding due to exposure to mild acids (pH1/42.3-5) [48] converts the pro-MMPs to active MMPs through splitting the low-molecular- weight peptides [41,50,51]. Over time, auto activation of further pro-MMPs may result in increasing the enzymatic activity [41, 42].

MMPs consist of a prodomain, a catalytic domain, as well as other domains governing factors such as substrate specificity, recognition, and interaction [52, 53]. They are usually expressed as inactive zymogens, and the prodomain must be dissociated from the catalytic one for its activation [53,54]. In nonactivated MMPs, the unpaired cysteine in the prodomain forms a bridge with the catalytic zinc (referred to as the "cysteine switch" mechanism), preventing enzymatic activity and acting as a ligand for the catalytic zinc atom in the active site, excluding water molecules and rendering the enzyme inactive [53, 55].

MMPs can be kept inactive by specific endogenous molecules called "tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases" (TIMP) [52], these molecules are involved in local control of MMP activities in tissues and consists of 4 members (TIMP1-4) that collectively inhibit MMP activities and restrict ECM breakdown [53, 56,57].

The balance between MMP and TIMP is responsible for the remodeling of the extracellular matrix of the tissues, an important feature for its development and repair.

The first evidence of collagenolytic activity in dentin was reported in the early 1980s both in carious and intact dentin [53]. More recently, MMPs were identified as being responsible for that activity [48,53].

Although the physiological roles of MMPs in dentin are not well understood, they have been suggested to participate in peritubular and tertiary dentin formation and in the release of dentinal growth factors [53, 54, 58, 59].

Since the evidence of bacterial input to the degradation of the organic matrix of carious dentin is lacking, it has more recently been thought to be mediated mainly by host-derived MMPs [43, 48, 54]

The MMPs present in dentin are produced by odontoblasts [56] during secretion of dentin matrix and are suggested to be involved in dentin formation. After mineralization of the collagen matrix, the inactive proforms of MMPs remain trapped within the calcified matrix [54], where they can be re-exposed and potentially activated during the dentin caries process. The acidic environment created by bacterial acids can facilitate the activation of endogenous MMPs. Low pH leads to the cleavage of prodomain and thus facilitates the functional activity of MMPs [48, 60].

Being activated by acidic agents, MMPs are activated during adhesive procedures; self-etching adhesive systems and universal adhesive have mild acidity, that provides a low pH environment that may activate latent endogenous matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) enzymes [41,42]. If the collagen matrix is not completely infiltrated by the resins, they can slowly degrade the collagen fibers of the hybrid layer, resulting in a reduction of longevity of the restoration. They are therefore involved not only in the processes of autolytic degeneration of the dental tissues but also in the degradation of the hybrid layer. Particularly two types of MMPs are involved in this process: MMP-2 and MMP-9.

Several non-specific synthetic inhibitors able to act on different MMPs have been used, currently the most used are: chlorhexidine, benzalkonium chloride and quaternary ammonium methacrylates [61,62].

As mentioned before, adhesion on radicular dentine can be achieved by the use of adhesive system and resin-cements or by the most up-to-date system of the self-adhesive resin-cement. With the use of separate adhesive system the hybrid layer is created, by the elimination of the smear layer and the penetration of the bonding resin in the radicular tubules. Also in this substrate HL is subject to the degradation by the endogenous dentinal enzymes, such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). In attempt to overcome this failures, using cross-linking agents and MMPs inhibitors, among which is 1-ethyl-3- (3-dimethylamino-propyl) carbodiimide (EDC), can be an interesting approach in preserving resin- dentin integrity. So far, promising results have been obtained when using EDC on coronal dentin.

Two main mechanisms are considered to be responsible for HL degradation: the disintegration and solubilization of collagen fibers and the hydrolysis and leaching of the adhesive resin material from the interfibrillar spaces. Hydrolysis play a fundamental role in this process. (157) In an attempt to overcome this problem, contemporary adhesive systems contain a mixture of hydrophilic resin monomers, such as two-hydroxyethyl methacrylate (HEMA), diluents and organic solvents, usually water, ethanol or acetone. These hydrophilic resin monomers are important for infiltration of the adhesive systems through the wet and demineralized dentin causing the hybridization of the adhesive with the substrate. (158) Still, the mentioned hydrophilic resin monomers in adhesives formulations cause high water sorption by the resin systems and generate a HL which acts like a ruptured membrane after curing, which allows water to move across the bonded interface (159).

Consequently, resin-infiltrated collagen matrix is solubilized, the underlying insoluble collagen fibrils become exposed and enzyme, such as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), attact them. (29) Furthermore, the presence of residual water in the pretreated (etched) dentin can decrease the polymerization of the adhesive monomers which further leads to the increased permeability of the adhesive layer. (160) Even though great advances have been made in the field of adhesive dentistry, all adhesives show variable degrees of incomplete polymerization that correspond to the extent of fluid movement throughout the adhesive layer. (161)

Solvent role in adhesive system

The addition of resin solvents to the composition of adhesives is fundamental since they need to bond to dental tissue. The wet nature of dentine only allows good wetting when a hydrophilic bonding is applied [26]. By adding hydrophilic monomers on one hand, and a solvent on the other hand, the wetting behavior of the adhesive is drastically improved [61]. The low viscosity of primers and/or adhesive resins is partly due to the dissolution of the monomers in a solvent and will improve its diffusion ability in the micro-retentive tooth surface. In E&Rs, the main function of the solvent, present within the primer of 3-step E&Rs, and within the combined primer-adhesive resin ('one-bottle systems') in 2-step E&Rs, is to promote good penetration of the monomers in the collagen network

of the demineralized dentin [62]. In case of bonding to air-dried dentin, the solvent should also be capable of reexpanding the collapsed network [63,64]. In self-etch adhesives (SEAs), the use of water as a solvent is indispensable to ensure ionization of the acidic monomers [65,66]. Solvents are substances that are capable of dissolving or dispersing one or more other substances [67]. When a solvent dissolves a solid or a liquid, the molecules (or ions) become separated from each other and the spaces in between become occupied by solvent molecules. The energy required to break the bonds between solute molecules is supplied by the formation of bonds between the solute particles and the solvent molecules: the old intermolecular forces are replaced by new ones. The solubility characteristics of molecules are determined chiefly by their polarity. Non-polar or weakly polar compounds dissolve in nonpolar or weakly polar solvents; highly polar compounds dissolve in highly polar solvents ('alike dissolves alike'). The polarity of solvents is determined by both the dipole moment and the dielectric constant [67]. Chemists have classified solvents into three categories according to their polarity: polar protic, dipolar aprotic and apolar solvents. Polar protic solvents consist of a hydroxyl-group that can form strong hydrogen bonds. Examples are water and ethanol. Polar aprotic solvents do not have the required hydroxyl-group to form hydrogen bonds but do have a large dipole moment. They usually also contain a keton group. Typical example is acetone. Apolar solvents have both a low dielectric constant and dipole moment. The polarity of a solvent is also important to predict the shelf life of adhesives, as apolar solvents will more easily pass-through traditional polyethylene packaging.

In adhesives, water, ethanol and acetone are the most commonly used solvents. Other polyvalent alcohol solvents have been evaluated but are not used commercially [68]. The use of these organic solvents in adhesives must be explained by their inexpensiveness, their wide availability, and their good biocompatibility. Most other typical solvents are toxic. MMA and HEMA, both small monomer compounds have also been described as diluents for other monomers and can therefore also be called solvents. Moreover, the hydroxyl-group of HEMA also provides in hydrogen bonds [69]. However, the H-bonding capacity of HEMA is limited. DENTSPLY added tert-butanol to a recent 2-step E&R, because of its similar vapor pressure as ethanol, but better stability towards chemical reaction with monomers. Most important characteristics of a solvent are its dipole moment, dielectric constant, boiling point, vapor pressure and H-bonding capacity. The vapor pressure of a solvent is important to ensure good evaporation of the solvent after application of the adhesive onto tooth tissue [70,71]. Air-drying after application also facilitates the removal of remaining solvent from the adhesive [72]. In addition, air-drying will decrease the thickness of the adhesive layer, which has been shown to promote further solvent removal [73]. Complete evaporation is however difficult to achieve and is hampered by the short clinical air-blowing time [45, 71]. Remaining solvent in the adhesive may

jeopardize polymerization due to dilution of the monomers and may result in voids and hence permeability of the adhesive layer [64, 74,75]. Instructions for air-blowing solvent-free adhesive resins of course do not envisage solvent evaporation but intend to render the adhesive layer uniform and even. The H-bonding capacity of a solvent has been shown to be important to re-expand the shrunken demineralized collagen network after dehydration [69, 76]. Solvents that have higher affinity to form H-bonds, will be able to break stabilizing H-bonds and other forces that keep the collagen in shrunken state [14].

Evaporation mode

Removal of excess of water and/or solvent from dentin as apply the adhesive system and keeping the dentin itself moist, remains a delicate point.

About organic solvents, they act as carriers of the monomers into the collagen interfibrillar spaces and as diluents to lower the resin viscosity. Additionally, these solvents enhance infiltration of resins into the microporosities created onto by the etchant or by the conditioner [14].

Solvent volatilization can facilitate the polymerization reaction because the distance among monomers is reduced, increasing the degree of conversion [77]. Ideally, solvents should be completely volatilized from the applied mixture prior to polymerization. The choice of solvents impacts the polymerization in several manners. Solvent type affects the diffusion of the polymer chains, the viscosity, the intermolecular termination rate, the primary chain length, the gel point conversion, among others [78]. The evaporation of solvents with compressed air is a technique-sensitive step difficult to accomplish using current clinical techniques. Some reports have suggested that solvents may take up to 20 min to almost evaporate completely [8,79,80]. Solvent can be evaporated also by suction, that means by the application of a negative pressure, by the so-called "suction drying", a techninque less operator- dependent, and that may guarantee a reduction of collagen fibrils collapse. In 2008 Magne et al. analyzed this technique, about which the data in the literature are scarce or non-existent, and concluded that there are no difference between the two evaporation technique on the microtensile bond strength to dentin. (162)

Acetone has a higher vapor pressure than ethanol and water, which may reduce the time required for evaporation compared to ethanol [81].

As for ethanol solvent, with its evaporation the monomer concentration increases dramatically reducing the vapor pressure of the remaining ethanol [82]. This increase in monomer concentration prevents further solvent evaporation, resulting in residual ethanol being trapped inside the adhesive layer [81].

Changes in solvent concentration and solvent type affect the quality of cross-linking and polymer network [78]. Excess solvent in the cured adhesive may result in a porous structure at the adhesive/dentin interface [82,83]. This situation may be more relevant for the most hydrophilic simplified 1-step adhesives or universal ones, as the amount of residual solvent/water retention is correlated with the hydrophilicity of the adhesive solution [84].

It was shown that ethanol-based adhesives present tensile strength and modulus of elasticity decrease with an increase in ethanol content [36], which may explain the increased bond strength with extended evaporation times [8].

Pulpal pressure

There are various structural components and dentin properties that can directly influence adhesive bonding: biological and clinical factors including dentin permeability and pulpal pressure [85]. Dentin is a very permeable (due to the presence of dentinal tubules) and moist (due to the dentinal fluid contained within the tubules) tissue.

Several adhesive systems today, especially the universal ones, contain hydrophilic monomers and water for greater compatibility with dentin. Given this characteristic, however, over time they are much more susceptible to hydrolytic degradation with a consequent reduction in the bond strength [64].

Pulpal pressure increases the water supply to the hybrid layer via the dentinal fluid flowing within the tubules. Absorption of water at this level promotes degradation of the adhesive. This phenomenon is so influential that many studies describe attempts to plug the tubules to optimize the seal and adhesive bond [86].

It is fundamental to reproduce in vitro the simulated pulpal pressure, in order to have a similar in vivo condition.

There are three different technique in order to reproduce the pulpal pressure in an extracted tooth:

Hydrostatic intra-pulpal pressure. The pulpal tissue was removed with a tweezer taking care
not to touch the walls of the pulpal chamber. This technique was validated by Feitosa et al
[65] immediately after bonding and restorative procedures, two layers of nail polish were
applied around the adhesive interface to avoid water penetration at this site. Each specimen
was then fixed with wax inside the lid of a cylindrical container , from the dentin side,
avoiding to touch the pulp chamber. Subsequently, the vessel was filled with distilled water
to a height of 20 cm, the lid with the fixed samples closed and turned upside down. In this
way the samples had a water column of 20 cm on them and the pressure inside the pulp

chamber was 20 hPa, according to the hydrostatic pressure equation: P = g x d x h; where P is hydrostatic pressure, g is gravity, d is liquid density and h liquid height.

- 2) Microsyringe method: crown segments, each with a minimal remaining dentin thickness of 0.7–0.8 mm, were obtained by first removing the roots at 1 mm beneath the cementoenamel junction (CEJ). The occlusal enamel of each crown segment was subsequently removed with a parallel cut at 1.5 mm above the CEJ to expose the dentine. The exposed dentine was polished with 180 grit silicon carbide papers to create a standard bonding substrate in deep dentin. Pulpal tissue was removed from the exposed pulp chamber without altering the predentin surface. A pincer-type caliper was used for measurement of the remaining dentin thickness (RDT) that was between 0.7 and 0.8 mm. Each tooth section was attached to a Plexiglas platform (2 cm × 2 cm × 0.5 cm) that was perforated by an 18 gauge stainless steel tube using cyanocrylate adhesive . Each specimen was connected to a hydraulic pressure device that delivered 20 cm water pressure during the measurement of the dentine permeability (P). [163]
- 3) Dynamic intra-pulpal pressure simulation (modified protocol of Pashley and Depew with the addiction of an infusion pump [164]): to obtain the crown segment, the occlusal enamel was removed and expose flat mid-coronal dentin and the roots were cut off 1 mm below the cemento-enamel junction. Two cuts were made parallel to each other and perpendicular to the long axis of each tooth, accessing the pulp chamber at the furcation level . The pulp tissue was carefully removed using tweezers, without touching the surrounding predentin walls. The pulp chamber was irrigated with 2.5% NaOCl for 30 seconds, followed by immersion in distilled water for 30 minutes to neutralize the effects of NaOCl.

Each crown segment was attached to a plexiglass plate on the pulp side using a cyanoacrylate adhesive (Model Repair II Blue; Dentsply-Sankin, Tochigi, Japan) and the pulp chamber was penetrated by an 18-gauge stainless steel needle. A transparent capillary tube was connected to the stainless steel needle, and the other end of this tube was inserted into a pressure reservoir to maintain an airtight seal and then filled with distilled water. To generate an intra-pulpal pressure of 15 cmH2O, the level of distilled water in the container was adjusted to 15 cm above the flat dentin surface of each crown segment. The pump was set at 0.36 μ L/min to simulate the outward fluid flow rate .

Resin- composite cements

The function of dental cements is to retain indirect restorations, orthodontic brackets and post/core restorations in their position in which they have been placed during sitting positions. The mechanism responsible for keeping in place the restorations can be micromechanical (creation of hybrid layer), chemical and mechanical (friction). In the past, non-resin-based cements were used for cementation of indirect restorations made of metal, whereas today esthetic restorations are usually cemented with resin-based cements, which provide adhesion to tooth tissues [65].

Currently, resin-based dental cements are classified based on their polymerization kinetics (lightcure, auto-cure and dual-cure cements), and based on the number of steps applied during cementation procedure (conventional-multistep and self-adhesive resin cements) [87].

Light-cured resin cements are usually indicated under thin and translucent restorations where there is sufficient light penetration. However, when the restoration thickness is greater than 2 mm or its opacity inhibits light transmission, the light transmission can be compromised [88]. Furthermore, it was reported that the thickness of ceramic restoration has a more important effect on light transmission and polymerization of the cement compared to ceramic shade [89]. Therefore, light-cure cements are used in situations such as cementing veneers (in the anterior region) or thin inlays in which the thickness and color of the restoration cannot influence in a great manner the ability of the curing light to polymerize the cement [89].

When dealing with cases of thick indirect restorations or luting of fiber posts where light transmission is relatively limited, dual-cure resin cements are the material of choice [88, 90, 91]. Like with the light-cure cements, the polymerization of a dual-cure cement is crucial to provide adequate bond strength in the interface of restoration-resin cement and resin cement- dentin. Dual-cure cements can be photo-polymerized, or a redox initiator system can initiate the polymerization [92,93]. Interestingly, even though they are meant to polymerize well in the absence of light, lower degree of conversion was seen when dual-cure cements were light-cured through thicker ceramics, and resin cements shade and light-exposure time also had an effect on the degree of conversion on this group of cements [94]. Additionally, it has been observed that when light activation was applied, dual-cure resin cements may limit their self-cure mechanism and may compromise their mechanical properties. This property has been reported to be product-dependent and cannot be generalized to all dual-cure resin cements [65]. Another in vitro study found superior results in terms of post-gel shrinkage when delaying photopolymerization for 5 minutes [95]. However, these results referrer to the cases when indirect restorations were cemented with dual-cure resin cements. A recent study investigated the effect of delayed light-curing when luting FRC posts with dual-cure resin cements. In accordance

with the above mentioned studies, the delayed light-activation increased the retention of FRC posts of some dual-cure resin cements to radicular dentin, most likely due to the reduced polymerization stress and higher degree of carbon double bond (C = C) conversion of the cements [96].

Another classification of resin cements is based on the number of steps used during their application and their interaction with dentin [65]. Although the terminology found in the literature is not always consistent, resin cements that require the application of adhesive systems prior to their application are referred to as (conventional) multi-step resin cements, while those that can be applied directly to the dentin surface without any pretreatment belong to the group of self-adhesive cements [97].

Unlike multi-step resin cements that require adhesive system application, with or without separate acid etching step, self-adhesive cements are considered to be more user friendly and less- technique sensitive. The incorporation of acidic functional methacrylate or related monomers is a critical component in self-adhesive resin cements because effective chemical bonding to tooth tissues requires a polyacid matrix structure, based on a preformed polyalkenoate or one that is created in situ during a curing process involving acidic monomers [98]. The self-adhesive resin cements that can be found on today's market are two-part materials that require either hand mixing, capsule trituration or delivery by an auto-mixing dispenser [85, 98]. According to Ferracane et al. (2011), self-adhesive cements are comprised of conventional mono-, di- and / or multi-methacrylate monomers that are used in a variety of resin-based dental materials: Bis-GMA, urethane oligomers of BisGMA, UDMA, HEMA, TEGDMA, trimethyloylpropane trimethacrylate (TMPTMA). The functional acidic monomers that are utilized to achieve demineralisation and bonding to the tooth surface are still predominantly (meth)acrylate monomers with either carboxylic acid groups, as with 4 methacryloxyethyl trimellitic anhydride (4-META) and pyromellitic glycerol dimethacrylate (PMGDM), or phosphoric acid groups, as with 2-methacryloxyethyl phenyl hydrogen phosphate (Phenyl-P), 10-methacryloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate (MDP), bis (2-methacryloxyethyl) acid phosphate (BMP) and dipentaerythritol pentaacrylate monophosphate (Penta-P) [98]. The presence of the acidic monomers is critically important since it forms a strong, aqueous insoluble salt complex between Ca and the relatively hydrophobic MDP, whereas 4-Met and Phenyl-P produce a Cacomplex with partial stability to dissolution [98]. So far, the proposed mechanism of action of the self-adhesive cements has been studied and, in general, most of the authors are in agreement in terms of the cements' interaction to dental tissues. Briefly, the setting reaction of RelyX Unicem (the most investigated self-adhesive cement) is based on the the free radical methacrylate polymerisation process as the primary reaction mode. This is then followed by activation by chemical and photochemical routes that initiate the cross-linking polymerisation of monomers with and without phosphoric acid functionality. The acidic groups bind with Ca in the hydroxylapatite to form a stable

junction between the methacrylate network and the tooth tissues. Ions released from the acid-soluble filler neutralize the residual acidic groups to form a chelate reinforced three- dimensional methacrylate network [98]. Lastly, there is evidence by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy of good chemical interaction with Ca from hydroxylapatite, which suggests that micromechanical retention is not the most significant mechanism of adhesion, since infiltration of more than a µm into the dentinal surface is present, and no real resin tag formation can be observed when using self-adhesive resin cements [99].

Is clinical behavior of composite restorations placed in non-carious cervical lesions influenced by the application mode of universal adhesives? A systematic review and meta-analysis.

Aim:

To answer the following PICOS question: "Is the risk of retention loss, marginal discoloration, marginal adaptation and postoperative sensitivity (POS) equal for etch-and-rinse (EAR) compared to self-etch (SE) or selective-enamel etch (SEE) mode when restoring non carious cervical lesions (NCCLs) with universal adhesives?".

Materials & Methods:

Study protocol and registration

This study protocol was registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) database under the number CRD42020184666. The reporting of this systematic review and meta-analysis followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) [100].

Eligibility criteria and search strategy

The PICOS [101] strategy that guided the choice of the inclusion criteria and the search strategy, is described herein:

Population (P) - adult patients with the need of NCCL restoration;

Intervention (I) – composite restoration placed using universal adhesive in EAR mode;

Comparison (C) - composite restoration placed using universal adhesive in SE or SEE mode;

Outcome (O) - clinical parameters used to evaluate direct composite restorations (retention, marginal adaptation/discoloration, POS) for different follow-up periods;

Study design (S) – randomized controlled clinical trials.

A comprehensive literature search was performed with no language restriction through several international and national databases. To identify relevant RCTs investigating the clinical behavior of NCCL composite restorations placed using universal adhesives in EAR, SE, or SEE modes, Clarivate

Analytics' Web of Science (including Web of Science Core Collection-WoS, Korean Journal Database — KJD, Russian Science Citation Index — RSCI, SciELO Citation Index — SciELO) [1980-2021], Scopus [1960-2021], PubMed [1964-2021], Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) [1996-2021], and Latin American & Caribbean Health Sciences Literature (LILACS) through the Virtual Health Library (VHL) portal [1982-2021], were explored up to January 11, 2021. Preliminary searches of mentioned key sources were conducted to identify potential previously published systematic reviews and relevant RCTs in the field, as well as terms and synonyms related to the main concepts of interest (non-carious cervical lesions and universal adhesives). Test searches were also used to develop and evaluate various information retrieval strategies, maximize sensitivity, and obtain the most optimal search structure. Various combinations of previously identified free keywords, relevant controlled vocabulary terms (Medical Subject Headings - MeSH descriptors, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/mesh), Boolean, truncation, and proximity operators were used, depending on the database being searched. Details on the number of identified articles and complete representation of applied strategies for all searched databases, including the search terms employed, are given in Supplementary Table 1. Furthermore, complementary searches through OpenGrey, Google Scholar[™] (first 100 returns), and other available digital repositories (e.g., Networked Digital Library of Theses and Dissertations, Open Access Theses and Dissertations, DART-Europe E-theses Portal – DEEP, Opening access to UK theses – EThOS) were performed to identify unpublished manuscripts, research reports, conference papers, doctoral dissertations, and other grey literature. Finally, reference lists of included studies and relevant reviews were also examined to assure the reliability of obtained data and inclusion of relevant studies that may not have been identified through database and grey literature searches. Additional search during the final drafting of the paper performed up to July 12, 2021, indicated no new relevant studies had been published after completion of the literature search.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: (1) In vitro or ex vivo studies; (2) reviews (narrative or systematic); (3) case reports; (4) conference abstracts; (5) studies that did not involve at least two groups of direct restorations within the same patient comparing EAR with SE or SEE mode; (6) studies that compared outcomes between vital and non-vital teeth; (7) studies on primary dentition; (8) experiments carried out on animal subjects; (9) materials other than resin composite used as restorative material; (10) cavities other than NCCLs. No minimum follow-up period threshold was established for this systematic review and meta-analysis, since POS, which is very likely to occur in the first hours or days after the restorative procedure, was one of the main outcomes of interest. Supplementary Table 1. Electronic Databases and Search Strategy

Database	(n)) Search strategy #1 AND #	ŧ2
----------	-----	----------------------------	----

WoS (n=80)	#1	TOPIC: (("non-carious cervical" OR "noncarious cervical" OR "Class V" OR
KJD (n=0)		"Class 5") NEAR/0 lesion\$) OR NCCL\$ OR ((cervical OR tooth) AND
RSCI (n=0)		(erosion OR abrasion)) OR abfraction (n=7,670)
SCIELO (n=2)	#2	TOPIC: (((universal OR multimod* OR multi-mod*) NEAR/2 adhesive\$) OR "one-bottle" OR "same bottle" OR "all-in-one") AND (self-etch OR etch- and-rinse OR total-etch OR (selective AND enamel AND etch*)) (n=743)
Scopus	#1	TITLE-ABS-KEY (("non-carious cervical" OR "noncarious cervical" OR
(n=57)		"Class V" OR "Class 5") W/0 lesion) OR NCCL OR ((cervical OR tooth)
		AND (erosion OR abrasion)) OR abfraction (n=11,641)
	#2	TITLE-ABS-KEY (((universal OR multimod* OR multi-mod*) W/2
		adhesive) OR "one-bottle" OR "same bottle" OR "all-in-one") AND (self-
		etch OR etch-and-rinse OR total-etch OR (selective AND enamel AND etch*)) (n=574)
PubMed	#1	(("non-carious cervical"[Title/Abstract] OR "noncarious
(n=53)		cervical"[Title/Abstract] OR "Class V"[Title/Abstract] OR "Class
		5"[Title/Abstract]) AND "lesion*"[Title/Abstract]) OR
		"NCCL"[Title/Abstract] OR (("cervical"[Title/Abstract] OR
		"tooth"[Title/Abstract]) AND ("erosion"[Title/Abstract] OR
		"abrasion"[Title/Abstract])) OR "Tooth Erosion"[Mesh] OR "Tooth
		Abrasion"[Mesh] OR "abfraction"[Title/Abstract] (n= 7,309)
	#2	((("universal"[Title/Abstract] OR "multimodal"[Title/Abstract] OR
		"multimode"[Title/Abstract] OR "multi-modal"[Title/Abstract] OR "multi-
		mode"[Title/Abstract]) AND "adhesive*"[Title/Abstract]) OR "one-
		bottle"[Title/Abstract] OR "same bottle"[Title/Abstract] OR "all-in-
		one"[Title/Abstract]) AND ("self-etch"[Title/Abstract] OR "etch-and-
		rinse"[Title/Abstract] OR "total-etch"[Title/Abstract] OR
		("selective"[Title/Abstract] AND "enamel"[Title/Abstract] AND
		"etch*"[Title/Abstract])) (n=801)

- CENTRAL #1 (("non-carious cervical" OR "noncarious cervical" OR "Class V" OR "Class (n=10) 5") NEAR/0 lesion?) OR NCCL? OR ((cervical OR tooth) AND (erosion OR abrasion)) OR abfraction OR [mh "Tooth Erosion"] OR [mh "Tooth Abrasion"] (n= 848)
 - #2 (((universal OR multimod* OR multi-mod*) NEAR/2 adhesive?) OR "one-bottle" OR "same bottle" OR "all-in-one") AND ("self-etch" OR "etch-and-rinse" OR "total-etch" OR (selective AND enamel AND etch*)) (n=24)
- LILACS#1TITLE-ABS-SUBJECT (((("non-carious cervical" OR "lesiones cervicales
no cariosas" OR "lesões cervicais não cariosas" OR "noncarious cervical" OR
"Class V" OR "clase V" OR "classe V" OR "Class 5" OR "clase 5" OR "classe
5") AND (lesion\$ OR cavidade\$)) OR NCCL OR ((cervical OR tooth OR
dental OR dentaria OR dente) AND (erosion OR Erosão OR Erosión OR
abrasion OR Abrasão OR Abrasión)) OR mh:'Tooth Erosion' OR
mh:C07.793.818.500 OR mh:'Tooth Abrasion' OR mh:C07.793.818.124 OR
(abfraction OR abfração OR abfracción))) (n=50,723)
 - #2 TITLE-ABS-SUBJECT ((((universal OR multimod\$ OR multi-mod\$) AND (adhesiv\$ OR adesivo\$)) OR one-bottle OR same bottle OR (adesivo\$ de frasco único) OR all-in-one OR (adesivo\$ de passo único) OR (adhesivo\$ de paso unico)) AND (self-etch OR autocondicionante\$ OR autograbado\$ OR etch-and-rinse OR total-etch OR (condicionamento ácido total) OR (adhesivo\$ de grabado total) OR (selective AND enamel AND etch\$))) (n=2,070)

n - number of hits; WoS - Web of Science Core Collection; KJD - Korean Journal Database; RSCI -Russian Science Citation Index; SCIELO - SciELO Citation Index; CENTRAL - Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials; LILACS - Latin American & Caribbean Health Sciences Literature; TOPIC - Article title, abstract and keywords

Study selection and data extraction

All literature search results were imported into the Rayyan QCRI environment [76] for duplicate removal and further analysis. In this systematic review, the study selection process was performed in two stages. To select studies eligible for inclusion, two independent investigators (U.J. and F.D.B.) completed the initial screening of titles and abstracts. Articles that did not meet the

eligibility criteria were excluded and full texts of initially selected studies were retrieved for further evaluation. In the second stage, three investigators (U.J., C.M. and T.M.) independently assessed full texts of studies identified as possibly being relevant in the initial screening stage. All disagreements were resolved by consensus or discussion with a senior investigator (L.B.).

Data extraction was performed by three independent investigators (U.J., C.M. and T.M.) using customized extraction forms in MS Word. We extracted details of the study (author, year, location, and study design), participants (number and age range), direct restoration (number, type, and material used for indirect restorations, and type of teeth restored), adhesive strategy (type of adhesive system used during restorative procedures, number of restorations placed with EAR, SE or SEE approach), methodology (evaluation criteria, follow-up periods), and results (success and failure rates, as well as statistical analyses). If essential data were not reported in a certain study, the corresponding author of that paper was contacted by e-mail in an attempt to retrieve the necessary information.

When more than one universal adhesive was used in a trial, the data were combined and assigned to the adhesive strategy investigated in the study. Since an earlier systematic review [102] found that the isolation method (rubber dam or cotton rolls) and enamel bevel [103] did not influence retention and marginal discoloration, we collected data from all the studies, regardless of these two variables. However, since roughening of dentin can lead to improved retention [102], the data from the studies which had groups with roughened dentin was not considered suitable to be included in the meta-analysis. Similarly, the data from the groups that used nanoparticle-doped universal adhesives, as well as studies in which more than one layer of adhesive was applied during adhesive procedure and where dentin was pretreated with a primer (i.e. cross-linking agents), were not included in quantitative synthesis. Since the study results were reported in several periods of follow-ups, the data for 18/24 months was pooled in order to obtain sufficient data to run the meta-analysis. Lastly, when multiple publications with different follow-up periods were detected, the data from the latest publication were taken into consideration for performing the meta-analysis.

Risk of bias assessment

Two independent reviewers (I.R. and U.J.) performed the risk of bias assessment of the trials using the Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in RCTs. [104] Six domains of bias were evaluated: selection bias - random sequence generation and allocation concealment; performance bias - blinding of participants and personnel; detection bias - blinding of outcome assessment; attrition bias - incomplete outcome data; reporting bias - selective outcome reporting;

other possible sources of bias. In case of disagreements between the reviewers, a consensus was reached through discussion, and if needed, by consulting a third reviewer (A.M.).

At the study level, the study was at "low" risk of bias if the two domains considered most relevant for clinical studies in dentistry (selection and detection bias) were at "low" risk of bias. If one or more key domains were judged as at "unclear" risk, the study was considered at "unclear" risk of bias. Finally, if at least one domain was judged at "high" risk of bias, the study was considered at "high" risk of bias.

Meta-analysis

The extracted data were analyzed using Revman (Review Manager 5.4, The Cochrane Collaboration, Copenhagen, Denmark). Data for all outcomes (retention, marginal discoloration, marginal adaptation, POS) of the eligible studies were dichotomous. To summarize the risk of the mentioned outcomes for each study, the relative risk with a 95% confidence interval (CI) was calculated. Random-effects models were applied, and heterogeneity was tested using the I² index.

Certainty of evidence assessment

The overall quality of clinical evidence (certainty in the estimates of effect) for each of the outcomes was critically assessed using the Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) framework [105], evaluating individual risk for bias, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision, and publication bias. Based on these indicators, the certainty of the estimated effect was rated as high quality of evidence (the true effect lies close to that of the effect estimate), moderate quality of evidence (the true effect is likely to be close to the effect may be substantially different from the effect estimate), and very low quality of evidence (the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the effect estimate) [106]. The quality assessment was

conducted by two independent investigators (U.J. and A.M.) and any disagreements were resolved through discussion.

Results:

Study selection

Figure 1 shows a PRISMA flow diagram of the study selection process based on the presented eligibility criteria. The initial search of the chosen databases and other relevant sources retrieved 434 references for potential inclusion in this systematic review. In the next step, 171 duplicates were identified and removed from the database. Following the initial screening of titles and abstracts, 240 records did not satisfy the inclusion criteria and were therefore excluded, while 23 studies were eligible for full-text assessment. In total, 3 studies were excluded after the full-text examination due to the missing EAR group [107, 108] or data reported only in percentages, and no answer was

obtained after writing to the authors for additional information [70]. Finally, 20 RCTs were included in this systematic review.



Descriptive analysis of the selected studies

Detailed information about 20 articles selected for this review is shown in Supplementary Table 2. All studies that were included were conducted as RCTs with split-mouth design in University settings, with majority of them carried out in Brazil [67, 109-119], followed by Turkey [120, 121], USA [61], Spain [62], Germany [63] and Portugal [64]. The studies were published between 2013 and 2020 and included a total number of 1.890 NCCL restorations placed in both anterior and

posterior teeth of 527 patients older than 18 years. The follow-up periods included 1-week, 6-, 12-, 18-, 24- to 36-months for most of the studies, and only one study [109] evaluated the restorations after 5 years of clinical service.

Before placing composite restorations, prophylaxis was performed on NCCLs with pumice and water, whereas in only two studies a cervical bevel was created [61]. Several studies [67, 109,110, 114, 115] reported using rubber dam during restorative procedures, while no information on NCCL pretreatment or rubber dam placement was available in one study [121]. A universal adhesive was modified by adding Cu nanoparticles in one study [110] and in 3 publications two different brands of universal adhesives that were used for restoration of the lesions were compared [116-118]. The clinical outcomes were assessed using either the FDI World Dental Federation (FDI) or modified United Stated Public Health Service (USPHS) criteria. Interestingly, POS, which was one of the main outcomes analyzed in this review, was assessed in two ways: by applying a stimulus in dental office [61, 63, 66, 68, 109, 110, 111, 113, 115, 120] or via questionnaire (asking the patient if he/she experienced any pain within the week following the restorative procedure) [110, 113]. One study [62] employed both methods in assessing POS, whereas two studies did not asses POS [117, 121]. In 2 studies the method of POS evaluation was not reported, and after writing to the authors it was not possible to obtain this information [68, 119].

Risk of bias of the included studies

Figure 2 summarizes the risk of bias judgment for each of the included studies. Overall, the reviewed studies had no major problems regarding the study design and reporting of results. The raised concerns were related to: selection bias – not clearly stated if the allocation concealment was kept hidden until the moment of restorative procedure [61, 63, 66, 111, 119]; performance bias – not reported if the participants were blinded [69, 116, 121]; detection bias – not mentioned if the evaluators were blinded [62, 117, 121]; attrition bias – patient drop out led to the loss of follow up greater than 20% [62, 117, 118]. Consequently, eight studies [111, 117-119, 61-63, 66] were

considered to be at "unclear" risk of bias, while the remaining twelve were judged as "low" risk of



Fig. 2 – Risk of bias of the included studies.

bias.
Quantitative synthesis: meta-analyses

Based on data extraction, 14 studies [61, 63, 66, 67, 109, 110, 111, 112, 114, 115, 117, 119] were suitable for the inclusion in the meta-analyses for the outcomes of interest. The data from some studies [70] could not be used for meta-analysis since the authors reported their results in percentages, and we received no response after contacting the corresponding author.

Loss of retention

The forest plots of meta-analyses for loss of retention at different follow-up periods for EAR and SE mode are shown in Figures 3 - 6. No significant differences between the groups were observed at 6- and 36- months (p=0.36; p=0.14, respectively) recall (Figures 3 and 6). However, there was a statistically significant difference for 12- (p=0.005; RR=0.22, 95% CI [0.08, 0.63]) and 18/24- (p= 0.0002; RR=0.32, 95% CI [0.17, 0.58]) months follow-up between the two groups, favoring the EAR groups (Figures 4 and 5). Data from 12- and 18/24-months follow up were not heterogeneous (I²=0%), while the data from 6- (chi² test; p=0.02; I²=66%) and 36-months (chi² test; p=0.13, I²=56%) follow-up showed substantial heterogeneity.

Figures 7 - 10 illustrate the forest-plots for meta-analyses for loss of retention at different follow-up periods for EAR and SEE mode. No statistically significant difference was observed at 6-, 12-, 18/24- and 36- months follow-up (p=0.97; p=0.15; p=0.49; p=0.99, respectively). The data for 6- (chi² test; p=0.68, I²=0%), 12- (chi² test; p=0.56, I²=0%), 18/24- (chi² test; p=0.44, I²=0%) and 36- months (chi² test; p=0.98, I²=0%) follow-up were not heterogeneous.

Marginal discoloration

Forest plots of the meta-analyses for risk of marginal discoloration for EAR and SE groups are presented in Figures 11 - 13. No statistically significant differences were seen at 6-, 12- and 18/24- months follow-up period (p=0.40; p=0.34; p=0.73, respectively). The data for 6- and 18/24- months

follow up showed no heterogeneity, while substantial heterogeneity was observed at 12- months (chi² test; p=0.07, $I^2=70\%$).

No events were observed when comparing EAR with SEE adhesive strategy and therefore the metaanalyses could not be performed.

Marginal adaptation

Forest plots of the meta-analyses for marginal adaptation for EAR and SE groups are seen in Figures 14 - 16. No statistically significant differences were seen at 6-, 12- and 18/24-months follow up periods (p=0.88; p=0.21; p=0.34, respectively). The data for 6- (chi² test; p=0.59, I²=0%), 12- (chi² test; p=0.83, I²=0%), 18/24- months (chi² test; p=0.43, I²=0%) were not heterogeneous.

Similar to marginal discoloration, no events were observed when comparing EAR to SEE strategy.

POS

Three meta-analyses were performed for POS, taking into account the method of the assessment and the adhesive strategy for this clinical outcome. Figure 17 demonstrates the forest plot for the risk of POS for EAR and SE modes, analyzed Based on the data derived from questionnaires (subjective POS) which was given to patients one week within the restorative procedure, no significant difference was seen for subjective POS (p=0.55, Figure 17). The second meta-analysis (Figure 18), which included studies that assessed POS by applying stimuli during recall (objective

POS) after one week of the restorative procedure demonstrated significantly increased likelihood for POS occurring in the EAR groups (p=0.007, RR=2.12, 95% CI [1.23, 3.64]).

Lastly, no significant difference was observed (p=0.80) when comparing EAR to SEE groups in terms of stimulated POS (Figure 19).

Certainty of evidence assessment

The certainty of evidence for each of the outcomes evaluated in our meta-analyses was assessed by the GRADE tool [105].



Fig 3. Forest plot for retention at 6-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)

	EAR	2	SE			Risk Ratio			Risk Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	Year		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	
Lawson 2015	0	41	0	39		Not estimable	2015			
Oz 2019	0	44	9	41	53.7X	0.05 [0.00, 0.82]	2019	·		
Kemalogiu 2020	0	50	0	50		Not estimable	2019			
Matos 2019	1	54	2	54	10.9%	0.50 [0.05, 5.35]	2019			
Zanatta 2019	1	36	2	37	10.8%	0.51 [0.05, 5.42]	2019			
de Albuquerque 2020	0	101	0	48		Not estimable	2020			
Atalay 2020	0	53	1	54	6.1%	0.34 [0.01, 8.15]	2020			
Costa 2020	1	38	3	38	16.4%	0.33 [0.04, 3.06]	2020			
Total (95% CI)		417		361	100.0%	0.22 [0.08, 0.63]			-	
Total events	3		17							
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 2.3	27, df =	4 (P =	0.69); P	- 0%				0.01		1001
Test for overall effect: Z	= 2.81 (P = 0.0	05)					0.01	Favours EAR Favours St	E 100

Fig 4. Forest plot for retention at 12-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)

	EAR	2	SE			Risk Ratio			Risk Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	Year		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	
Lawson 2015	0	38	2	38	6.5%	0.20 [0.01, 4.03]	2015	+		
Loguercio 2018	2	48	3	48	7.8%	0.67 [0.12, 3.81]	2018			
Oz 2019	0	44	9	34	27.7%	0.04 [0.00, 0.68]	2019	+ -		
Kemalogiu 2020	0	50	0	50		Not estimable	2019			
Matos 2019	2	53	7	53	18.2%	0.29 [0.06, 1.31]	2019			
Zanatta 2019	1	32	2	30	5.4%	0.47 [0.04, 4.91]	2019	-		
Matos 2020	1	98	3	49	10.4%	0.17 [0.02, 1.56]	2020			
Atalay 2020	0	53	0	53		Not estimable	2020			
Costa 2020	1	35	4	36	10.2%	0.26 [0.03, 2.19]	2020	_		
de Albuquerque 2020	7	85	4	42	13.9%	0.86 [0.27, 2.79]	2020			
Total (95% CI)		536		433	100.0%	0.32 [0.17, 0.58]			•	
Total events	14		34							
Heterogeneity: Chl ² = 6.	13, df =	7 (P =	0.53); P	- 0%				0.01		100
Test for overall effect: Z	= 3.69 (P = 0.0	002)					0.01	Favours EAR Favours SE	100

Fig 5. Forest plot for retention at 18/24-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)



Fig 6. Forest plot for retention at 36-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)



Fig 7. Forest plot for retention at 6-months follow-up (E&R vs SEE)



Fig 8. Forest plot for retention at 12-months follow-up (E&R vs SEE)



Fig 9. Forest plot for retention at 18/24-months follow-up (E&R vs SEE)



Fig 10. Forest plot for retention at 36-months follow-up (E&R vs SEE)

	EAR	2	SE			Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Atalay 2020	0	53	0	54		Not estimable		
Costa 2020	0	38	0	38		Not estimable		
Cruz 2020	1	50	3	58	100.0%	0.39 [0.04, 3.60]		
de Albuquerque 2020	0	96	0	48		Not estimable		
Haak 2018	0	22	0	22		Not estimable		
Kemalogiu 2020	0	50	0	50		Not estimable		
Lawson 2015	0	42	0	41		Not estimable		
Loguercio 2018	0	48	0	46		Not estimable		
Lopes 2016	0	59	0	25		Not estimable		
Matos 2019	0	54	0	54		Not estimable		
Matos 2020	0	100	0	50		Not estimable		
Oz 2019	0	44	0	35		Not estimable		
Zanatta 2019	0	38	0	38		Not estimable		
Total (95% CI)		694		559	100.0%	0.39 [0.04, 3.60]		
Total events	1		3					
Heterogeneity: Not appli	cable						0.01	
Test for overall effect: Z	= 0.83 (P = 0.4	0)				0.01	Favours EAR Favours SE

Fig 11. Forest plot for discoloration at 6-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)



Fig 12. Forest plot for discoloration at 12-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)

	EAF	2	SE			Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	
Atalay 2020	0	53	0	53		Not estimable			
Costa 2020	0	34	0	34		Not estimable			
de Albuquerque 2020	0	78	0	38		Not estimable			
Kemaloglu 2020	4	50	6	50	64.9X	0.67 [0.20, 2.22]			
Lawson 2015	0	38	0	36		Not estimable			
Loguercio 2018	0	46	0	45		Not estimable			
Matos 2019	0	51	0	46		Not estimable			
Matos 2020	0	96	0	46		Not estimable			
Oz 2019	0	36	0	25		Not estimable			
Zanatta 2019	2	31	1	27	15.1%	1.74 [0.17, 18.16]			
Total (95% CI)		513		400	100.0%	0.83 [0.29, 2.37]		-	
Total events	6		7						
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0.	51, df =	1 (P =	0.47); P	= 0%			0.01		
Test for overall effect: Z	- 0.35 (P = 0.7	3)				0.01	Favours EAR Favours SE	

Fig 13. Forest plot for discoloration at 18/24-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)



Fig 14. Forest plot for marginal adaptation at 6-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)

	EAF	2	SE			Risk Ratio		Risk F	Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixe	d, 95% CI	
Atalay 2020	0	53	0	53		Not estimable				
Costa 2020	0	37	1	36	37.8%	0.32 [0.01, 7.71]		-		
de Albuquerque 2020	0	91	0	45		Not estimable				
Kemaloglu 2020	0	50	2	50	62.2%	0.20 [0.01, 4.06]	+			
Lawson 2015	0	41	0	39		Not estimable				
Matos 2019	0	51	0	52		Not estimable				
Oz 2019	0	44	0	32		Not estimable				
Zanatta 2019	0	35	0	35		Not estimable				
Total (95% CI)		402		342	100.0%	0.25 [0.03, 2.17]	-		-	
Total events	0		3							
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0.	05, df =	1 (P =	0.83); P	- 0%			0.01		10	100
Test for overall effect: Z	= 1.26 (P = 0.2	1)				0.01	Favours EAR	Favours SE	100

Fig 15. Forest plot for marginal adaptation at 12-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)

	EAF	2	SE			Risk Ratio		Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
Atalay 2020	0	53	0	53		Not estimable		
Costa 2020	0	34	2	34	38.5X	0.20 [0.01, 4.02]		
de Albuquerque 2020	0	80	0	38		Not estimable		
Kemaloglu 2020	3	50	4	50	61.5X	0.75 [0.18, 3.18]		
Lawson 2015	0	38	0	36		Not estimable		
Loguercio 2018	0	45	0	45		Not estimable		
Matos 2019	0	51	0	46		Not estimable		
Matos 2020	0	98	0	46		Not estimable		
Oz 2019	0	24	0	25		Not estimable		
Zanatta 2019	0	36	0	25		Not estimable		
Total (95% CI)		509		398	100.0%	0.54 [0.15, 1.90]		
Total events	3		6					
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 0.	62, df =	1 (P =	0.43); P	= 0×			0.01	
Test for overall effect: Z	= 0.96 (P = 0.3	4)				0.01	Favours EAR Favours SE

Fig 16. Forest plot for marginal adaptation at 18/24-months follow-up (E&R vs SE)

	EAR	2	SE			Risk Ratio	Risk Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
de Albuquerque 2020	0	100	0	50		Not estimable	
Loguercio 2018	0	48	0	48		Not estimable	
Perdigao 2020	2	34	1	35	100.0%	2.06 [0.20, 21.67]	
Total (95% CI)		182		133	100.0%	2.06 [0.20, 21.67]	
Total events	2		1				
Heterogeneity: Not appli	cable						
Test for overall effect: Z	= 0.60 (P = 0.5	5)				Favours EAR Favours SE

Fig 17. Forest plot for subjective POS at baseline (E&R vs SE)

	EAF	2	SE			Risk Ratio			Risk Rat	tio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	Year		M-H, Fixed,	95% CI	
Lopes 2016	0	31	0	31		Not estimable	2015				
Haak 2018	0	22	0	22		Not estimable	2018				
Ruschel 2018	2	102	0	101	3.2%	4.95 [0.24, 101.87]	2018				
Matos 2019	0	54	0	54		Not estimable	2019				
Cruz 2020	24	59	11	58	69.8%	2.14 [1.16, 3.97]	2020		-	_	
Atalay 2020	0	53	0	54		Not estimable	2020				
Costa 2020	1	39	1	39	6.3%	1.00 [0.06, 15.43]	2020				
Matos 2020	5	100	1	50	8.4%	2.50 [0.30, 20.83]	2020			•	
Perdigao 2020	3	34	2	35	12.4%	1.54 [0.27, 8.67]	20205				
Total (95% CI)		494		444	100.0%	2.12 [1.23, 3.64]				•	
Total events	35		15								
Heterogeneity: Chi ² =	0.75, df	= 4 (P	- 0.95);	$l^2 = 0.2$	1			4.44		da	100
Test for overall effect	Z = 2.72	2 (P = 0	.007)					0.01	0.1 1 Favours EAR Fa	10 VOURS SE	100

Fig 18. Forest plot for objective POS at baseline (E&R vs SE)



Fig 19. Forest plot for objective POS at baseline (E&R vs SEE)

Certain	ty assessment						№ of res	torations	Effect			
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	EAR	SE	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty	Importanc e

Retention 6 months

12	randomize d trials	not seriou	serious ^a	not serious	serious ^b	none	15/66 2 (2,3%)	15/52 9 (2.8%)	RR 0.75	7 fewer per	⊕⊕⊖	
		s					(2.3%)	(2.8%)	(0.40 to	(from 17 fewer to	LOW	
										11 more)		

Retention 12 months

(from 43 fewer to 17 fewer)	8	randomize d trials	not seriou s	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	3/417 (0.7%)	17/36 1 (4.7%)	RR 0.22 (0.08 to 0.63)	37 fewer per 1,000 (from 43 fewer to 17 fewer)	⊕⊕⊕() MODERATE	
-----------------------------------------	---	-----------------------	--------------------	-------------	-------------	----------------------	------	-----------------	----------------------	-----------------------------------------------	----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	-------------------	--

Retention 18/24 months

10	randomize d trials	not seriou	not serious	not serious	serious ^c	none	14/53 6	34/43 3	RR 0.32	53 fewer	⊕⊕⊕⊖	
		s					(2.6%)	(7.9%)	(0.17 to	per	MODERATE	
									0.58)	1,000		
										(from		
										65		
										fewer to		
										33		
										fewer)		

Retention 36 months

2	randomize d trials	not seriou	serious ^a	not serious	serious ^d	none	3/143 (2.1%)	5/98 (5.1%)	RR 0.40	31 fewer	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc$	
		s							(0.12 to 1.34)	per 1,000 (from 45 fewer to 17 more)	O Low	

 Table 1: CI: Confidence interval; RR: Risk ratio. Explanations

a. Confidence intervals do not overlap; substantial heterogeneity

b. 95% CI includes appreciable benefit of harm (RR > 1.25)

c. Narrow confidence intervals, but few events.

d. 95% CI includes appreciable benefit of harm (RR>1.25); fairly small sample size;

Certain	of Study Risk of Inconsistenc Indirectnes Imprecisio Other							torations	Effect			
№ of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	EAR	SE	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importanc e
Margin	al discoloratio	n 6 months										

13	randomize	not	not serious	not serious	very	none	1/694	3/559	RR	3 fewer	⊕⊕⊖	
	d trials	serious			serious ^c		(0.1%)	(0.5%)	0.39	per	$\Psi\Psi\bigcirc$	
									(0.04 to	1,000	\bigcirc	
									3.60)	(from 5	\smile	
										fewer to	LOW	
										14		
										more)		

Marginal discoloration 12 months

8	randomize	not	serious ^a	not serious	serious ^b	none	3/404	6/341 (1.8%)	RR 0.53	8 fewer	$\oplus \oplus \bigcirc$	
	u u lais	serious					(0.770)	(1.070)	(0.15 to	1,000	\bigcirc	
									1.92)	(from	\cup	
										15	LOW	
										fewer to		
										16		
										more)		
										16 more)		

Marginal discoloration 18/24 months

10	randomize d trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^d	none	6/513 (1.2%)	7/400 (1.8%)	RR 0.83 (0.29 to	3 fewer per 1,000	⊕⊕⊕ ○ moderate	
									2.37)	(from		
										12		
										fewer to		
										24		
										more)		

Table 2: CI: Confidence interval; RR: Risk ratio

Explanations

a. Confidence intervals do not overlap; substantial heterogeneity

b. 95% CI includes appreciable benefit of harm (RR $\geq 1.25)$

c. Very wide 95% CI; few events

d. 95% CI includes appreciable benefit of harm (RR> 1.25); few events

Certain	ninty assessment							torations	Effect			
№ of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	EAR	SE	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance

Marginal adaptation 6 months

Certain	ty assessment						№ of res	torations	Effect			
№ of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	EAR	SE	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
13	randomized trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^a	none	2/693 (0.3%)	1/559 (0.2%)	RR 1.13 (0.22 to 5.81)	0 fewer per 1,000 (from 1 fewer to 9 more)	⊕⊕⊕() MODERATE	

Marginal adaptation 12 months

8	randomized	not	not serious	not serious	serious ^b	none	0/402	3/342	RR	7 fewer	ممم	
	trials	serious					(0.0%)	(0.9%)	0.25	per		
									(0.03 to	1,000	MODERATE	
									2.17)	(from 9		
										fewer to		
										10		
										more)		
										,		

Marginal adaptation 18/24 months

10	randomized trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^b	none	3/509 (0.6%)	6/398 (1.5%)	RR 0.54 (0.15 to	7 fewer per 1,000	⊕⊕⊕ ⊖ moderate	
									1.90)	(from		
										13		
										fewer to		
										14		
										more)		

Table 3: CI: Confidence interval; RR: Risk ratio

Explanations

a. Very wide 95% CI; few events

b. 95% CI includes appreciable benefit of harm (RR> 1.25); few events

Certaint	of Study Risk of Inconsistenc Indirectnes Imprecisio						№ of res	torations	Effect			
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	EAR	SE	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty	Importanc e

Postoperative sensitivity (baseline, subjective)

Certain	ty assessment						№ of res	torations	Effect			
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	EAR	SE	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty	Importanc e
3	randomize d trials	not seriou s	not serious	not serious	very serious ^a	none	2/182 (1.1%)	1/133 (0.8%)	RR 2.06 (0.20 to 21.67)	8 more per 1,000 (from 6 fewer to 155 more)	⊕⊕⊖ ⊖ Low	

Postoperative sensitivity (objective, baseline)

9	randomize d trials	not seriou s	not serious	not serious	serious ^b	none	35/49 4 (7.1%)	15/44 4 (3.4%)	RR 2.12 (1.23 to 3.64)	38 more per 1,000 (from 8 more to 89	⊕⊕⊕() MODERATE	
										more)		

Table 4: CI: Confidence interval; RR: Risk ratio

Explanations

a. Very wide 95% CI; few events

b. Few events

Certai	nty assessment						№ of res	torations	Effect			
№ of studies	· Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	EAR	SEE	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importanc e

Retention 6 months

6	randomiza	not	not serious	not serious	carious a	none	4/261	2/267	DD	0 fower		
0	Tanuomize	not	not serious	not serious	serious	none	4/301	2/207	КК	0 lewer	$\oplus \oplus \oplus ()$	
	d trials	serious					(1.1%)	(0.7%)	1.03	per		
									(0.23 to	1,000	MODERATE	
									4.57)	(from 6		
										fewer to		
										27		
										more)		

Retention 12 months

4	randomize	not	not serious	not serious	serious ^b	none	3/234	5/179	RR	18	-	
	d trials	serious					(1.3%)	(2.8%)	0.37	fewer		
									(0.09 to	per		
									1.45)	1,000		
										(from		
										25		
										fewer to		
										13		
										more)		
										(from 25 fewer to 13 more)		

Certain	ertainty assessment								Effect			
№ of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	EAR	SEE	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importanc e

Retention 18/24 months

r		1				1						
4	randomize	not	not serious	not serious	serious c	none	8/280	6/179	RR	10	AAAA (
	d trials	serious					(2.9%)	(3.4%)	0.70	fewer		
									(0.25 to	per	MODERATE	
									1.95)	1,000		
										(from		
										25		
										fewer to		
										32		
										more)		

Retention 36 months

2	randomize d trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	very serious ^d	none	3/143 (2.1%)	2/100 (2.0%)	RR 1.02	0 fewer per	$\Theta \Theta \bigcirc$	
									(0.17 to 6.12)	1,000 (from 17	O LOW	
										fewer to 102 more)		

Table 5: CI: Confidence interval; RR: Risk ratio

Explanations

a. 95% CI includes appreciable benefit of harm (RR>1.25); wide 95% CI; few events

b. 95% CI is wide; few events

c. 95% CI includes appreciable benefit of harm (RR>1.25); few events

d. 95% CI is wide; small sample size; few events

Certain	ty assessment						№ of res	torations	Effect			l
№ of studies	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistency	Indirectness	Imprecision	Other considerations	EAR	SEE	Relative (95% CI)	Absolute (95% CI)	Certainty	Importance
Postope	itoperative senisitivty (baseline objective)											
5	randomized trials	not serious	not serious	not serious	serious ^a	none	8/275 (2.9%)	5/194 (2.6%)	RR 1.03 (0.35 to 3.03)	1 more per 1,000 (from 17 fewer to	⊕⊕⊕⊖ moderate	

52 more)

Table 6: CI: Confidence interval; RR: Risk ratio

Explanations a. 95% CI includes appreciable benefit of harm (RR>1.25); wide 95% CI; few events

EAR versus SE groups

Low certainty of evidence was observed for retention at 6- and 36-months follow-up with serious inconsistency and imprecision, while moderate certainty was seen at 12-, 18/24- months follow-up (Table 1). Similarly, low certainty with serious imprecision was seen for marginal discoloration at 6- and 12-months follow-up, while moderate certainty was observed for 18/24- months (Table 2). Moderate certainty was observed for marginal adaptation for all follow-up periods (Table 3). As for POS, low certainty with very serious imprecision was seen for subjective POS, whereas moderate certainty of evidence was observed for objective POS evaluation (Table 4).

EAR versus SEE groups

Moderate certainty of evidence was noted for retention at 6-, 12- and 18/24- months, while low certainty with very serious imprecision was detected at 36-months follow-up (Table 5). Our assessment revealed moderate certainty of evidence for the outcome POS when comparing EAR to SEE groups (Table 6). The influence of selective enamel etch and self-etch mode of universal adhesives' application on clinical behavior of composite restorations placed on non-carious cervical lesions: A systematic review and metaanalysis.

Aim:

To answer the PICOS question: "Is the risk of retention loss equal for SEE and SE approach when universal adhesives and composite restorations are indicated for restoring NCCLs?"

Materials and methods

Study protocol and registration :

This study protocol was registered in the International Prospective Register of Systematic Reviews (PROSPERO) database under the number CRD42020184666 and represents a continuation of a recently conducted systematic review by the same group of authors [71]. The reporting of this systematic review and meta-analysis followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) [72].

Eligibility criteria and search strategy:

The PICOS strategy [101] was as follows:

Population (P) - permanent teeth with NCCLs in adult patients (>18 years of age);

Intervention (I) – direct composite restoration placed using universal adhesive in SEE mode;

Comparison (C) – direct composite restoration placed using universal adhesive in SE mode;

Outcome (O) - clinical parameters relevant for direct composite restorations (retention, POS, marginal adaptation/discoloration) at various follow-up periods;

Study design (S) – randomized controlled clinical trials (RCTs).

The literature search was performed through several international and national databases, with no language filters, and reported in accordance with the PRISMA-S guidelines [73]. To identify potential studies of interest, Clarivate Analytics' Web of Science (including Web of Science Core Collection—WoS, Korean Journal Database — KJD, Russian Science Citation Index — RSCI, SciELO Citation

Index — SciELO), Scopus, PubMed (including MEDLINE), Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) [Cochrane Library], and Latin American & Caribbean Health Sciences Literature (LILACS) [the Virtual Health Library (VHL) portal], were explored up to September 2021, utilizing the search strategy collectively developed by the experienced medical librarian and information specialist (J.J.) and the review team. In order to optimize the search strategy and maximize sensitivity, test searches were used. Details on the number of identified articles and complete representation of applied strategies for all searched databases, including the search terms employed, are shown in Supplementary Table 1. Following the Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies (PRESS) guideline [74], electronic literature search strategies were peer-reviewed by a second information specialist, whose feedback was incorporated in the definitive database search. Additional searches through OpenGrey (http://www.opengrey.eu), Google Scholar[™] (first 100 hits), and other available repositories (e.g., Networked Digital Library of Theses and digital Dissertations (http://www.ndltd.org), Open Access Theses and Dissertations (https://oatd.org), DART-Europe Etheses Portal – DEEP (https://www.dart-europe.org/basic-search.php), Opening access to UK theses - EThOS (https://ethos.bl.uk)) were conducted to find unpublished manuscripts, research reports, conference papers, doctoral dissertations, and other grey literature. Finally, forward snowballing and screening of the reference lists of included trials and relevant previously published reviews were also completed using citation indexes (WoS, Scopus, or Google Scholar). During the final drafting of the paper on November 26, 2021, conducted searches were rerun, and no new relevant trials had been identified after the conclusion of the literature search.

The exclusion criteria were: (1) conference abstracts; (2) studies that did not involve at least two groups of direct composite restorations within the same patient comparing SEE with SE mode; (3) studies that compared outcomes between vital and endodontically treated teeth. We established no minimum follow-up period threshold for this systematic review and meta-analysis, since POS, which usually occurs immediately after the restorative procedure [75], was one of the outcomes of interest. Study selection and data extraction :

All literature search results were imported into the Rayyan QCRI platform [76] for duplicate removal and further screening. The study selection process was conducted in two stages. To select studies eligible for inclusion, two independent investigators (U.J. and F.F.) completed the initial screening of titles and abstracts. Papers that did not meet the eligibility criteria were excluded, and full texts of initially selected studies were retrieved for further reading. In the next stage, three investigators (C.M., T.M., and U.J.) independently assessed full texts of studies in order to select the articles of interest. All disagreements were resolved by consensus or discussion with a senior investigator (A.M.).

Three independent investigators (U.J., C.M., and T.M.) did the data extraction using custom-made extraction forms in MS Word. The following data were extracted: details of the study (author, year, location, and study design), participants (number and age range), direct restoration (number, type, and material used for indirect restorations, and type of teeth restored), adhesive strategy (type of adhesive system used during restorative procedures, number of restorations placed with SE and SEE approach), methodology (evaluation criteria, follow-up periods), and results (success and failure rates, as well as statistical analyses). If data were missing, the corresponding author of the paper was contacted by e-mail in an attempt to retrieve the information of interest.

When more than one brand of universal adhesive was used in a trial [116], the data belonging to a certain adhesive strategy, regardless of the adhesive brand used, was combined in order to make a single entry for the statistical analysis. Since the study results were reported in several periods of follow-ups, the data from similar follow-up periods (for 18- and 24 months) were united, thus observing 18/24- month as a unique follow-up period. When multiple publications with different follow-up periods were observed, the data from the latest publication (with the longest follow-up period) were taken into consideration for performing meta-analyses.

Assessment of the Risk of Bias:

Two reviewers (U.J. and I.R.), independently from each other, performed the risk of bias assessment of the trials using the Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing the risk of bias in RCTs [104]. Six domains of bias were evaluated: selection bias - random sequence generation and allocation concealment; performance bias - blinding of participants and personnel; detection bias - blinding of outcome assessment; attrition bias - incomplete outcome data; reporting bias - selective outcome reporting; other possible sources of bias. In case of disagreements between the reviewers, a consensus was reached through discussion, and if needed, by consulting a third reviewer (A.M.). Meta-analysis:

The data which had previously been extracted from the selected studies were analyzed using Revman (Review Manager 5.4, The Cochrane Collaboration, Copenhagen, Denmark). Data for all outcomes (retention, POS, marginal discoloration, marginal adaptation) of the eligible studies were dichotomous. The odds ratio with a 95% confidence interval (CI) was calculated. Fixed-effects models were applied, and heterogeneity was tested using Cochran Q test and the I2 index. Before choosing fixed-effects models, random effects analysis was carried out as a sensitivity analysis, which

produced very similar summary estimate. The follow-up periods were considered as short- (6 months), medium- (from 12 up to 36 months) or long-term (over 3 years) [110].

Certainty of evidence assessment :

Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluation (GRADE) framework [121] was used to rate the overall quality of clinical evidence (certainty in the estimates of effect) for each of the outcomes, evaluating individual risk for bias, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision, and publication bias. Based on the mentioned indicators, the certainty of the estimated effect was rated as high quality of evidence (the true effect lies close to that of the effect estimate), moderate quality of evidence (the true effect is likely to be close to the effect may be substantially different), low quality of evidence (the true effect may be substantially different from the effect estimate), and very low quality of evidence (the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the effect estimate) [106].

Certain	ty assessmen	t					№ of pa	tients	Effect		
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	SEE	SE analyse s	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty
Retenti	on 6 months										
5	randomise d trials	a a	serious ^b	not serious	serious ^c	publication bias undetected	8/222 (3.6%)	18/222 (8.1%)	OR 0.42 (0.18 to 0.99)	45 fewer per 1,000 (from 65 fewer to 1 fewer)	⊕⊖⊖ ⊖ Very low

Table 7. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

- a. Two out of five studies rated as "unclear" risk of bias
- b. 95% CI do not entirely overlap
- c. Wide 95% CI

Certain	ty assessmen	t					№ of pa	tients	Effect		
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	SEE	SE analyse s	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty
Retenti	on 12 months	5									
4	randomise d trials	very serious a	serious ^b	not serious	serious ^e	none	6/192 (3.1%)	12/191 (6.3%)	OR 0.52 (0.20 to 1.34)	29 fewer per 1,000 (from 50 fewer to 20 more)	⊕⊖⊖ ⊖ Very low

Table 8. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

a. Three out of four studies considered as "unclear" risk of bias

b. 95% CI do not overlap

c. Wide 95% CI with few events

Certain	ty assessmen	t					№ of pa	ntients	Effect		
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	SEE	SE analyse s	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certaint y
Retenti	on 18/24 mor	iths									
5	randomise d trials	a a	not serious	not serious	serious ^b	publication bias undetected	7/204 (3.4%)	22/207 (10.6%)	OR 0.31 (0.13 to 0.72)	71 fewer per 1,000 (from 91 fewer to 27 fewer)	⊕⊕⊖ ⊖ Low

Table 9. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

a. Three out of five studies considered as "unclear" risk of bias

b. Wide 95% CI

Certain № of studie s	ty assessmen Study design	t Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	№ of pa	ntients SE analyse s	Effect Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty
Retenti 3	on 36 months randomise d trials	very serious a	serious ^b	not serious	serious ^e	none	3/142 (2.1%)	10/140 (7.1%)	OR 0.31 (0.09 to 1.07)	48 fewer per 1,000 (from 65 fewer to 5 more)	⊕⊖⊖ ⊖ Very low

Table 10. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

a. Two out of three studies considered as "unclear" risk of bias

- b. 95% CI do not overlap
- c. Wide 95% CI with few events

Certain	ty assessmen	t					№ of pa	itients	Effect		
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideration s	SEE	SE analyse s	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty
Margin	nal discolorat	ion 6 mon	ths								
2	randomise d trials	very serious ª	not serious	not serious	very serious ^b	none	4/81 (4.9%)	4/83 (4.8%)	OR 1.02 (0.24 to 4.22)	1 more per 1,000 (from 36 fewer to 128 more)	⊕⊖⊖ ⊖ Very low

Table 11. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

- a. The included studies were considered as "unclear" risk of bias
- b. Very wide 95% CI with few events

Certainty assessment							№ of patients		Effect		
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideratio ns	SEE	SE analyse s	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty
Margin	al discolorat	ion 18/24	months								
2	randomise d trials	very serious a	serious ^b	not serious	serious ^e	none	11/79 (13.9%)	15/78 (19.2%)	OR 0.66 (0.28 to 1.56)	57 fewer 1,000 (from 130 fewer to 79 more)	⊕⊖⊖ ⊖ Very low

Table 12. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

a. The included studies were considered as "unclear" risk of bias

b. 95% CI do not overlap

c. Few events observed

Certainty assessment							№ of patients		Effect		
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideratio ns	SEE	SE analyse s	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty
Margir	al adaptatai	on 6 mont	hs								
2	randomise d trials	very serious ª	serious ^b	not serious	serious ^e	none	9/81 (11.1%)	6/83 (7.2%)	OR 1.60 (0.55 to 4.71)	39 more per 1,000 (from 31 fewer to 196 more)	⊕⊖⊖ ⊖ Very low

Table 13. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

a. The included studies considered as "unclear" risk of bias

b. 95% CI do not overlap entirely

c. Few events observed

Certain	Certainty assessment							№ of patients		Effect	
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideratio ns	SEE	SE analyse s	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty
Margir	nal adaptatai	on 12 mon	ths								
2	randomise d trials	very serious a	not serious	not serious	serious ^b	none	8/80 (10.0%)	14/81 (17.3%)	OR 0.53 (0.21 to 1.34)	73 fewer per 1,000 (from 131 fewer to 46 more)	⊕⊖⊖ ⊖ Very low

Table 14. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

a. The included studies considered as "unclear" risk of bias

b. Few events observed

Certain	Certainty assessment							№ of patients		Effect	
№ of studie s	Study design	Risk of bias	Inconsistenc y	Indirectnes s	Imprecisio n	Other consideratio ns	SEE	SE analyse s	Relativ e (95% CI)	Absolut e (95% CI)	Certainty
Margir	al adaptatai	on 18/24 n	onths								
2	randomise d trials	very serious ª	serious ^b	not serious	serious ^e	none	15/79 (19.0%)	15/78 (19.2%)	OR 0.99 (0.45 to 2.19)	2 fewer per 1,000 (from 96 fewer to 150 more)	⊕⊖⊖ ⊖ Very low

Table 15. CI: Confidence interval; OR: Odds ratio

Explanations

a. The included studies considered as "unclear" risk of bias

b. 95% CI do not entirely overlap

c. Few events observed

Results:

Study selection

Figure 20 shows a PRISMA flow diagram of the study selection process based on the eligibility criteria. 429 references for potential inclusion in this systematic review were found in the initial search. In the next step, 168 duplicates were identified and removed from the database. After screening of titles and abstracts, 237 records did not satisfy the inclusion criteria and were excluded, while 25 articles were eligible for full-text assessment. Subsequently, ten articles were excluded after full-text examination due to the missing SEE or SE group, leaving 15 articles to be included in this systematic review.

Descriptive analysis of the selected studies:

Details about 15 articles selected for this review are shown in Supplementary Table 2. All studies that were included were conducted as RCTs with split-mouth design in university settings, and they were carried out in Brazil [67, 109, 110, 113, 115,116, 122-125], Turkey [120], Germany [63, 107], the USA [108] and India [126].

The studies were published between 2013-2021, involving a total of 384 adult patients who received 853 composite restorations placed with universal adhesives used in SEE or SE modes. The longest follow-up period was ararars [109]. One study used two different brands of universal adhesives during restorative procedures [116]. In most studies, clinical outcomes were assessed using Modified United States Public Health Service (USPHS) criteria or FDI World Dental Federation (FDI) criteria, or a combination of both. Only one study [108] used custom-made criteria for the evaluation of composite restorations. POS, which was one of the main outcomes of interest of this systematic review, was assessed by applying a stimulus during dental check-ups in the first week of restorations' placement. In one study, the first evaluation of POS took place after 6 months of a restorative procedure, and therefore the data from the mentioned study [108] could not be considered for running the meta-analysis. Some studies [107, 126] reported the data in percentages, and since we were not successful in retrieving the original data from the authors, the studies were not included in the meta-analyses.



PRISMA 2020 flow diagram for new systematic reviews which included searches of databases, registers and other sources

*The total number of records identified from each database or register searched is given in Supplementary Table 1. **Exclusion of records was performed by a human.

Fig 20. PRISMA flowchart of study identifications.

Risk of bias of the included studies

Figure 21 summarizes the risk of bias judgment for each of the included studies. Generally, the studies included in this review had no major problems regarding the study design and reporting of the results. The raised concerns were related to: selection bias – not clearly stated if the allocation concealment was kept hidden until the intervention [107, 63]; performance bias – not reported if the participants were blinded [108, 116, 120, 124, 125]; detection bias – not clearly reported if the evaluators were blinded to the restorative procedure [108, 126].



Fig. 21. Authors' risk of bias assessment of the included studies.

Quantitative synthesis: meta-analyses:

After data extraction, 7 [67, 108, 109, 115, 116, 120, 124] studies presented suitable for running metaanalyses for the outcomes of interest. Since four articles [109, 110, 113, 122] were publications derived from the same cohort of patients at different follow-up periods, only data from the most recent study [109] were taken into consideration for the meta-analyses. Similarly, we also detected 4 publications with different follow-up periods [67, 123, 124, 125]. The studies with no events in both arms were not included in the meta-analysis, since they did not provide any indication of either the direction or magnitude of the relative treatment effect. Since only one study [109] reported events for the outcome POS, the meta-analysis for this clinical outcome was not performed.

The forest plots of meta-analyses for retention loss at different follow-up periods for the SEE and SE approach are shown in Figures 22-25. No statistically significant differences were observed at 12and 36-month follow-up periods (p=0.18; OR= p=0.52, 95% CI [0.20, 1.34] and p=0.06; OR= p=0.31, 95% CI [0.09, 1.07], respectively). There were statistically significant differences at 6- (p=0.05; OR=0.42, 95% CI [0.18, 0.99]) and 18/24- months (p=0.007; OR=0.31, 95% CI [0.13, 0.72]), favoring SEE groups. The data from 6- and 18/24-months were not heterogeneous (I2=0%), while data from 12- and 36-months showed heterogeneity which may not be important (I2=36%; I2=14%, respectively).

Marginal discoloration:

Forest plots of the meta-analyses for marginal discoloration for SEE and SE groups are presented in Figures 26 and 27. No statistically significant differences were observed at 6- and 18/24- months (p=0.98; OR=1.02, 95% CI [0.24, 4.22] and p=0.34; OR=0.66, 95% CI [0.28, 1.56]). The data from 6-months was not heterogeneous (I2=0%), while the data from 18/24-months showed substantial heterogeneity (I2=61%). No events in any of the groups were observed at other follow-ups, and consequently, meta-analysis was not run.

Marginal adaptation:

Forest plots of the meta-analyses for marginal adaptation for SEE and SE groups are shown in Figures 28-29. No statistically significant differences were observed at 6-, 12- and 18/24- months (p=0.39; OR=1.60, 95% CI [0.55, 4.71] and p=0.18; OR=0.53, 95% CI [0.21, 1.34] and p=0.98; OR=0.99, 95% CI [0.45, 2.19], respectively). The data was not heterogeneous (I2<1%). No events in SEE and SE groups were observed at the 36-month follow-up period.

Certainty of evidence assessment:

GRADE tool [120] was used to assess the certainty of the evidence for each of the outcomes evaluated in our meta-analyses.

"Very low" certainty of the evidence was observed for the outcome Retention at 6-, 12- and 36- month follow-up period, while "low" certainty was reported at 18/24- month follow-up (Tables 1, 2 and 3, respectively).

For the outcome Marginal discoloration, "very low" certainty of the evidence was observed at 6- and 18/24- months (Tables 5 and 6, respectively). Similarly, "very low" certainty of the evidence was seen at 6-, 12-, 18/24- months for the outcome Marginal adaptation (Tables 7, 8 and 9, respectively).







Fig. 23. Forest p	plot for retenti	ion at 12- mont	hs follow-up
-------------------	------------------	-----------------	--------------

	SEE	SE			Odds Ratio	Odds Ratio
Study or Subgroup	Events T	otal Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI
de Albuquerge 2020	3	42 4	42	17.4%	0.73 [0.15, 3.49]	
Goncalves 2021	1	48 4	48	18.4%	0.23 [0.03, 2.18]	
Matos 2020	1	49 3	49	13.8%	0.32 [0.03, 3.18]	
OZ 2019	2	33 9	34	39.1%	0.18 [0.04, 0.91]	
Rouse 2020	0	32 2	34	11.2%	0.20 [0.01, 4.33]	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Total (95% CI)		204	207	100.0%	0.31 [0.13, 0.72]	-
Total events	7	22				
Heterogeneity: Chi ² = 1	.74, df = 4	(P = 0.78); P	² = 0%			
Test for overall effect: 2	z = 2.70 (P	= 0.007)				Favours SEE Favours SE

Fig. 24. Forest plot for retention at 18/24- months follow-up

	SEE		SE			Odds Ratio		Odds Ratio	
Study or Subgroup	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight	M-H, Fixed, 95% CI		M-H, Fixed, 95% CI	
Atalay 2020	1	55	0	53	4.8%	2.94 [0.12, 73.91]			
Goncalves 2021	1	42	5	42	47.5%	0.18 [0.02, 1.62]	_		
Matos 2020	1	45	5	45	47.6%	0.18 [0.02, 1.62]			
Total (95% CI)		142		140	100.0%	0.31 [0.09, 1.07]			
Total events	3		10						
Heterogeneity: $Cht^2 = 2.34$, $df = 2$ (P = 0.31); $t^2 = 14\%$				*		0.01	0,1 1 10	100	
Test for overall effect:	Z = 1.85	(P = (.06)				4.41	Favours SEE Favours SE	

Fig. 25. Forest plot for retention at 36- months follow-up



Fig. 26. Forest plot for marginal discoloration at 6- months follow-up















Fig. 29. Forest plot for marginal adaptation at 18/24- months follow-up

The influence of adhesive evaporation on bonding performances to dentin and on enzymatic activity to dentin in presence or not of pulpal pressure

Aim:

To evaluate the influence of two adhesive evaporation techniques on the microtensile bond strength (μ TBS) of a universal adhesive to dentin, and the activity of dentinal matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in presence or not of simulated pulpal pressure.

Materials and methods:

Specimens' preparation

Eighty non carious, sound human molars were collected and stored in water until use, no longer than 1 month. The roots were removed and each molar was decoronated with a diamond blade under water cooling as to expose the middle/deep dentin. A standardized smear layer was created using a 180-grit silicon-carbide (SiC) paper.

A universal adhesive (Clearfil Universal Bond Quick, Kuraray Noritake, Hattersheim, Germany) was used according to the manufacturer's instruction and applied in the etch-and-rinse (E&R) or self-etch (SE) mode, according to the group.

The dentin blocks were randomly divided into 6 groups, according to the evaporation technique of the adhesive and the presence or not of the intra-pulpal pressure (n=5): G1) the universal adhesive was used in the E&R mode and air-dried with the disposable air/water syringe; G2) the universal adhesive was used in the E&R mode and evaporated by means of a disposable suction device; G3) the universal adhesive was used in the SE mode and air-dried with the disposable air/water syringe ; G4) the universal adhesive was used in the SE mode and evaporated with a disposable suction device. The same groups were repeated (G5-G8) in presence of a hydrostatic intra-pulpal pressure. For that purpose, the pulpal tissue was removed with a tweezer taking care not to touch the walls of the pulpal chamber. In order to simulated in vitro the intra-pulpal pressure conditions, the method previously

validated by Feitosa et al (4) was used. Briefly, immediately after bonding and restorative procedures, two layers of nail polish were applied around the adhesive interface to avoid water penetration at this site. Each specimen was then fixed with wax inside the lid of a cylindrical container, from the dentin side, avoiding to touch the pulp chamber. Subsequently, the vessel was filled with distilled water to a height of 20 cm, the lid with the fixed samples closed and turned upside down. In this way the samples had a water column of 20 cm on them and the pressure inside the pulp chamber was 20 hPa, according to the hydrostatic pressure equation: P = g x d x h; where P is hydrostatic pressure, g is gravity, d is liquid density and h liquid height.

Polymerization procedures were performed with a light-emitting diode (LED) lamp (1.470 mW/cm2, Elipar Deep cure-L, 3M, Saint Paul, Minnesota, Stati Uniti). After adhesive polymerization, the coronal restoration was performed with two 2 mm layers of resin composite (Clearfil Majesty ES-2, Kuraray Noritake, Hattersheim, Germany).

Microtensile bond strength test (µTBS)

Microtensile sticks was prepared according to the non-trimming method of the microtensile bond strength test and submitted to tensile strength immediately or after 6 month of artificial storage: specimens were cut into resin-dentin sticks with cross- sectional area of ~ 0.9 mm. The sticks were equally and randomly divided into two groups and stored in an incubator at 37 °C in artificial saliva for 24 h (T0) or 6 months (T6). After aging, each stick was measured with a digital caliper and stressed to failure under tension using a simplified universal testing machine (Bisco Inc., Schaumburg, IL, USA; crosshead speed: 1 mm/min). After testing, the sticks were observed under optical microscopy (Stemi 2000- C; Carl Zeiss Jena GmbH) at 50x to evaluate the fracture modes, so divided: adhesive (A) at the dentin side, cohesive (C) within the resin or mixed (M) a combination of the previously mentioned failures.

Scanning electron microscopy (SEM) evaluation

Two representative sticks per each group were prepared for scanning electron microscopy (SEM, Nova NanoSEM 450. Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) evaluation. As to do so, the dentin side of the fractured sticks was mounted on metal stubs and gold sputter coated before evaluation at different magnifications (accelerating voltage of 10.00 kV and magnifications at 200 × and 500 ×).

In situ Zymography

Additional 3 intact molars per group were used for the in situ Zymography analysis. The specimens were prepared according to previously published studies (32).

Briefly, the specimens were cut vertically into 1mm-thick slabs to expose the treated dentin surface or the hybrid layer using a slow speed saw. Half of the obtained slabs was tested immediately while the other half was aged in artificial saliva at 37°C for 6 months and then tested as follows.

Each bonded slab with exposed hybrid layer was glued to a microscope slide and ground down to obtain 50µm-thick specimens. In situ zymography was performed using quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin as the MMP substrate. The gelatin stock solution (diluted 1:8 with the dilution buffer and an anti-fading agent) was placed on top of each slab and covered with a coverslip. Slides was light-protected and incubated in humidified chambers at 37°C. Hydrolysis of quenched fluorescein-conjugated gelatin substrate, indicative of endogenous gelatinolytic enzyme activity, was assessed by examination under a confocal microscope, ex:488nm and em:lp530nm.

Statistical analysis

After checking the normality (Shapiro-Wilk test) and equal distribution (Brown-Forsythe) of the data, the three-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was run to examine the effects at, baseline and after 6 months of storage in artificial saliva at 37 °C, of the variables "application mode" (E&R vs SE), "evaporation mode" (air syringe vs suction) and "pulpal pressure" (presence or not), and the interaction of these factors on the uTBS values. Pairwise comparisons were performed using Tukey's post-hoc test. At T0 the evaporation of the adhesive using an air-water syringe led to significantly higher μ TBS values than suction (p<0.05), aging doesn't show significant difference between the evaporation mode used (0,367), but only in the etching mode (<0,001).

Results:

Microtensile bond strength test (uTBS)

The mean (standard deviations) results of the microtensile bond strength test are presented in Table 1. the statistical analysis revealed that differences exist according to the application mode of the universal adhesive, the evaporation mode and the presence or not of pulpal pressure. Moreover, the interactions between these variables were also significant.

At baseline, when no pulpal pressure was present, the interaction between etching mode and evaporation was statistically significant (P = 0,006), as follows; G2=G1>G4>G1.

According to the results obtained at T0, μ TBS showed statistically significant difference in samples with pulpal pressure (P = 0,028).

The presence of pulpal pressure significantly influenced the bond strength values (p<0.05), regardless of the method of evaporation the adhesive (P = 0.720).

	air (A)		suction (S)			
	TE	SE	TE	SE		
without PP	15,34 ± 1,72	23,87±1,68	13,81±1,91	13,58±1,62		
РР	31,80±1,66	30,70±1,42	27,01±1,36	22,02±1,58		

Table 16: μTBS values in MPa (Mean±)





Graphic 1: µTBS values in MPa at T0.

Graphic 2: µTBS values in MPa at T6.

	air (A)		suction (S)			
	TE	SE	TE	SE		
without PP	10,4±13,78	26±10,03	10,6±10,19	18,5±10,59		
РР	18,6±11,4	27,5±4,15	14,7±7,48	20,9±6,57		

Tab 17: μ TBS values in MPa at T6

At T6 evaporation approach did not influenced the results (P=0.367), meanwhile the results showed statistically significant differences between the etching mode used (P = <0.001). SE groups performed significantly better than TE groups (P = <0.001) and also about the presence of PP (=0,028).

The effect of different levels of etching mode does not depend on what evaporation is used at T6. There is not a statistically significant interaction between etching mode at T6 and evaporation at T6 (P = 0,544), contrary on what obtained at the baseline.

At T6, the SE groups maintained the same bond strength level as at baseline (p>0.05), while in the ER groups aging significantly decreased bond strength (p<0.05).

About the simulation of pulpal pressure, as seen at the baseline, it positively influenced the uTBS (0,028).

Moreover results show that the effect of different etching mode with PP depends on what level of Aging is present. There is a statistically significant interaction between this two factors (P = <0,001) The effect of different levels of Evap just PP does not depend on what level of Aging just PP is present. There is not a statistically significant interaction between Evap just PP and Aging just PP. (P = 0,072)

Finally graphics and tables show that air-drying resulted in significantly higher μ TBS values than suction, regardless of the aging and the adhesive application mode (p<0.05).

A predominance of mixed fractures was observed when no pulpal pressure was present, followed by adhesive debondings (ranging from 3-20%), except for G2 that did not exhibit adhesive fractures.

In the presence of pulp pressure, mixed fractures were also prevalent in all groups. Adhesive-type fractures did not exceed 2% incidence.

Scanning electron microscope (SEM) evaluation

SEM images showed the presence of sparse water-tree formations at the adhesive interface in the Suction groups, irrespective of the application mode. Suction-evaporation, aging and ER mode increased MMPs activity (p<0.05). (Fig. 30)

In situ zymography analysis

At the baseline when the universal adhesive was applied in the E&R mode without PP, (Fig.31) higher enzymatic activity was observed (p<0.05). A greater enzymatic activity was also found in the presence of pulpal pressure (p<0.05). The values are shown below in Tab. 17.

No statistically significant differences were found regarding the different method of evaporation of the adhesive (p>0.05).

After 6 months of storage in artificial saliva in presence of pulpal pressure higher enzymatic activity was observed in correlation of the etching mode (0,006). The confocal evaluations shows also no significant correlation between evaporation mode and pulpal pressure (0,720).



Fig 30: The images above depict the adhesive surface of the sticks of each group following detachment following the microtensile bond strength test observed by SEM, mag:200x (above); 2000x (low).



Fig 31: Results of in situ zymography. Each group shows a green fluorescence image indicative of enzymatic activity (above) and another image combining fluorescence with dentin morphology (below).

Evaluation of fiber post adhesion to root dentin achieved with different resin cements: 1-year in vitro results

Aim:

To evaluate push-out bond strength (PBS) and interfacial nanoleakage (NL) of adhesively luted fiber posts using different resin cements and polymerization protocols.

Materials and methods

Specimen preparation

The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Department of Biomedical and Neuromotor Science (DIBINEM), University of Bologna, Italy (protocol N°: 71/2019/OSS/AUSLBO).

One-hundred extracted, caries-free, mandibular premolars were stored in 0.5% chloramine solution at 4°C for no longer than 2 months after extraction. The teeth were sectioned at the cementoenamel junction, perpendicular to the long axis, using a low-speed diamond saw (Microremet, Remet, Bologna, Italy) under water cooling. Root canal treatment was performed using Pathfiles (#1-2-3) and ProTaper (S1-S2-F1-F2-F3) (Dentsply Sirona, York, PA, USA) until the working length. During instrumentation, the canals were irrigated with 5 mL of 5% sodium hypochlorite (Niclor 5; Ogna, Muggiò, Italy), followed by a final rinse with 1 mL of 10% ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid (Tubuliclean; Ogna, Muggiò, Italy). In accordance with the continuous wave technique, the canals were filled with endodontic sealer (AH-Plus, Dentsply Sirona), medium-sized gutta-percha points with DownPack (Hu-Friedy, Chicago, IL, USA) and warm gutta-percha (Obtura III, Analytic Technologies, Redmond, WA, USA). The coronal entrance of the filled roots was then temporarily sealed with a glass-ionomer cement (Fuji VII, GC Corp., Tokyo, Japan) and the samples were stored for 24h at 37°C and 100% relative humidity.

Luting of fiber posts

After the removal of the temporary coronal seal, post space preparation was created in a standardized way for each tooth. An 8-mm post space was created by using a low-speed dental hand
piece and post drill (RelyX fiber post drill Size 2, 3M, Neuss, Germany). The root canal was then irrigated with 5 ml of distilled water and dried with absorbent paper points (Dentsply-DeTrey, Konstanz, Germany). Before the luting procedures, the fiber post size 2 (RelyXTM, 3M, Neuss, Germany) was inserted into the canal to check if it reached the intended length, after which the coronal part outside the canal was cut with a diamond bur. The teeth were then randomly assigned to one of the following groups, according to the luting agent and polymerization protocol employed (N=10):

Group 1a (RXU LC): light-cure RelyX Universal (3M);
Group 1b (RXU SC): self-cure RelyX Universal (3M);
Group 2a (MAX LC): light-cure Maxcem Elite Chroma (Kerr);
Group 2b (MAX SC): self-cure Maxcem Elite Chroma (Kerr);
Group 3a (CAL LC): light-cure Calibra Universal (Dentsply Sirona);
Group 3b (CAL SC): self-cure Calibra Universal (Dentsply Sirona);
Group 4a (MUL LC): light-cure Multilink Automix/Multilink Primer (Ivoclar Vivadent);
Group 4b (MUL SC): self-cure Multilink Automix/Multilink Primer (Ivoclar Vivadent);
Group 5a (LUX LC): light-cure Luxacore Z Dual/LuxaBond Total Etch System (DMG);

MAX and CAL are self-adhesive resin cements. RXU is defined as universal resin cement that, in the present study, was used in the self-adhesive modality (no previous application of Scotchbond Universal Plus adhesive). MUL is a resin cement that relies on a self-etch approach (SE). LUX is a core build-up and radicular post luting composite used in combination with an etch-andrinse (E&R) bonding system. The details of fiber post surface pretreatments, chemical compositions and application modes of the cements are shown in Table 18.

Resin cement	Composition	Application mode	FRC post preparation
	BPA derivative free		
	dimethacrylate		
	monomers,		
	phosphorylated		
	dimethacrylate		Clean with alcohol
RelyX Universal,	adhesion monomers,	Self-adhesive resin cement:	and air-dry for 5 s.
3M (LOT	photoinitiator	Dispense in the post space and insert	Priming with
VTGHESP0019)	system, novel	the post.	adhesive not
	amphiphilic redox		

	initiator system,		required for 3M
	radiopaque fillers		RelyX fiber posts.
	and rheological		
	additives, pigments		
	HEMA, GDM,		
	UDMA, 1,1,3,3-		
	tetramethylbutyl		Clean with alcohol
Maxcem Elite	hydroperoxide	Self-adhesive resin cement:	and air-dry for 5 s.
Chroma, Kerr	TEGDMA,	Dispense in the post space and insert	Apply a layer of
(LOT 71887933)	fluoroaluminosilicate	the post.	silane coupling
	glass, GPDM,		agent (Ultradent) for
	barium glass filler,		60 s and gently air-
	fumed silica (69 wt		dry.
	%)		
	UDMA,		
	trimethylolpropane		
	trimethacrylate		
	TMPTMA, bis-		Clean with alcohol
	EMA—Bisphenol A		and air-dry for 5 s.
Calibra Universal,	ethoxylate	Self-adhesive resin cement:	Apply a layer of
Dentsply Sirona	dimethacrylate,	Dispense in the post space and insert	silane coupling
(LOT 170821)	TEGDMA, HEMA,	the post.	agent (Ultradent) for
	3-(acryloyloxy)-2-		60 s and gently air-
	hydroxypropyl		dry.
	methacrylate,		
	urethane modified		
	bis-GMA, PENTA,		
	silanated barium		
	glass, fumed silica		
	(48 vol %)		

	Dimethacrylate and	Self-etch 1-step adhesive resin	Clean with alcohol
Multilink	HEMA, barium glass	cement:	and air-dry for 5 sec.
Automix, Ivoclar	and silica filler,	Mix Multilink Primer (1:1) and apply	Apply a layer of
Vivadent (LOT	ytterbiumtrifluoride	with a endobrush to radicular dentin	Monobond Plus
Y47572)	(68 wt %), catalysts,	for 30 s. Remove the access with an	(Ivoclar Vivadent)
	stabilizers, pigments	absorbent paper point. Dispense the	for 60 s and gently
		cement in the post space and insert	air-dry.
		the post.	
		Etch-and rinse 3-step adhesive resin	
		cement:	
		Apply DMG etching gel for 15 s on	
		radicular dentin, rinse with water for	Clean with alcohol
Luxacore Z Dual,	Bis-GMA, UDMA,	15 s. Dry the canal with paper points.	and air-dry for 5 s.
DMG (LOT	Barium glass,	Work 1 drop of prebond (Luxacore	Apply a layer of
211108)	colloidal silica,	Total Etch) to dentin for 15 s, remove	silane coupling
	nanocomposite,	the access with paper point, gently	agent (Ultradent) for
	zirconium dioxide	air-dry. Mix Bond A and Bond B	60 s and gently air-
	71% weight	(1:1) and apply to dentin surface for	dry.
		20 s using a microbrush, gently air-	
		dry. Dispense the cement in the post	
		space and insert the post.	

 Table 18. The details of fiber post surface pretreatments, chemical compositions and application modes of the cements.

One operator, unaware to the polymerization protocol, performed the fiber post luting procedures. Then, a second operator randomly assigned the specimens either to the LC or SC groups by means of simple randomization (toss of a coin). Light-curing was performed through the fiber post for 60s with a LED curing lamp (1470 mW/cm2, Elipar Deep cure, 3M). The SC groups were put in dark chambers for one hour at 37°C to allow exclusively chemical polymerization of the resin cements.

Afterwards, in order to prevent dehydration [127, 128], the specimens were wrapped into humid medical gauze, put into plastic chambers, and stored in an incubator at 37°C for 24 h . After

storage, each root was sectioned in at least six 1-mm thick slices using a low-speed diamond saw (Microremet, Remet) under water cooling. The first coronal slices were automatically discarded, the coronal side of each slice was signed with an indelible marker to later ensure the exact positioning during testing. Six slices from each root were obtained, with first three slices being considered as coronal part, while the last three slices were considered to belong to the apical part. Half of the specimens from each group (N=5) were immediately processed for PBS test (T_0). The other half was stored at 37°C for 12 months (T_{12}) in 2 ml Eppendorf tubes filled with artificial saliva that was regularly changed every 2 weeks.

Push-out bond strength test

The thickness of each slice was measured using a digital caliper (Starrett 727, Starrett, Itu, SP, Brazil) with ± 0.01 mm accuracy. The slices were then put on 1 mm- square graph paper and photographs were taken with a digital camera (D 7200, Nikon, Japan), after which the coronal and apical diameters of the posts were measured in ImageJ software (National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA). The push-out test was performed using a universal testing machine (Instron 4465, Instron, Norwood, MA, USA) by applying an axial load force at a crosshead speed of 0.5 mm/min. The apical surface of the slice was placed facing the punch tip to ensure that the load was applied following an apical-coronal direction, so to dislocate the post towards the wider part of the slice. The load that caused the specimens' failure (manifested by the dislodgment of the post) was recorded in Newtons (N) and it was converted to mega Pascals (MPa) by dividing the load in Newtons by the bonded surface area (SL) in mm². The bonded surface area was calculated using the following formula:

SL= $(\pi(R+r))^*((h^2+(R-r))^2)^{0.5}$,

where R was the coronal diameter of the canal with the post, r the apical diameter and h the thickness of the slice (8).

The debonded specimens were analyzed by one investigator under a stereomicroscope at 40x magnification (Stemi 2000-C; Carl Zeiss Jena GmbH) and the failure mode was classified as follows: adhesive, between dentin and the cement (AD), adhesive between the cement and the post (AP), cohesive within the cement (CC), cohesive within the post (CP) and mixed (M).

Interfacial nanoleakage expression

Additional mandibular premolars (N=4 per group) were used to quantify the interfacial NL expression. The endodontic treatment, fiber post cementation and cutting procedures were performed as previously described for the PBS test. NL analysis was performed at the baseline (T₀) and after 12 months (T₁₂) storage in artificial saliva at 37 °C. The specimens were prepared and covered with nail varnish, leaving 1 mm free at the interface, then immersed in a 50 wt% ammoniacal silver nitrate solution for 24 h. Specimens were then photo-developed to reduce the diamine silver ions ([Ag(NH₃)₂]⁻) into metallic silver grains. The silver-impregnated specimens were fixed, dehydrated in ascending ethanol solutions, embedded in epoxy resin (Epon 812, Fluka, Switzerland) and processed for light microscopy analysis in accordance with Mazzoni et al. [129] . Images of the adhesive interfaces were captured (20x magnification) and the extent of interfacial NL was scored by one observer using a four-point scale [. Briefly, interfacial nanoleakage was scored based on the percentage of the adhesive surface showing silver nitrate deposition: 0, no nanoleakage; 1, < 25% with nanoleakage; 2, 25% to 50% with nanoleakage; 3, 50% to 75% with nanoleakage; and 4, > 75% with nanoleakage [130].

Statistical analysis

After checking the normality (Shapiro-Wilk test) and homoscedastic (modified Levene's test) assumptions of the data sets, an analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to examine the effects of the dependent variables "cement", "curing mode", "root region" and "aging", and the interaction of these factors on the PBS. Pairwise comparisons were performed using Tukey post-hoc test.

In addition, one-way ANOVA test with the post-hoc Bonferroni correction was conducted to evaluate the differences between the groups. NL scores were analyzed using the Chi-square tests. All statistical analyses were conducted with the software Stata 12.0 (Stata Corp, College Station, Texas, USA) and the significance was set for p<0.05.

Results

Push-out bond strength test

Mean PBS values (MPa) with standard deviations (SD) of specimens tested at T_0 or T_{12} are presented in Tables 19 and 20 for the coronal and apical root regions, respectively. The statistical

analysis revealed that the "cement" and "aging" significantly influenced the PBS (p<0.05), but not the variables "polymerization protocol" and "root region" (p>0.05). The interactions between the variables were not statistically significant (p>0.05). The results of the one-way ANOVA demonstrated the trend of significantly lower PBS values in the CAL groups compared to other investigated cements (p<0.05). RXU cement performed either equally well (p>0.05) or better than other self-adhesive and multi-step systems (p<0.05). This was particularly evident at T₁₂ in the SC mode, where RXU showed higher bond strength compared to the other investigated systems, especially in the apical root region (p<0.05). After artificial aging, PBS values increased in the majority of the investigated groups, irrespective of the root region (p<0.05).

The percentage of the types of failure mode within each group is presented in Table 21. A predominance of mixed and adhesive failures at the cement/post interfaces were observed among the groups, independent of the curing mode and aging conditions. Adhesive failures at the dentin side were observed at T_0 for MAX SC, CAL SC e MUL SC, and at T_{12} for RXU both in the LC and SC groups. No cohesive fractures were detected.

Groups	To		T ₁₂	
	LC	SC	LC	SC
RXU	16.5±3.7 bA	15.0±4.3 bA	23.3±6.0 ^{aA}	28.9±6.5 ^{aA}
MAX	15.6±4.6 ^{aA}	19.6±3.1 ^{aA}	16.1±6.0 ^{aB}	19.7±8.7 ^{aB}
CAL	8.6±4.5 ^{cB}	14.7±6.1 bAB	24.5±3.6 ^{aA}	16.4±7.0 в
LUX	17.4±5.4 bA	12.6±3.0 bcB	30.2±9.5 ^{aA}	21.6±5.9 bAB
MUL	18.4±6.2 ^{aA}	20.4±7.3 ^{aA}	25.0±8.6 ^{aA}	22.8±6.5 ^{aAB}

Table 19: Push-out bond strength values with standard deviations (MPa) in coronal section at T0 and T12. Different superscript letters indicate significant differences. Lower case letters refer to differences within the rows, upper case letters refer to differences within the columns. LC - light cure; SC - self-cure.

Groups	To		T ₁₂	
	LC	SC	LC	SC
RXU	17.7±6.6 bA	19.9±4.8 bA	27.7±10.9 ^{aA}	30.3±7.8 ^{aA}
MAX	13.1±7.3 в	23.3±3.3 ^{aA}	26.2±5.1 ^{aA}	20.9±7.3 ^{aB}
CAL	5.9±3.9 ^{bC}	8.1±2.6 bB	16.5±6.3 ^{aB}	14.8±8.9 ^{aC}
LUX	18.7±6.7 bA	20.4±3.3 ^{bA}	31.4±8.3 ^{aA}	21.6±12.0 bB
MUL	19.0±4.5 bA	19.9±6.2 bA	26.2±10.9 ^{aA}	16.8±5.9 b В

Table 20: Push-out bond strength values \pm standard deviations (MPa) in apical section at T0 and T12. Different superscript letters indicate significant differences. Lower case letters refer to differences within the rows, upper case letters refer to differences within the columns. LC – light cure; SC – self-cure.

Groups	T ₀	T ₀		T ₁₂	
	LC	SC	LC	SC	
RXU	M: 52	M: 60	M: 50	M: 36.3	
	AP: 48	AP: 40	AP: 16.6	AP: 9	
	AD: 0	AD: 0	AD: 33.4	AD: 54.7	
	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	
	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	
MAX	M: 70	M: 41.6	M: 54.5	M: 70	
	AP: 30	AP: 25	AP: 45.5	AP: 30	
	AD: 0	AD: 33.4	AD: 0	AD: 0	
	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	
	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	
CAL	M: 62.5	M: 41.6	M: 85.5	M: 65	
	AP: 37.5	AP: 25	AP: 14.5	AP: 35	
	AD: 0	AD: 33.4	AD: 0	AD: 0	
	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	
	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	
LUX	M: 36.3	M: 33.3	M: 36.3	M: 66.6	
	AP: 63.7	AP: 66.7	AP: 63.7	AP: 33.4	
	AD: 0	AD: 0	AD: 0	AD: 0	
	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	
	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	
MUL	M: 55	M: 52.9	M: 53.3	M: 76.9	
	AP: 45	AP: 11.7	AP: 46.7	AP: 23.1	
	AD: 0	AD: 35.4	AD: 0	AD: 0	
	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	CC: 0	
	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	CP: 0	
	1	1			

Table 21: Failure mode of the dislodged specimens from five experimental groups at baseline (24h) and after one year of aging in artificial saliva. Data are expressed as percentages (%) of the total number of specimens tested for each group. Abbreviations: AD - adhesive, between dentin and the

cement; AP - adhesive between the cement and the post; CC - cohesive within the cement; CP - cohesive within the post and M-mixed.

Interfacial nanoleakage expression

Descriptive statistics of interfacial NL scores within the groups in the experimental conditions are presented in Figures 32 and 33 at T_0 and T_{12} , respectively. The statistical analysis showed differences in the interfacial silver deposition among the tested groups, and this was material-dependent (p<0.05). At T_0 , LUX and CAL revealed higher silver nitrate infiltration both in the LC and SC groups (p<0.05). RXU, MAX and MUL showed comparable results, independently from the curing protocol performed. Furthermore, no differences were detected between the apical and the coronal portion of the root, except for CAL SC that exhibited significantly higher NL in the apical portion (p<0.05).

After 12 months of artificial aging, differences in marginal infiltration among the tested groups were still present (p<0.05). In general, the aging process produced an increase in marginal infiltration and results were as follows: MAX = CAL > MUL = LUX > RXU (p < 0.05), irrespective of the polymerization condition and root region. Representative images of NL expression analyses are shown in Figures 34 and 35 (at baseline and after 12 months, respectively).



Fig. 32. Percentage of interfacial nanoleakage expression in resin-dentin interfaces created in radicular dentin at T0.



Fig. 33. Percentage of interfacial nanoleakage expression in resin-dentin interfaces created in radicular dentin at T6.







Fig. 35. Light micrographs showing the adhesive interface created by different composite cements at T12. Top row: coronal root slices; bottom row: apical root slices. Arrows indicate silver nitrate deposition; D, dentin; P, post; C, cement.

Effect of resin cement strategy on bonding performances of orthodontic bracket and tooth color changes.

Aim:

To evaluate the shear bond strength (SBS) of different cementation techniques for luting orthodontic brackets. Additionally, the amount remaining resin cement after testing and different material removal techniques were compared.

Matherials and metods:

Collection, storage and preparation of the teeth:

Forty sound human premolars were collected for the study. The criteria for tooth selection included intact enamel with no fractures due to extraction (visible under 4x magnifications), no previous restorations and no carious lesions. After extraction, the teeth were washed under running water, stored in distilled water at 4°C and used within six months after extraction. The water was replaced every two weeks.

Specimens' preparation:

Before the bonding procedures, the selected teeth were polished with non-fluoridate pumice (Super Polish, Kerrhawe, Bioggio, Switzerland) and a prophylaxis brush mounted on a low-speed handpiece for 20 s, rinsed with water for 20 s and air-dried for 10 s. One type of orthodontic bracket was used: a maxillary premolar stainless steel bracket of size 0.022" slot (Mini Diagonali MBT system, width 3.4 mm x height 2.9 mm o surface area 9.86mm2, Leone S.p.A., Florence, Italy). Each specimen was numbered from 1 to 40 with an incision made with a diamond bur. A digital three-dimensional scan (T0) of each tooth was taken in STL format (TRIOS 3 basic, 3shape, Copenhagen, Denmark) (Fig. 36. a). At this point, teeth were randomly divided into 4 groups (N=10).

TXT group: Control group. Brackets were bonded with a traditional orthodontic cement: enamel surfaces were treated with 37% H3PO4 (Scotchbond Universal Etchant, 3M ESPE, Saint Paul, MN, USA) for 30 s ,rinsed with water for 30 s and air-dried. The adhesive was applied with a microbrush (Transbond XT Light Cure adhesive primer, 3M) and brackets cemented with Trasbond XT (3M). The bracket was placed on the tooth, pressed firmly on the enamel surface, the excesses were gently removed with a spatula and then it was light cured with a LED lamp (Ortholux Luminous Curing Light, 3M) for 40 s (20 s on the mesial side and 20 s on the distal side).

RXU E&R group: Brackets were bonded using a universal resin cement (RelyX Universal, 3M) with a universal adhesive used in the etch-and-rinse mode (Scotchbond Universal Plus Adhesive, 3M) applied with a microbrush. The enamel surfaces were treated with 37% H3PO4 (Scotchbond Universal Etchant, 3M) for 15 s, rinsed with water for 30 s and air-dried. Brackets were then light cured with a LED lamp (Ortholux Luminous Curing Light, 3M) for 40 s (20 s on the mesial side and 20 s on the distal side).

RXU SE group: Brackets were luted with RelyX Universal used in combination with the universal adhesive used in the self-etch mode.

RXU group: Brackets were luted with RelyX Universal used in the self-adhesive mode.

A single operator performed the luting procedures.

After bonding, the specimens were stored in artificial saliva at 37 °C for 24 h, before being submitted to the shear bond strength test (SBS).

After 24 h, each tooth was mounted on a light cured tray material (Impression Tray Resin LC, Henry Schein, Melville, NY, USA) incorporated into a PVC jig to block the position of the dental elements with the horizontal lines of the bracket parallel to the ground and the bracket base perpendicular to the worktop.

Shear bond strength test (SBS):

The SBS test was conducted with an Instron Universal Testing machine (Instron, Norwood, MA, USA). Each specimen was positioned in the machine to secure the bracket base parallel to the force direction. A chisel-shaped blade was placed between the bracket base and the vestibular surface of the tooth in its maximum curvature. The shear force was exerted through the chisel-shaped blade in an occlusal-gingival direction. The shear force was applied at a crosshead speed of 1mm per min until bracket failure (in accordance with the ISO protocol which provides a crosshead speed of 0.75 \pm 0.3 mm per min or a load of 50 \pm 2 N per min).

The force required to detach the bracket was recorded in Newtons (N) and then converted in MPa. After debonding, each tooth surface and each bracket base was examined under an optical microscope at 20× magnification. The amount of adhesive remnant was assessed with the aid of a digital image processing software ImageJ (National Institutes of Health, USA) using the adhesive remnant index (ARItooth).

The ARItooth was ranked from 0 to 3, as follows:

-0: no adhesive present on the enamel surface.

-1: less than 50% adhesive on enamel.

-2: more than 50% adhesive on enamel.

-3: 100% adhesive on enamel (the mark of the bracket's mesh is clearly visible).

A second digital three-dimensional scan (T1) of each model was taken in STL format (TRIOS 3 basic, 3shape, Copenhagen, Denmark) (Fig. 36. b) to superimpose them with the scans performed at T0.

Additional 2 teeth per group were randomly selected to be evaluated under a Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) to evaluate the enamel surface morphology after testing.

Adhesive removal:

Teeth were randomly divided into two subgroups to evaluate two different adhesive removal techniques (n=5): A) contouring and polishing coarse discs (Sof-Lex, 3M) rotating on low-speed contraangle handpiece; and B) tungsten carbide multi-laminated high-rotation drill. In group A, the disc was positioned perpendicular to the long axis of the tooth and lateral movements in the mesiodistal direction of the crown were performed. In group B the same movements were performed but the drill was positioned parallel to the long axis of the tooth.

After removal of the adhesive remnant from the enamel surface, a third digital threedimensional scan (T2) of each model was taken in STL format (TRIOS 3 basic) (Fig. 36. c).

Once STL 0-2 were obtained, a geomorphometric software (3D Geomagic Capture Wrap, 3D Systems©, Rock Hill, SC, USA) was used to superimpose the scans.

A Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM) evaluation was performed at T2 to evaluate the effects of polishing methods on the enamel surface morphology.



Fig. 36. a): digital three-dimensional scan at T0; b): digital three-dimensional scan at T1; c): digital three-dimensional scan at T2. Colorimetric Analysis:

The color stability of enamel during the different operative stages was analyzed with the SpectroShade Micro spectrophotometer (Medical High Technologies, Verona, VR, Italy). The analysis was carried out at room temperature under natural light. The spectrophotometer device used for colorimetric analysis was calibrated before each color measurement for every tooth. Each tooth was analyzed before and after debonding of brackets and after the polishing procedures. All color measurements were done by one operator and repeated three times per surface. The CIELAB analysis was used to calculate color differences among the groups. The output of the colorimetric analysis were the following data: L*, a* and b*. Inserting these data in the following formula, a value demonstrating the difference between the two investigated moments was obtained (deltaE).

Statistical analysis:

The data on shear bond strength, adhesive removal techniques' efficiency and on the color changes after the bracket debonding procedure and after cement removal have been tested for normality (Shapiro-Wilk test), and homogeneity (Brown-Forsythe test). Since the bond strength and color change data did not pass one or both of these requirements, they were analyzed using Kruskal-Wallis and post-hoc Dunn's test. The data regarding the efficiency of cement removal techniques were normally distributed and homogenous and were therefore analyzed using the two-way ANOVA test (main factors "Cementation technique" and "Removal technique") and pairwise multiple comparison test (Holm-Sidak). All the analyses were performed using the SigmaPlot software v. 14.0 (Systat Software Inc., Berkshire, UK) and the level of significance was set at α =0.05.

Results:

The mean bracket bond strengths and standard deviations of the four groups are presented in Table 1. The differences in the median values among the treatment groups was greater than would be expected by chance; there was a statistically significant difference (P < 0.001). The highest bond strength was achieved in the RXU E&R group with significant differences from RXU SE and RXU groups (respectively P=0.020 and P<0.001) but statistically similar to TXT group (P=0.979). The lowest strength was obtained in RXU in self-adhesive mode with no significant difference from RXU

SE group (P=0.651). The control group (TXT) yielded a significantly higher strength compared to the RXU group used in the self-adhesive mode (P=0.001), but no significant differences were observed from RXU SE group (P=0.062).

The distribution of mean values and standard deviations of the superimposition of the scans of the four groups after the cement removal using two different techniques is shown in Table 2.

In T1, the differences in the mean values among the treatment groups were greater than would be expected by chance, there was a statistically significant difference (P = 0,016). The highest amount of adhesive remnant on the enamel surface was shown in RXU E&R group while the lowest one in RXU SE group with a significant difference between them (P = 0,023). There was a significant difference also between RXU E&R group and RXU group (P = 0,045). No significant difference was observed between control TXT group and RXU E&R group (P = 0,169), RXU SE group (P = 0,653), or RXU group (P = 0,794). No significant difference was found between RXU SE and RXU groups (P = 0,624).

In T2, the difference in the mean values among the different levels of cementation techniques was not great enough to exclude the possibility that the difference was just due to random sampling variability after allowing for the effects of differences in removal techniques. There was not a statistically significant difference (P = 0,094). Conversely, the difference in the mean values among the different types of removal techniques was statistically significant (P = 0,002). Finally, there was not a statistically significant difference between the interaction of cementation techniques and removal techniques (P = 0,809).

Mean values and standard deviation of the tooth color change after bracket removal is presented in Table 4, while the same values about the tooth color change after bracket removal and after the adhesive remnant removal were reported in Table 5. The data was analyzed statistically (P < 0.05) and no statistically significant difference was found between cementation, removal techniques and enamel color changes (P > 0.05).

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation
TXT	134.9 ^{a, b}	±71.2
RXU E&R	156.0ª	±81.8
RXU SE	54.3 ^{b,c}	±29.7
RXU	33.4°	±26.7

Table 19 – Mean shear bond strength and standard deviations among the groups. TXT: phosphoric acid etching for 30s + Trasbond XT adhesive primer and cement; RXU E&R: phosphoric acid etching for 15s + Scotchbond Universal Plus adhesive + RelyX Universal cement; RXU SE: Scotchbond Universal Plus adhesive in self-etch mode + RelyX Universal cement; RXU: RelyX Universal cement

in self-adhesive mode. Different superscript letters indicate statistically significant differences among the groups (p<0,05).

Group	T1	
	Mean	Std Dev
TXT	0.812 ^{a,b}	±0.871
RXU E&R	1.426 ^a	±0.556
RXU SE	0.482 ^b	±0.345
RXU	0.633 ^b	±0.657

Table 20 – Superimposition of tooth scans at baseline and after debonding (T1).

Group	Removal technique			
	Sof-Lex		Tungsten	
	Mean	Std. Dev	Mean	Std. Dev
TXT	0.304ª	±0.275	0.161 ^b	±0.171
RXU E&R	0.346 ^a	±0.222	0.147 ^b	±0.0349
RXU SE	0.399ª	±0.196	0.0705 ^b	±0.00493
RXU	0.583ª	±0.301	0.315 ^b	±0.199

Table 21 – Superimposition of tooth scans at baseline and after removal with two different techniques (T2)

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation
TXT	4.385	±3.148
RXU E&R	5.070	±2.205
RXU SE	2.537	±1.457
RXU	3.215	±1.017

Table 22 – Tooth color changes after debonding (deltaE). TXT: phosphoric acid etching for 30s + Trasbond XT adhesive primer and cement; RXU E&R: phosphoric acid etching for 15s + Scotchbond Universal Plus adhesive + RelyX Universal cement; RXU SE: Scotchbond Universal Plus adhesive in self-etch mode + RelyX Universal cement; RXU: RelyX Universal cement in self-adhesive mode.

Group	Mean	Standard Deviation
TXT + SF	4.027	±2.075
TXT + Tung	6.612	±3.613
RXU E&R + SF	4.803	±2.638
RXU E&R + Tung	5.336	±1.950
RXU SE + SF	6.350	±3.901
RXU SE + Tung	5.236	±4.338
RXU + SF	7.297	±5.537
RXU + Tung	5.718	±4.397

Table 23 – Tooth color changes after adhesive removal procedures . TXT: phosphoric acid etching for 30s + Trasbond XT adhesive primer and cement; RXU E&R: phosphoric acid etching for 15s + Scotchbond Universal Plus adhesive + RelyX Universal cement; RXU SE: Scotchbond Universal Plus adhesive in self-etch mode + RelyX Universal cement; RXU: RelyX Universal cement in self-

adhesive mode. SF: Sof-Lex discs rotating on low-speed contra angle handpiece; Tung: tungsten carbide multi-laminated high-rotation drill.

Discussion

Adhesive dentistry considerably change in the last decade, with the aim of assure good bond strength and reproducibility, so less steps and ease of application. Universal adhesive became a very popular system, it can be applied in different ways, so it was necessary in our opinion to enhance the correct protocol to follow when an universal adhesive was used in clinical practice. With the first two systematic reviews we want to clarify the state of the art of the etching mode of universal adhesive in non retentive cavities and we found out that universal adhesives in the EAR mode could lead to better medium-term retention, while the use of the SE adhesives could lead to less immediate POS and therefore better short-term patient satisfaction, the SEE approach was comparable with the EAR approach in terms of retention and POS, finally we can assume that SEE is the best approach to practice. Then we conducted three in vitro studies in order to analize the evaporation mode, the adhesion on radicular dentine, and finally adhesion of brackets. Regarding the evaporation mode, airdrying performed better than suction and the self-etch mode seem to be more reliable choices when an ethanol-based universal adhesive is used. About the adhesion of fiber post on root canals, it can be deduced that the choice of resin cement, rather than polymerization protocol, influenced fiber posts' retention in root canal. Finally for adhesion of brackets on enamel, E&R mode improves bond strength values.

More specifically, organizing RCTs to evaluate clinical behavior of resin-based restorations placed in NCCLs using different adhesive strategies is considered to be state of the art. Earlier systematic reviews analyzed the clinical performance NCCLs restored with EAR or SE adhesive systems and SE adhesives in two different etching modes (SE or SEE). However, to the best of our knowledge, no systematic reviews analyzing clinical trials in which universal adhesives were used for restoring NCCLs have been published so far. Therefore, by conducting a systematic review with meta-analyses, we synthetized the data from the available RCTs and sought to investigate which adhesive strategy should be employed in order to optimize clinical performances of composite restorations placed with this category of adhesive systems.

The results of our study revealed that the loss of retention is not significantly influenced by the adhesive strategy at 6-months follow-up (low certainty of evidence). On the contrary, significant difference was observed for 12- and 18/24- months with a moderate certainty of evidence, with SE group being exposed to increased likelihood for loss of retention when compared to EAR group. Even though the trend towards increased risk of retention loss was expected to be found with a longer follow-up period, no difference was observed at 36-months recall. However, this result must be

interpreted with caution since low certainty of evidence was present at 36-months evaluation, meaning that the true effect might be markedly different from the estimated one.

The fact that higher retention rates were observed when universal adhesives were used in EAR compared to SE mode may be explained by the morphology and configuration of NCCLs. The margins, or at least a part of NCCLs is located in enamel, and it is well known that it is easier to achieve predictable bonding to enamel compared with dentin, due to the differences in the composition of these two tissues. Furthermore, our meta-analysis results showed no differences for the risk of retention loss between EAR and SEE groups. This suggests that SEE mode may be an alternative approach to EAR mode, since the application of phosphoric acid is limited to enamel only, therefore leaving behind mineralized dentin. This strategy enables Ca-salts to be embedded within the hybrid layer, and when using adhesives that contain 10-methacryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate (10-MDP) as a functional molecule, common for universal adhesives used in the present systematic review, it may lead to the formation of stable MDP-Ca salts which provide clinical durability of the hybrid layer.

Contrary to what might have been expected, the results of our meta-analysis revealed that the choice of the adhesive strategy (EAR vs. SE) did not have an influence on marginal discoloration at any of the follow-up periods.

Furthermore, although it seems that applying universal adhesives in EAR mode offers no advantage over SE mode, closer look should be given to the certainty of evidence tool and the length of the follow-up periods. Low certainty was seen for 6- and 12- months follow-up, while moderate level with very few events was observed for 18/24 months. Besides low and moderate certainty of evidence observed at these short- and medium-term follow-ups, the literature suggests that it may take more than 5 years to observe a significant number of events between the treatment groups in clinical settings. Unfortunately, we could not run a meta-analysis for long-term follow-ups since only one study [8] evaluated the NCCL restorations after 5 years of clinical function, and found superior clinical performance for EAR and SEE compared to SE strategy. Another factor to be considered is that marginal discoloration, assessed by the FDI and USPHS criteria, was not evaluated separately between dentin and enamel margins, as suggested by Cieplik et al. (2017), thus potentially masking differences between different adhesive strategies [131].

POS is a clinical parameter widely discussed among clinicians since it can cause patients' dissatisfaction and sensibility [132]. Despite the large interest, this clinical parameter has not always been studied in previous systematic reviews that analyzed different types of adhesives employed in resolving the problem of NCCLs [133, 134], and neither was it addressed in a recent systematic review which evaluated the influence of etching mode (SE vs. SEE) for NCCLs restored with SE

adhesives [135]. As far as the authors of this paper are aware, the only systematic review that analyzed POS after placing composite restorations in NCCLs found no differences when EAR were compared to SE adhesive systems [136]. However, unlike the previous review [136] in which dichotomous data from 19 studies, irrespective of the POS assessment method, were used to run a single meta-analysis, we performed separate meta-analyses, distinguishing the data based on the way in which POS was estimated and taking into account the adhesive strategy. We opted to investigate POS only at baseline, since this it clinically most often occurs only within the first week following the intervention. Our results for subjective POS are in line with earlier conclusions [136], since no difference was observed when universal adhesives were employed in the EAR and SE mode for restoration of cervical lesions. However, an interesting finding from our study was that EAR groups had higher risk for objective POS occurrence than SE groups. Contrary, no differences in terms of POS when EAR and SE adhesives were used for restoration of posterior cavities has been reported in the literature [137], and the choice of the adhesive strategy (EAR or SE) seemed to play no role in POS occurrence in NCCLs restorations [136]. Therefore, this may be the first systematic review which reported, with moderate level of evidence, that the choice of adhesive strategy could influence objective POS when universal adhesives are used for NCCLs restoration, suggesting that SE approach could be more appropriate than EAR when aiming to reduce POS sensitivity during NCCLs restoration.

One of the main remarks of evaluating POS by applying a stimulus is that it serves rather as pulp vitality indicator and that the absence of preoperative POS may change due to the adhesive procedure and become detectable on stimulus after the restoration has been placed [138]. However, the primary studies included in our meta-analysis involved (in various percentage) NCCLs which already exhibited baseline preoperative sensitivity, thus it is not likely that the reported POS sensitivity occurred due to the restorative procedure. Regardless of potential drawbacks for POS assessment by applying a stimulus, we observed higher risk for POS occurrence in EAR groups, most probably due to the fact that phosphoric acid partially or even completely dissolved the hypermineralized layer within NCCLs [139].

Generally, RCTs included in this systematic review demonstrated no major concerns considering the risk of bias assessment. The random allocation sequence took place in all reviewed RCTs, but the lack of clear reporting of allocation concealment, blinding of participants and/or evaluators led to classifying some domains as "unclear" (Figure 2). Furthermore, we ranked 3 articles [62, 117, 118] as "unclear" for attrition bias, since more than 20% of patients were lost and no intention-to-treat analysis was reported to had been performed. Traditional understanding suggests that patient drop-out rate higher than 20% may represent a serious threat to study's validity. [140] Despite this belief, our decision to score attrition bias domain as "unclear" instead of "high" was

based on the fact that the split-mouth design was employed in all RCTs, and consequently, the patient drop-out led to the balanced loss of restorations across the groups [141].

Lastly, one of the novelties of this review compared to the previous ones [135, 136,137] was the implementation of certainty of evidence that was assessed according to the GRADE tool. The benefits of introducing GRADE assessment is that it provides assessments about the quality of evidence for each outcome in a transparent manner, and may differ for the same outcome at various follow-up periods depending on inconsistency, indirectness and imprecision. One of the limitations of this review is that our conclusions are drawn from meta-analysis performed for short- and mediumterm follow-up periods (the longest follow-up was 36 months). Another limitation is that direct comparison between SE and SEE strategy was not performed, as it would have led to a less focused PICOS question. The rationale for comparing EAR with SE or SEE mode lies in the fact that when using universal adhesives in EAR mode dentin is etched, while it is left unetched in both SE and SEE strategy. In future, it would be of interest to conduct systematic reviews that compare the influence of SE and SEE strategy on clinical performance of composite restorations placed in NCCLs with universal adhesives and include RCTs with follow-ups longer than 5 years. [142]

Continuing analize NCCLs, due to their non-retentive cavity shape, we conducted a systematic review to answer the question "Is the risk of retention loss equal for SEE and SE approach when universal adhesives and composite restorations are indicated for restoring NCCLs?"

To the best of our knowledge, only one systematic review [71] included RCTs which compared EAR to SEE or SE strategy when universal adhesives and composite restorations are indicated for restoring NCCLs. However, the previous review did not make a distinct comparison between SEE and SE strategy, thus leaving doubts for clinicians who prefer to leave the dentin surface unetched and should decide whether or not enamel should be conditioned with phosphoric acid.

The most important finding of our meta-analyses concerns clinical outcome retention. According to the results, retention of composite restorations at 6- and 18/24- months was improved when universal adhesives were used in SEE mode. The explanation for this may lie in the fact that, when using universal adhesives in SEE mode, an additional etching step with phosphoric acid is performed solely on enamel. It is well known that, in most cases, borders of the cavity of an NCCL are located in enamel [143]. The mechanism responsible for successful bonding on enamel is based on the micro-mechanical interlocking of the adhesive's resin tags within the micro-sized porosities in the structure of enamel, created by phosphoric acid [18]. Although designed to be used on enamel in both EAR and SE mode, it seems that the enamel demineralization potential of universal adhesives is not sufficient to achieve optimal adhesion without an additional etching step. This conclusion was derived from a systematic review that included in vitro studies investigating the bonding performance

of universal adhesives [144] and can be extrapolated to clinical settings since the greater loss of retention was observed when universal adhesives were used in SE mode.

The common characteristic of the application of universal adhesives in SE and SEE mode is that the dentin surface is left unetched. This is of particular importance for the bonding mechanism of universal adhesives to dentin, due to the specific chemistry of this generation of adhesives. The incorporation of functional monomers. the most widely discussed one being 10methacryloyloxydecyl dihydrogen phosphate (10-MDP), allows chemical interaction with dental tissues [145]. Briefly, 10-MDP is able to ionically interact with hydroxyapatite within dentin and form hydrolytically stable MDP-Ca salts. When using universal adhesives in SE mode, the Ca salts are embedded in the hybrid layer, unlike with the EAR protocol where they are rinsed off. This way the formed MDP-Ca salts can preserve the integrity of hybrid layers and contribute to the longevity of the resin-based restorations. The described process is known as nanolayering [146] and might be responsible for the good clinical performance of adhesives containing 10-MDP [63, 67, 108, 109, 110, 116, 122]. However, it should be underlined that SEE is a technique-sensitive clinical procedure and that, in order to benefit from nanolayering, the etching step should be limited to enamel only. If accidentally applied on dentin and left for longer than 15 s, it can cause over-etching with consequent problems associated with incomplete resin infiltration and POS [29, 147]. On the other hand, if applied insufficiently on the enamel surface (i.e. short etching time or incomplete enamel coverage with etching agent), inferior adhesion can occur [148]. Since all RCTs included in this review were conducted in university settings by well-trained and calibrated operators, it can be presumed that the SEE protocol was performed precisely, thus combining the beneficial effect of applying universal adhesives on etched enamel and unetched dentin.

POS is a clinical parameter widely investigated in clinical trials and discussed among dentists since it can lead to patients' discomfort and dissatisfaction [137]. The studies included in this systematic review reported no differences in terms of POS occurrence when comparing SE to SEE approach. Furthermore, since during data extraction process events were observed in only one study [109], the meta-analysis was not performed. Interestingly, a meta-analysis previously conducted by this research group found a higher risk for POS occurrence in EAR groups compared to SE and SEE groups when universal adhesives were used for restoring NCCLs with composites [71]. It seems that the POS development after the application of universal adhesives is mainly due to the additional etching step of dentin and subsequent removal of smear layer and opening of dentinal tubules, with the risk of incomplete resin penetration or dentin over-drying (EAR mode) [139]. On the other hand, when dentin is left unetched (SE and adequate SEE technique) universal adhesives rely on creating a hybridized complex that consists of the residual smear layer and partly demineralized dentine

collagen matrix, therefore reducing the risk associated to the EAR strategy that can cause POS [149,150].

A surprising finding of our meta-analyses was that no significant differences were observed in terms of marginal discoloration between SEE and SE groups. Contrary to our findings, an earlier systematic review reported reduced marginal discoloration when self-etch adhesives were used in SEE mode [135]. Some authors suggest that universal adhesives are essentially self-etch systems provided in one bottle, with no major improvements in overcoming the challenges associated with previous generations of adhesive systems [149]. Considering this, it was expected to detect more marginal discoloration when universal adhesives were used in SE mode because of the reduced etching capacity to enamel when acid etching step is left out and possible debunking of margins with consequent accumulation of pigments from food sources and bacterial biofilm [151]. However, perhaps the previously explained mechanism of chemical binding of functional monomers to the hydroxyapatite in enamel, (and differences in the composition) could have contributed to a lower level of marginal discoloration when universal adhesive systems were used as compared to the purely self-etch systems. Further, in clinical settings, it would be expected that marginal discoloration or adaptation issues precede loss of retention. However, they cannot be evaluated in cases where there was retention loss at the follow-up. Hence, we can hypothesize that marginal discoloration might have occurred during the 6-months or 1-year follow-up intervals, but was underestimated at the controls in cases where loss of retention already occurred. Additionally, the analyzed follow-up periods can be considered as short- and middle- term, and it is well known that it can take more than five years of clinical service to observe potential differences between the treatment groups [143, 152].

The present systematic review and meta-analysis included the GRADE assessments, often omitted in the published/available literature. The advantage of the inclusion of a GRADE system in a systematic review is that it allows judgment about the quality of evidence for an effect estimate in a systematic and transparent way. GRADE assessments have direct implications for both practice and research, with certainty of evidence assessments highlighting where the evidence base is adequate or where either more or better research is needed. In the GRADE system, RCTs start as high quality, and factors that can lower the quality of evidence are: risk of bias, inconsistency, indirectness, imprecision and publication bias. The most common reason for downgrading the quality of evidence in this systematic review was due to the study design (most of the data included in the meta-analysis came from the studies rated as "unclear" risk of bias, Tables 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9), inconsistency (95% confidence intervals did not overlap, Tables 1, 2, 4, 6, 9, 7) and imprecision (wide 95% confidence intervals with few events, Tables 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9). Finally, GRADE is also a transparent process of moving from evidence to recommendations which should answer the initial clinical

question. Considering this, we suggest that, when restoring NCCLs, clinicians might consider applying universal adhesives in SEE mode since it could lead to more predictable retention compared to SE approach up to 2 years of follow-up.

One of the potential limitations of this review is that the meta-analyses were performed for short- (6 months) and medium-term (up to 3 years) follow-up periods. This was due to the fact that only one RCT [109] with a follow-up period of five years was found in the literature. Future RCTs should be performed with follow-ups longer than five years in order to detect possible differences in clinical behavior of composite restorations placed in NCCLs using universal adhesives in various application modes.

After having analyzed the etching mode of universal adhesive, we decided to focus our research work on the evaporation mode and on trying to reproduce the pulp flow of a vital tooth with the simulated pulpal pressure. We didn't find specific information in the literature so we conducted an in vitro sperimental study and we assess this null hypothesis "different type of bonding evaporation don't affect the bond strength and the enzymatic activity of a universal adhesive to dentin; and secondary the presence of pulpal pressure doesn't affect the bond strength and the enzymatic activity of an universal adhesive to dentin."

The main purpose of this study was to evaluate the effect of different evaporation technique of a ethanol-based universal adhesive in terms of bond strength and endogenous enzymatic activity to dentin in presence or not of intrapulpal pressure. The first null hypothesis was in part rejected because different evaporation mode affect the bond strength but not the enzymatic activity. Instead the presence of pulpal pressure affects both the bond strength and the enzymatic activity, therefore the second null hypothesis was completely rejected.

The universal adhesive that we use in this study attributed his quick action to his particular composition: lower HEMA content, higher purity of the functional monomer 10-MDP and the new acrylamide monomer technology, which was claimed to improve the adhesive's infiltration properties, together with the ethanol-based primer. (71, 72) The ethanol-based primer seems to prevent the long- term degradation of resin-dentin bonds: after rinsing the acid-etched cavity preparation with water, the water is replaced with an ethanol-based primer, the purpouse is to replace all water in interfibrillar spaces and in the tops of the dentinal tubules, with ethanol. (19)

During the adhesive procedures one of the main objectives is the control of the humidity to prevent the accumulation of water and solvent residues and decrease the permeability of the hybrid layer, it is fundamental to reduce the water sorption to avoid the hydrolytic degradation of the adhesive-dentin interface. (5) This permeability is the result of a non-correct evaporation of the adhesive solvent, that is difficult to reach moreover in one-step adhesive, where there is a high concertation of solvent to reduce hydrophilic and hydrophobic monomers. (6,7).

The difference between the air-drying device and the suction device is basically the direction of the air flow (8). By using the air syringe the air is pushed on the tooth with a positive pressure, meanwhile by suction the pressure is negative. The air causes a collapse of the collagen fibers which precludes an optimal infiltration of the adhesive, even if this problem seems of secondary importance compared to a poor evaporation of the adhesive (9,10). The suction limits the collapse of the fibers, but does not seem to exercise sufficient negative pressure to remove the accumulations of water and solvents, contained into the adhesive system. This could explain the lower adhesion values of the suction-only versus air-use groups demonstrated in our study, although this difference isn't statistically significant, this agrees with the results obtained in the study by Magne et al. (8) where there were no statistically significant differences between the different evaporation methodologies.

The indications about the evaporation times are five seconds and ten seconds for polymerization. This quick adhesive ,unlike other adhesives on the market, provides for the application and continuation in the restoration phases without waiting times. This is possible thanks to the presence of a new hydrophilic acrylamide monomer technology, a lower content of HEMA and to the presence of the 10- MDP monomer. These components permit the Bond Quick adhesive to promises a very fast adhesion.

The data obtained in the microtensile bond strength test for groups in the presence of simulated pulpal pressure could be explained precisely by the composition and chemical characteristics of this adhesive. The new monomer contained in Bond Quick is very hydrophilic, more than other monomers already widely used such as, for example, HEMA. This characteristic allows it to penetrate and perform very well in moist dentin conditions and in the presence of water. Moreover, the results of the microtensile bond strength test at T0 show that the groups in the presence of pulp pressure have immediate adhesion values higher than the groups in the absence of pulp pressure, and after 6 months SE values remains higher than TE, and in particular SE without PP seems to remain unchanged.

About the greater enzymatic activity, this leads us to think of a greater degradation over time of the adhesive bond of the groups with pulp pressure simulation.

Furthermore, this study demonstrated increased enzymatic activity associated with TE groups. This result agrees with what has been reported by other studies in the literature such as Mazzoni et al (11,12) and Perdigao et al(13). The etchant has a demineralizing action on the dentin up to a depth of 5 μ m, the adhesive, however, cannot reach this depth, leaving uncovered the network of collagen fibers exposed by the action of the acid (14). The collagen fibers not protected by the adhesive are thus subject to the action of hydrolysis and metalloproteinases. It is known that metalloproteinases

are proteolytic enzymes constituents of tissues such as dentin and usually present in inactive form in mineralized dentin. Their activation can be due to already activated enzymes or chemical agents such as etchant and adhesives (12,15). It is also known that a greater enzymatic activation is responsible over time for a greater degradation of the hybrid layer and consequently for a shorter duration of the adhesive bond(16). Therefore, it can be hypothesized that the TE groups will have a shorter duration of the adhesive bond strength over time than the SE groups due to degradation of the hybrid layer by the metallo-proteinases.

We continue our research with a different in vitro study, by focusing our work on a different adhesive surface: bonding performances on radicular cement. This in vitro study aimed to investigate the bonding performance and sealing ability of different resin cements. According to the results obtained, the first working hypothesis was accepted since PBS values and interfacial NL expression were influenced by the choice of resin cement.

This study used three different bonding strategies for the cementation of FRC posts into root canals. Specifically, LUX and MUL are referred to as multi-step resin cements (E&R and SE respectively), as the luting procedures require more than one clinical step, whereas RXU, MAX and CAL rely on a self-adhesive approach, and no pre-treatment of dentin is necessary. Additionally, the new RXU system does not require the pretreatment of the post with silane, further simplifying the clinical cementation procedure. In order to optimize the bond strength between fiber post and resin cement, the surface of posts was pretreated differently among the groups, following the manufacturers' instructions for the specific cement used during luting procedures. However, since a recent systematic review reported that the use of silane alone cannot enhance FRC posts' resistance to dislodgment, we fiber post pretreatment was not considered as an additional variable (19).

Previous study showed that bonding strategy can influence the hybrid layer appearance, and the integrity of the resin-based restorations. Dentin etching with phosphoric acid performed in the E&R approach removes the smear layer, opens the dentinal tubules and reveals the intertubular dentin collagen network, favoring the penetration of the resin to create longer and thicker resin tags and a more uniform hybrid layer than those achieved with the SE approach (2). On the other hand, a superficial dentin demineralization was observed with self-adhesive resin cements with very thin and short resin tags (10). Although it would seem logical to assume that multi-step resin cement systems would exhibit a more durable bond strength (BS) to root canal dentin compared to the simplified self-adhesive resin cements, the results of the present study emphasize that simplified systems can perform equally well or even better, and that the bond strength is correlated to the cement type. This observation is in agreement with a recent systematic review (27).

The formation of a reliable and stable bond is in part related to the resin cement polymerization process (6). Dual-cure resin cements contain a combination of initiation systems present in both lightcure and self-cure systems, and subsequently photoactivation of dual-cure cement activates photoinitiators and starts polymerization of the material. A proper polymerization reaction of the material translates into better physical and chemical properties (6), increased stability and integrity at the adhesive interface (29), reduced water sorption/solubility phenomena and extended durability of the restoration (24). In the present study, light-curing did not influence BS of the adhesively luted posts but did impact the marginal infiltration of some resin cements tested. Consequently, the second working hypothesis had to be only partially accepted. This may be explained by the composition of the resin cements used in this study. As the simplified self-adhesive dual-cure cements are expected to achieve surface demineralization of enamel and dentin, they contain acidic monomers (10). Albeit their important role in the interaction with the cementation substrates, these monomers could lead to the inactivation of the conventional organic polymerization initiators, such as benzoyl peroxide/aromatic tertiary amines system, impairing both the chemical and light polymerization process (20, 28). This particular traditional initiator is present in the CAL cement, possibly underlying the generally poor performance of this material. On the other hand, MAX introduced an amine-free redox initiator system, while the new RXU contains a novel amphiphilic redox initiator system (ARI system). The new self-adhesive resin cement showed comparable or even superior BS both in LC and SC when compared to the other cements tested. According to the claims of RXU manufacturer, the ARI system, alongside with functional monomers, enables the cement to diffuse into the smear layer, achieving a strong bond to dentin. Furthermore, the ARI system and functional monomers in the new self-adhesive cement possibly led to the formation of highly crosslinked 3D polymer network which is considered to be responsible for the long-term stability of the resin-dentin interface.

The establishment of a fine equilibrium between the different components of the cements, with an efficient polymerization initiation and propagation, would be expected to resolve the issue of differences in the quality of polymerization in different root regions. This is in accordance with the present study, as well as previously published research (22) since the root region did not influence BS and NL expression, requiring the rejection of the third working hypothesis.

One year aging in artificial saliva influenced the bonding performances of the tested materials, which led to the acceptance also of the fourth working hypothesis as the BS values and NL expression significantly increased after artificial storage. The exposure of the root slices to artificial saliva for 12 months may have enabled water molecules to enter the resin cement and fiber posts by diffusion (7, 32). Water diffusion into the material could influenced its hygroscopic expansion. The volumetric expansion of resin cement and fiber posts could increase the frictional resistance between the material

and canal walls, resulting in its greater resistance towards the axial forces applied during push-out test (11). Interestingly, higher BS values were observed for the new self-adhesive RXU cement at T_{12} compared to the other tested cement systems. Self-adhesive resin cements show different water sorption and solubility characteristics (17). Acidic monomers with hydrophilic characteristics can absorb more water than conventional composites or multi-step resin cements, which would lead to their higher net expansion and more intimate contact to root canal walls (23).

Even though a recent systematic review found considerable variations in the design of the push-out test among studies (5), it is considered to be more appropriate and reliable for FRC post testing than microtensile BS tests. Therefore, evaluation of the adhesively luted FRC posts by means of push-out BS tests is irreplaceable in the early screening of dental materials' properties. Mechanical tests and spectroscopy studies should be performed to better define the mechanical and curing characteristics of the recently introduced self-adhesive universal resin cement, followed by randomized clinical trials.

Finally regarding the adhesion of metallic brackets to enamel' tooth in this study, the SBS of the self-etching primers were lower than that of the convectional ones, but the divergences with the control group were not statistically significant. Trasbond XT was used as control group because it is one of the standard cements in orthodontics (185,189-191). In this context, the highest SBS was yielded by RXU E&R group followed by TXT group so the first null hypothesis that the use of phosphoric acid at 37% concentration prior to luting improved the bond strength had to be accepted. Nevertheless, no significant differences were founded between TXT and RXU in SE mode so it seemed that brackets could be bonded using RelyX Universal as universal resin cement plus Scotchbond Universal Plus Adhesive in self-etch mode. The findings indicated that the shear bond strength of RXU SE was 5.5 ± 3 MPa; successful clinical bonding can be achieved with a SBS of 5-10 MPa. According to Reynolds (166) the minimum SBS for the clinical use of brackets should lay between 5.9 and 7.8 MPa, it meant that the RXU SE mean value was lower than the minimum required. However, the standard deviation of this group was notably high (3 MPa), so the value was sometimes higher than the threshold and sometimes lower. This procedure would eliminate the step of acid etching of the enamel surface and consequently reduce the clinical steps, the risk of enamel decalcification around the brackets and the operator sensibility.

In our study, application of RelyX Universal in self-adhesive mode yielded the lowest SBS value even if no significant difference was observed from RXU SE group. Bracket bonding with this multi-mode composite resin was faster than the other three groups due to the single-step application and had fewer procedural errors but RXU had low viscosity and was highly flowable so, during the

bonding procedures, care must be taken for the bracket not to slip. Also, removal of excess resin was more difficult compared with TXT.

At the end of the orthodontic treatment, brackets must be removed. The ARI method allowed to obtain information about the quality of adhesion between the adhesive and the tooth surface as well as between the adhesive and the bracket base. Penido et al. (192) illustrated that bonding failures more often occurred at the adhesive bracket interface. This type of fracture was preferable because any fracture at the adhesive enamel interface was able to damage the enamel surface. If a greater amount of adhesive was left on the tooth surface, a more secure debonding can be achieved (192). Brauchli et al. (193) demonstrated that higher SBS also resulted in higher ARI scores. This correlation was also shown in our study. There were more cement remnants in the RXU E&R group compared to the self-adhesive RXU technique (P<0.05), while differences were not noted between other groups (P>0.05). The RXU E&R group had the highest SBS value as well as the highest ARI score.

We also found that there was not a statistically significant interaction between cementation techniques and removal techniques. This means that the mechanical removing of the adhesive remnant and polishing of the tooth's surface was the main responsible for the enamel damage. Many studies (194-197) have demonstrated the presence of adhesive remnant incorporate into the enamel after bracket detachment and enamel surface cleaning. Alessandri Bonetti et al. (198) evidenced that low-speed 12-bladed tungsten carbide bur followed by finishing Sof-Lex discs did not restore the enamel surface to its original condition, even though there was no clinically relevant damage to the tooth. Contrary, Janiszewska-Olszowska et al. (171) conducted a systematic review of the literature and concluded that cleaning procedures caused an irreversible damage to the tooth surface. Recently, Pinzan-Vercelino et al. (199) have demonstrated that both Sof-Lex discs and Spiral Wheel polishing system used after 12-bladed tungsten carbide bur did not appear to significantly damage the enamel surface. Even though there was a lack of consensus about the safest and the least aggressive technique to remove residual adhesive, the use of a tungsten carbide multi-laminated bur was supported by several authors (193,194,200,201). Janiszewska-Olszowska et al. (171) demonstrated that highrotation tungsten carbide drills were the most commonly use because they were more effective and require shorter working time as compared to other methods. Zarrinia et al. (202) suggested the use of a multi-bladed tungsten carbide bur followed by Sof-Lex discs to produce a smoother enamel surface. Ozer et al. (193) recommend the use of Sof-Lex discs since, when used alone, provided more even enamel surfaces, and restored the enamel the closest to the original enamel surface. In our study, both contouring and polishing coarse discs rotating on low-speed contra angle handpiece and tungsten carbide multi-laminated high-rotation drill successfully cleaned the tooth surface, but also removed a portion of the enamel, particularly SL (p<0.05). Therefore, the second null hypothesis that the

methods of cement removal does not influence the remnants index was rejected. Recently, D'Amario et al. (180) suggested the use of magnification systems during adhesive removal procedures to save as much enamel tissue as possible. This aspect will be the object of further studies.

The tooth color might be altered by orthodontic therapy, affecting the dental aesthetic. Eliades et al. (204) observed that the color of enamel was affected by debonding and subsequent cleaning procedures. According to Karamouzos et al. (205) the optical characteristics of enamel changed during orthodontic treatment, with the color change being affected by several factors. External coloring occurred because of superficial absorption of food pigments, while internal coloring developed during aging (i.e., water sorption and hydrolytic deteriorations). Boncuk et al. (206) reported that both the orthodontic adhesive systems and the burs used to remove their residuals, in particularly the etch-and-rinse/tungsten carbide bur, were responsible for discolorations. Conversely, Gorucu-Coskuner et al. (207) and Al Maaitah et al. (208) observed that tooth color changes were detected after orthodontic treatment, but they were independent from the etching nor the adhesive removal techniques. Also, Pinzan-Vercelino et al. (209) confirmed that the multibracket appliance resulted in enamel color changes but regardless of the different polishing procedures. Nevertheless, several of these studies (205, 207, 208) reported that these color changes were significative in the period just after removal of fixed appliance, but they were not consistently clinically discernible. In the present study, the lack of saliva, food coloring, and the inability to simulate the mechanic abrasion caused by brushing were the limitations of this methodology. Moreover, observation of the teeth over time should be made to evaluate the changes in color over a longer period of time. However, in our findings the changes in the tooth color were not affected significantly neither by the cementation mode with the materials tested, independent of the separate etching step, nor by the different cement removal techniques (p>0.05). So, the third null hypothesis that the different technique of cementation and debonding of brackets did not influence tooth color changes was accepted.

Conclusions:

- Based on clinical data available so far, we could recommend with a moderate certainty of evidence that the application of universal adhesives in the EAR mode could lead to better medium-term retention of composite restorations of NCCLs compared to the SE application strategy, while the use of the SE adhesives could lead to less immediate POS and therefore better short-term patient satisfaction. The SEE approach was comparable with the EAR approach in terms of retention (moderate level of evidence at 6 and 18/24 months) and POS (moderate level of evidence).
- Further, applying universal adhesives in SEE mode leads to more predictable retention at 6- and 18/24month of follow-up when compared to self-etch mode (very low and low certainty of evidence, respectively). Our meta-analyses suggest that the choice of adhesive strategy did not influence marginal discoloration and marginal adaptation (very low certainty of the evidence) up to 2 years of follow-up.
- The use of air with a disposable syringe to evaporate the adhesive, and the self-etch mode seem to be more reliable choices when an ethanol-based universal adhesive is used for bonding procedures.
- Aging and the choice of material, influenced the bond-strength between adhesively luted fiber posts and radicular dentin. Polymerization protocol and root region had no effect on posts' retention in root canal.
- Etch-and-rinse cementation systems (separate step of 37% phosphoric acid etching) obtained higher shear bond strength of orthodontic brackets to enamel. However, also self-etching cementation strategy yielded shear bond forces that can be successfully used for bonding orthodontic brackets.
- Cleaning of the remaining cement from the enamel with tungsten-carbide burs seems to be as efficient and less aggressive in terms of healthy tooth tissue preservation compared to the Sof-Lex technique.
- The cementation of orthodontic brackets, as well as their removal and polishing procedures did not influence the change in tooth color at baseline.

References:

- 1) Buonocore MG. A simple method of increasing the adhesion of acrylic filling materials to enamel surfaces. J Dent Res. 1955;34: 849-853.
- Brännström M, Nordenvall KJ. The effect of acid etching on enamel, dentin, and the inner surface of the resin restoration: a scanning electron microscopic investigation. J Dent Res. 1977;56:917-923.
- Nakabayashi N, Kojima K, Masuhara E. The promotion of adhesion by the infiltration of monomers into tooth substrates. J Biomed Mater Res. 1982;16:265-273.
- Gwinnett AJ. Quantitative contribution of resin infiltration/hybridization to dentin bonding. Am J Dent. 1993;6:7-9.
- 5) Chappell RP, Cobb CM, Spencer P, Eick JD. Dentinal tubule anastomosis: a potential factor in adhesive bonding? J Prosthet Dent. 1994; 72:183-188.
- 6) Van Meerbeek B, Yoshihara K, Van Landuyt K, Yoshida Y, Peumans M. From Buonocore's Pioneering Acid-Etch Technique to Self-Adhering Restoratives. A Status Perspective of Rapidly Advancing Dental Adhesive Technology. J Adhes Dent. 2020;22(1):7-34. doi:10.3290/j.jad.a43994
- Nagarkar S, Theis-Mahon N, Perdigão J. Universal dental adhesives: Current status, laboratory testing, and clinical performance. J Biomed Mater Res B Appl Biomater. 2019;107(6):2121-2131. doi:10.1002/jbm.b.34305
- Luque-Martinez IV, Perdigão J, Muñoz MA, Sezinando A, Reis A, Loguercio AD. Effects of solvent evaporation time on immediate adhesive properties of universal adhesives to dentin. Dent Mater Off Publ Acad Dent Mater. 2014;30(10):1126-1135.
- Ciucchi B, Bouillaguet S, Holz J, Pashley D. Dentinal fluid dynamics in human teeth, in vivo. Journal of Endodontics 1995;21:191–4.
- 10) Ferreira-Barbosa I., Araújo-Pierote J. J., Rodrigues de Menezes L., Trazzi-Prieto L., Frazão-Câmara J. V., Sgarbosa de Araújo-Matuda L., Marchi G. M., Maffei Sartini-Paulillo L.A., Pimenta de Araujo C.T., Effect of alternative solvent evaporation techniques on mechanical properties of primer–adhesive mixtures. Acta Odontol Latinoam. 2020 Sep 1;33(2):135-142.
- Loguercio AD, Loeblein F, Cherobin T, Ogliari F, Piva E, Reis A. Effect of solvent removal on adhesive properties of simplified etch-and-rinse systems and on bond strengths to dry and wet dentin. J Adhes Dent. 2009;11:51-55.
- 12) Swift EJ, Perdigão J, Heymann HO. Bonding to enamel and dentin: a brief history and state of the art, 1995. Quintessence Int 1995;26:95–110.

- 13) Sofan E, Sofan A, Palaia G, Tenore G, Romeo U, Migliau G. Classification review of dental adhesive systems: from the IV generation to the universal type. Ann Stomatol (Roma). 2017;8(1):1-17. doi:10.11138/ads/2017.8.1.000
- 14) Van Landuyt KL, Snauwaert J, De Munck J, et al. Systematic review of the chemical composition of contemporary dental adhesives. Biomaterials. 2007;28(26):3757-3785. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2007.04.044
- 15) Cuevas-Suárez, C. E., Luiz De Oliveira Da Rosa, W., Rafael, /, Lund, G., Fernandes Da Silva, A., & Piva, E. (2019). Bonding Performance of Universal Adhesives: An Updated Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Adhes Dent, 21(1), 7–26.https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a41975
- 16) Pashley, D. H., Tay, F. R., Breschi, L., Tjäderhane, L., Carvalho, R. M., Carrilho, M., & Tezvergil-Mutluay, A. (2011). State of the art etch-and-rinse adhesives. Dental Materials, 27(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.10.016
- 17) van Meerbeek, B., Yoshihara, K., Yoshida, Y., Mine, A., de Munck, J., & van Landuyt, K. L. (2011). State of the art of self-etch adhesives. Dental Materials, 27(1), 17–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.10.023
- 18) Perdigão, J. (2020). Current perspectives on dental adhesion: (1) Dentin adhesion not there yet. In Japanese Dental Science Review (Vol. 56, Issue 1, pp. 190–207). Elsevier Ltd. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdsr.2020.08.004</u>
- 19) Nakabayashi N, Nakamura M, Yasuda N. Hybrid layer as a dentin-bonding mechanism. J Esthet Dent. 1991;3(4):133-8.
- 20) Albaladejo A, Osorio R, Toledano M, Ferrari M. Hybrid layers of etch-and-rinse versus selfetching adhesive systems. Med Oral Patol Oral Cir Bucal. 2010;15(1):e112-8.
- 21) Tay FR, Pashley DH. Aggressiveness of contemporary self-etching systems. I: Depth of penetration beyond dentin smear layers. Dent Mater. 2001;17(4):296-308.
- 22) Digole VR, Warhadpande MM, Dua P, Dakshindas D. Comparative evaluation of clinical performance of two self-etch adhesive systems with total-etch adhesive system in noncarious cervical lesions: An in vivo study. J Conserv Dent. 2020;23(2):190-5.
- 23) Bekes K, Boeckler L, Gernhardt CR, Schaller HG. Clinical performance of a self-etching and a total-etch adhesive system - 2-year results. J Oral Rehabil. 2007;34(11):855-61.
- 24) Kurokawa H, Takamizawa T, Rikuta A, Tsubota K, Miyazaki M. Three-year clinical evaluation of posterior composite restorations placed with a single-step self-etch adhesive. J Oral Sci. 2015;57(2):101-8.
- 25) Sano H, Yoshiyama M, Ebisu S, Burrow MF, Takatsu T, Ciucchi B, et al. Comparative SEM and TEM observations of nanoleakage within the hybrid layer. Oper Dent. 1995;20(4):160-7.

- 26) Sano H, Takatsu T, Ciucchi B, Horner JA, Matthews WG, Pashley DH. Nanoleakage: leakage within the hybrid layer. Oper Dent. 1995;20(1):18-25.
- 27) Wang Y, Spencer P. Quantifying adhesive penetration in adhesive/dentin interface using confocal Raman microspectroscopy. J Biomed Mater Res 2002;59:46–55, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jbm.1215.
- 28) Frankenberger R, Pashley DH, Reich SM, Lohbauer U, Petschelt A, Tay FR. Characterisation of resin-dentine interfaces by compressive cyclic loading. Biomaterials 2005;26:2043–52, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biomaterials.2004.07.003.
- 29) Breschi, L., Maravic, T., Cunha, S. R., Comba, A., Cadenaro, M., Tjäderhane, L., Pashley, D. H., Tay, F. R., & Mazzoni, A. (2018). Dentin bonding systems: From dentin collagen structure to bond preservation and clinical applications. In Dental Materials (Vol. 34, Issue 1, pp. 78–96). Elsevier Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2017.11.005</u>
- 30) Breschi L, Prati C, Gobbi P, Pashley D, Mazzotti G, Teti G, et al. Immunohistochemical analysis of collagen fibrils within the hybrid layer: a FEISEM study. Oper Dent 2004;29:538–46.
- 31) Spencer P, Wang Y, Walker MP, Wieliczka DM, Swafford JR. Interfacial chemistry of the dentin/adhesive bond. J Dent Res 2000;79:1458–63, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/00220345000790070501.
- 32) Breschi L, Perdigão J, Gobbi P, Mazzotti G, Falconi M, Lopes M. Immunocytochemical identification of type I collagen in acid-etched dentin. J Biomed Mater Res A 2003;66:764–9, http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/jbm.a.10073.
- 33) Maravic, T., Mazzoni, A., Comba, A., Scotti, N., Checchi, V., & Breschi, L. (2017). How Stable is Dentin As a Substrate for Bonding? In Current Oral Health Reports (Vol. 4, Issue 3, pp. 248–257). Springer Science and Business Media B.V. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40496-017-0149-8</u>
- 34) Nakabayashi N, Saimi Y. Bonding to intact dentin. J Dent Res 1996;75:1706–15, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/00220345960750091401.
- 35) Van Landuyt K, Kanumilli P, De Munck J, Peumans M, Lambrechts P, Van Meerbeek B. Bond strength of a mild self-etch adhesive with and without prior acid-etching. J Dent 2006;34:77–85, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2005.04.001.
- 36) Cardoso M, De Almeida Neves A, Mine A, Coutinho E, Van Landuyt K, De Munck J, et al. Current aspects on bonding effectiveness and stability in adhesive dentistry. Aust Dent J 2011;56:31–44,http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1834-7819.2011.01294.x.
- 37) Hanabusa M, Mine A, Kuboki T, Momoi Y, Van Ende A, Van Meerbeek B, et al. Bonding effectiveness of a new "multi-mode" adhesive to enamel and dentine. J Dent 2012;40:475–84, http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2012.02.012.
- 38) Toledano M, Osorio R, de Leonardi G, Rosales-Leal JI, Ceballos L, Cabrerizo-Vilchez MA. Influence of self-etching primer on the resin adhesion to enamel and dentin. Am J Dent 2001;14:205–10.
- 39) Yoshida Y, Van Meerbeek B, Nakayama Y, Snauwaert J, Hellemans L, Lambrechts P, et al. Evidence of chemical bonding at biomaterial-hard tissue interfaces. J Dent Res 2000;79:709–14, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/00220345000790020301.
- 40) Inoue S, Koshiro K, Yoshida Y, De Munck J, Nagakane K, Suzuki K, et al. Hydrolytic stability of self-etch adhesives bonded to dentin. J Dent Res 2005;84:1160–4, http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/154405910508401213.
- 41) Mobarak, E. H. (2011). Effect of chlorhexidine pretreatment on bond strength durability of caries-affected dentin over 2-year aging in artificial saliva and under simulated intrapulpal pressure. Operative Dentistry, 36(6), 649–660. <u>https://doi.org/10.2341/11-018-L</u>
- 42) Nishitani Y, Yoshiyama M, Wadgaonkar B, Breschi L, Mannello F, Mazzoni A, Carvalho RM, Tjaderhane L, Tay FR & Pashley DH (2006) Activation of gelatinolytic/ collagenolytic activity in dentin by self-etching adhesives European Journal of Oral Sciences 114(2) 160-166.
- 43) Perdigão J, Reis A, Loguercio AD. Dentin adhesion and MMPs: a comprehensive review. J Esthet Restor Dent Off Publ Am Acad Esthet Dent Al. 2013;25(4):219-241. doi:10.1111/jerd.12016
- 44) Sulkala M, Tervahartiala T, Sorsa T, Larmas M, Salo T & Tjaderhane L (2007) Matrix metalloproteinase-8 (MMP-8) is the major collagenase in human dentin Archives of Oral Biology 52(2) 121-127.
- 45) Bourd-Boittin K, Fridman R, Fanchon S, Septier D, Goldberg M & Menashi S (2005) Matrix metalloproteinase inhibition impairs the processing, formation and mineralization of dental tissues during mouse molar development Experimental Cell Research 304(2) 493-505.
- 46) Mazzoni A, Mannello F, Tay FR, Tonti GA, Papa S, Mazzotti G, Di Lenarda R, Pashley DH & Breschi L (2007) Zymographic analysis and characterization of MMP-2 and -9 forms in human sound dentin Journal of Dental Research 86(5) 436-440.
- 47) Sulkala M, Larmas M, Sorsa T, Salo T & Tjaderhane L (2002) The localization of matrix metalloproteinase-20 (MMP-20, enamelysin) in mature human teeth Journal of Dental Research 81(9) 603-607.

- 48) Tjaderhane L, Larjava H, Sorsa T, Uitto VJ, Larmas M & Salo T (1998) The activation and function of host matrix metalloproteinases in dentin matrix breakdown in caries lesions Journal of Dental Research 77(8) 1622-1629.
- 49) Boukpessi T, Menashi S, Camoin L, Tencate JM, Gold- berg M & Chaussain-Miller C (2008) The effect of stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) on non-collagenous extracellular matrix proteins of demineralized dentin and the adhesive properties of restorative resins Biomaterials 29(33) 4367-4373.
- 50) Davis GE (1991) Identification of an abundant latent 94- kDa gelatin-degrading metalloprotease in human saliva which is activated by acid exposure: implications for a role in digestion of collagenous proteins Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics 286(2) 551-554.
- 51) Gunja-Smith Z & Woessner JF Jr (1993) Activation of cartilage stromelysin-1 at acid pH and its relation to enzyme pH optimum and osteoarthritis Agents Actions 40(3–4) 228-231.
- 52) Visse R, Nagase H. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, function, and biochemistry. Circ Res. 2003;92(8):827-839. doi:10.1161/01.RES.0000070112.80711.3D
- 53) Mazzoni, A., Tjäderhane, L., Checchi, V., di Lenarda, R., Salo, T., Tay, F. R., Pashley, D. H., & Breschi, L. (2015). Role of dentin MMPs in caries progression and bond stability. In Journal of Dental Research (Vol. 94, Issue 2, pp. 241–251). SAGE Publications Inc. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034514562833
- 54) Hannas, A. R., Pereira, J. C., Granjeiro, J. M., & Tjäderhane, L. (2007). The role of matrix metalloproteinases in the oral environment. In Acta Odontologica Scandinavica (Vol. 65, Issue 1, pp. 1–13). <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00016350600963640</u>
- 55) Tjäderhane, L., Nascimento, F. D., Breschi, L., Mazzoni, A., Tersariol, I. L. S., Geraldeli, S., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Carrilho, M. R., Carvalho, R. M., Tay, F. R., & Pashley, D. H. (2013). Optimizing dentin bond durability: Control of collagen degradation by matrix metalloproteinases and cysteine cathepsins. Dental Materials, 29(1), 116–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2012.08.004
- 56) Palosaari, H., Pennington, C. J., Larmas, M., Edwards, D. R., Tjäderhane, L., & Salo, T. (n.d.). Expression profile of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and tissue inhibitors of MMPs in mature human odontoblasts and pulp tissue.
- 57) Ishiguro, N., Ito, T., Kurokouchi, K., Iwahori, Y., Nagaya, I., Hasegawa, Y., & Iwatal, H. (n.d.). mRNA expression of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinase in interface tissue around implants in loosening total hip arthroplasty.

- 58) Tjäderhane L, Palosaari H, Wahlgren J, Larmas M, Sorsa T, Salo T. 2001. Human odontoblast culture method: the expression of collagen and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). Adv Dent Res. 15:55–58.
- 59) Charadram N, Farahani RM, Harty D, Rathsam C, Swain MV, Hunter N. 2012. Regulation of reactionary dentin formation by odontoblasts in response to polymicrobial invasion of dentin matrix. Bone. 50(1):265–275.
- 60) Sulkala M, Wahlgren J, Larmas M, Sorsa T, Teronen O, Salo T, Tjäderhane L. 2001. The effects of MMP inhibitors on human salivary MMP activity and caries progression in rats. J Dent Res. 80(6):1545–1549.
- 61) Lawson N, Robles A, Fu C, Lin C, Sawlani K, Burgess J, et al. Two-year clinical trial of a universal adhesive in total-etch and self-etch mode in non-carious cervical lesions. J Dent. 2015;43:1229-34.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2015.07.009</u>
- 62) Perdigao J, Ceballos L, Giraldez I, Baracco B, Fuentes M, Perdigao J, et al. Effect of a hydrophobic bonding resin on the 36-month performance of a universal adhesive-a randomized clinical trial. Clin Oral Investig. 2020;24:765-76. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-019-02940-x
- 63) Haak R, Schmidt P, Park K, Hafer M, Krause F, Ziebolz D, et al. OCT for early quality evaluation of tooth-composite bond in clinical trials. J Dent. 2018;76:46-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2018.06.007
- 64) Feitosa VP, Sauro S, Zenobi W, et al. Degradation of Adhesive-Dentin Interfaces Created Using Different Bonding Strategies after Five-year Simulated Pulpal Pressure. J Adhes Dent. 2019;21(3):199-207. doi:10.3290/j.jad.a42510
- 65) Pegoraro TA, da Silva NR, Carvalho RM. Cements for use in esthetic dentistry. Dent Clin North Am. 2007;51(2):453-71, x.
- 66) Cruz J, Silva A, Eira R, Coito C, Lopes M, Cavalheiro A, et al. 6-month clinical performance of a universal adhesive on non-carious cervical lesions: self-etch and etch-and-rinse techniques. Revista portuguesa de estomatologia medicina dentaria e cirurgia maxilofacial. 2020;61:97-105.https://doi.org/10.24873/j.rpemd.2020.11.713
- 67) de Albuquerque E, Warol F, Calazans F, Poubel L, Marins S, Matos T, et al. A New Dualcure Universal Simplified Adhesive: 18-month Randomized Multicenter Clinical Trial. Oper Dent. 2020;45:E255-E70.https://doi.org/10.2341/19-144-C
- 68) Oz FD, Kutuk ZB, Ozturk C, Soleimani R, Gurgan S. An 18-month clinical evaluation of three different universal adhesives used with a universal flowable composite resin in the

restoration of non-carious cervical lesions. Clin Oral Investig. 2019;23:1443-52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-018-2571-2

- 69) Akarsu S, Karademir S, Ertas E, Atasoy S, Akarsu S, Karademir SA, et al. The effect of diode laser application on restoration of non carious cervical lesion: Clinical follow up. Niger J Clin Pract. 2020;23:165-71. PubMed PMID: 32031090
- 70) Islatince Özkubat G, Yaman BC, Tepe H, Irmak Ö. Clinical performance of non-carious cervical lesions restored with a universal adhesive assessed according to the FDI criteria. Cumhuriyet Dental Journal. 2018;21:357-70.https://doi.org/10.7126/cumudj.467923
- 71) Josic, U., Maravic, T., Mazzitelli, C., Radovic, I., Jacimovic, J., del Bianco, F., Florenzano, F., Breschi, L., & Mazzoni, A. (2021). Is clinical behavior of composite restorations placed in non-carious cervical lesions influenced by the application mode of universal adhesives? A systematic review and meta-analysis. In Dental Materials (Vol. 37, Issue 11, pp. e503–e521). Elsevier Inc. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2021.08.017</u>
- 72) Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ 2021;372:n71. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.n71.
- 73) Rethlefsen ML, Kirtley S, Waffenschmidt S, Ayala AP, Moher D, Page MJ, et al. PRISMA-S: an extension to the PRISMA Statement for Reporting Literature Searches in Systematic Reviews. Syst Rev 2021;10:39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-020-01542-z</u>.
- 74) McGowan J, Sampson M, Salzwedel DM, Cogo E, Foerster V, Lefebvre C. PRESS Peer Review of Electronic Search Strategies: 2015 Guideline Statement. J Clin Epidemiol 2016;75:40–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2016.01.021</u>.
- 75) Josic U, Sebold M, Lins RBE, Savovic J, Mazzitelli C, Maravic T, et al. Does immediate dentin sealing influence postoperative sensitivity in teeth restored with indirect restorations? A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Esthet Restor Dent 2021. https://doi.org/10.1111/jerd.12841.
- 76) Ouzzani M, Hammady H, Fedorowicz Z, Elmagarmid A. Rayyan-a web and mobile app for systematic reviews. Systematic reviews. 2016;5:1-10.https://doi.org/10.1186/s13643-016-0384-4
- 77) Nunes TG, Garcia FC, Osorio R, Carvalho R, Toledano M. Polymerization efficacy of simplified adhesive systems studied by NMR and MRI techniques. Dent Mater 2006;22:963–72.
- 78) Elliott JE, Bowman CN. Effects of solvent quality during polymerization on network structure of cross-linked methacrylate copolymers. J Phys Chem B 2002;106: 2843–7.

- 79) Cardoso Pde C, Loguercio AD, Vieira LC, Baratieri LN, Reis A. Effect of prolonged application times on resin-dentin bond strengths. J Adhes Dent 2005;7:143–9.
- 80) Reis AF, Oliveira MT, Giannini M, De Goes MF, Rueggeberg FA. The effect of organic solvents on one-bottle adhesives' bond strength to enamel and dentin. Oper Dent 2003;28:700–6.
- 81) Pashley EL, Zhang Y, Lockwood PE, Rueggeberg FA, Pashley DH. Effects of HEMA on water evaporation from water-HEMA mixtures. Dent Mater 1998;14:6–10.
- 82) Cho BH, Dickens SH. Effects of the acetone content of single solution dentin bonding agents on the adhesive layer thickness and the microtensile bond strength. Dent Mater 2004;20:107– 15.
- 83) Tay FR, Gwinnett AJ, Pang KM, Wei SH. Variability in microleakage observed in a totaletch wet-bonding technique under different handling conditions. J Dent Res 1995;74:1168– 78.
- 84) Yiu CK, Pashley EL, Hiraishi N, King NM, Goracci C, Ferrari M, et al. Solvent and water retention in dental adhesive blends after evaporation. Biomaterials 2005;26:6863–72.
- 85) Marshall GW, Marshall SJ, Kinney JH, Balooch M. The dentin substrate: structure and properties related to bonding. J Dent. 1997;25(6):441-458. doi:10.1016/s0300-5712(96)00065-6
- 86) Feitosa VP, Correr AB, Correr-Sobrinho L, Sinhoreti MA. Effect of a new method to simulate pulpal pressure on bond strength and nanoleakage of dental adhesives to dentin. J Adhes Dent. 2012;14(6):517-524. doi:10.3290/j.jad.a25691
- 87) De Souza G, Braga RR, Cesar PF, Lopes GC. Correlation between clinical performance and degree of conversion of resin cements: a literature review. J Appl Oral Sci. 2015;23(4):358-68.
- 88) Barghi N, McAlister EH. LED and halogen lights: effect of ceramic thickness and shade on curing luting resin. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2003;24(7):497-500, 2, 4 passim; quiz 8.
- 89) Kilinc E, Antonson SA, Hardigan PC, Kesercioglu A. The effect of ceramic restoration shade and thickness on the polymerization of light- and dual-cure resin cements. Oper Dent. 2011;36(6):661-9.
- 90) Savatier L, Curnier F, Krejci I. Micro-CT evaluation of cavities prepared with with different Er:YAG handpieces. Eur J Paediatr Dent. 2014;15(2):95-100.
- 91) Jang Y, Ferracane JL, Pfeifer CS, Park JW, Shin Y, Roh BD. Effect of Insufficient Light Exposure on Polymerization Kinetics of Conventional and Self-adhesive Dual-cure Resin Cements. Oper Dent. 2017;42(1):E1-E9.

- 92) Alpoz AR, Ertugrul F, Cogulu D, Ak AT, Tanoglu M, Kaya E. Effects of light curing method and exposure time on mechanical properties of resin based dental materials. Eur J Dent. 2008;2(1):37-42.
- 93) Tanoue N, Koishi Y, Atsuta M, Matsumura H. Properties of dual-curable luting composites polymerized with single and dual curing modes. J Oral Rehabil. 2003;30(10):1015-21.
- 94) Passos SP, Kimpara ET, Bottino MA, Santos GC, Jr., Rizkalla AS. Effect of ceramic shade on the degree of conversion of a dual-cure resin cement analyzed by FTIR. Dent Mater. 2013;29(3):317-23.
- 95) Soares CJ, Bicalho AA, Verissimo C, Soares P, Tantbirojn D, Versluis A. Delayed Photoactivation Effects on Mechanical Properties of Dual Cured Resin Cements and Finite Element Analysis of Shrinkage Stresses in Teeth Restored With Ceramic Inlays. Oper Dent. 2016;41(5):491- 500.
- 96) Faria-e-Silva AL, Peixoto AC, Borges MG, Menezes MdS, Moraes RRd. Immediate and delayed photoactivation of self-adhesive resin cements and retention of glass-fiber posts. Brazilian oral research. 2014;28(1):1-6.
- 97) Amaral M, Rippe MP, Bergoli CD, Monaco C, Valandro LF. Multi-step adhesive cementation versus one-step adhesive cementation: push-out bond strength between fiber post and root dentin before and after mechanical cycling. Gen Dent. 2011;59(5):e185-91.
- 98) Ferracane JL, Stansbury JW, Burke FJ. Self-adhesive resin cements chemistry, properties and clinical considerations. J Oral Rehabil. 2011;38(4):295-314.
- 99) Monticelli F, Osorio R, Mazzitelli C, Ferrari M, Toledano M. Limited decalcification/diffusion of self-adhesive cements into dentin. J Dent Res. 2008;87(10):974-9.
- 100) Beller EM, Glasziou PP, Altman DG, Hopewell S, Bastian H, Chalmers I, et al. PRISMA for Abstracts: reporting systematic reviews in journal and conference abstracts. PLoS Med. 2013;10:e1001419.https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001419
- Methley AM, Campbell S, Chew-Graham C, McNally R, Cheraghi-Sohi S. PICO,
 PICOS and SPIDER: a comparison study of specificity and sensitivity in three search tools
 for qualitative systematic reviews. BMC Health Serv Res.
 2014;14:579.https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-014-0579-0
- 102) Heintze SD, Ruffieux C, Rousson V. Clinical performance of cervical restorations--a meta-analysis. Dent Mater. 2010;26:993-1000.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2010.06.003

- 103) Schroeder M, Reis A, Luque-Martinez I, Loguercio AD, Masterson D, Maia LC. Effect of enamel bevel on retention of cervical composite resin restorations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Dent. 2015;43:777-88.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2015.02.017
- 104) Higgins JP, Altman DG, Gøtzsche PC, Jüni P, Moher D, Oxman AD, et al. The Cochrane Collaboration's tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. Bmj. 2011;343.https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.d5928
- Schünemann H, Brożek J, Guyatt G, Oxman A, editors. GRADE Handbook [Internet].
 Cochrane Collaboration, 2013 [cited 2021 Jan 9]. Available from:https://gdt.gradepro.org/app/handbook/handbook.html.
- 106) Balshem H, Helfand M, Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. J Clin Epidemiol. 2011;64:401-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.07.015
- 107) Haak R, Hähnel M, Schneider H, Rosolowski M, Park K-J, Ziebolz D, et al. Clinical and OCT outcomes of a universal adhesive in a randomized clinical trial after 12 months. J Dent. 2019;90:103200.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2019.103200
- 108) Rouse MA, May JT, Platt JA, Cook NB, Capin OR, Adams BN, et al. Clinical evaluation of a universal adhesive in non-carious cervical lesions. J Esthet Restor Dent. 2020;32:691-8.https://doi.org/10.1111/jerd.12622
- 109) Matos T, Perdigao J, De Paula E, Coppla F, Hass V, Scheffer R, et al. Five-year clinical evaluation of a universal adhesive: A randomized double-blind trial. Dent Mater. 2020;36:1474-85.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2020.08.007
- Perdigao J, Kose C, Mena-Serrano AP, De Paula EA, Tay LY, Reis A, et al. A new universal simplified adhesive: 18-month clinical evaluation. Oper Dent. 2014;39:113-27.https://doi.org/10.2341/13-045-C
- 111) Costa C, Albuquerque N, Mendonca J, Loguercio A, Saboia V, Santiago S, et al. Catechin-based Dentin Pretreatment and the Clinical Performance of a Universal Adhesive:
 A Two-year Randomized Clinical Trial. Oper Dent. 2020;45:473-83.https://doi.org/10.2341/19-088-C
- 112) de Carvalho LD, Gondo R, Lopes GC. One-year Clinical Evaluation of Resin Composite Restorations of Noncarious Cervical Lesions in Smokers. J Adhes Dent.2015;17:405-11.https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a35009
- 113) Loguercio A, de Paula E, Hass V, Luque-Martinez I, Reis A, Perdigao J, et al. A new universal simplified adhesive: 36-Month randomized double-blind clinical trial. J Dent. 2015;43:1083-92.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2015.07.005

- Loguercio A, Luque-Martinez I, Fuentes S, Reis A, Munoz M, Loguercio AD, et al.
 Effect of dentin roughness on the adhesive performance in non-carious cervical lesions: A double-blind randomized clinical trial. J Dent. 2018;69:60-9.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2017.09.011
- 115) Lopes L, Calazans F, Hidalgo R, Buitrago L, Gutierrez F, Reis A, et al. Six-month Follow-up of Cervical Composite Restorations Placed With a New Universal Adhesive System: A Randomized Clinical Trial. Oper Dent. 2016;41:465-80.https://doi.org/10.2341/15-309-C
- 116) Oz F, Ergin E, Canatan S, Oz FD, Ergin E, Canatan S. Twenty-four-month clinical performance of different universal adhesives in etch-and-rinse, selective etching and self-etch application modes in NCCL - a randomized controlled clinical trial. J Appl Oral Sci. 2019;27. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-7757-2018-0358
 - 117) Ruschel V, Shibata S, Stolf S, Chung Y, Baratieri L, Heymann H, et al. Eighteenmonth Clinical Study of Universal Adhesives in Noncarious Cervical Lesions. Oper Dent. 2018;43:241-9.https://doi.org/10.2341/16-320-C
 - 118) Ruschel V, Stolf S, Shibata S, Chung Y, Boushell L, Baratieri L, et al. Three-year clinical evaluation of universal adhesives in non-carious cervical lesions. Am J Dent. 2019;32:223-8.PubMed PMID: 31675189
 - 119) Zanatta RF, Silva TM, Esper M, Bresciani E, Goncalves S, Caneppele T. Bonding Performance of Simplified Adhesive Systems in Noncarious Cervical Lesions at 2-year Follow-up: A Double-blind Randomized Clinical Trial. Oper Dent. 2019;44:476-87. https://doi.org/10.2341/18-049-C
 - 120) Atalay C, Ozgunaltay G, Yazici A, Atalay C, Ozgunaltay G, Yazici AR. Thirty-sixmonth clinical evaluation of different adhesive strategies of a universal adhesive. Clin Oral Investig. 2020;24:1569-78.https://doi.org/10.1007/s00784-019-03052-2
 - 121) Kemaloglu H, Atalayin C, Ergucu Z, Onal B, Kemaloglu H, Atalayin C, et al. Followup of flowable resin composites performed with a universal adhesive system in non-carious cervical lesions: A randomized, controlled 24-month clinical trial. Am J Dent. 2020;33:39-42.PubMed PMID: 32056414
 - Mena-Serrano A, Kose C, De Paula EA, Tay LY, Reis A, Loguercio AD, et al. A new universal simplified adhesive: 6-month clinical evaluation. J Esthet Restor Dent 2013;25:55–69. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jerd.12005</u>.

- 123) de Albuquerque EG, Warol F, Calazans F, Poubel LA, Marins S, Matos T, et al. A new universal simplified adhesive : 6-month randomized multi-center clinical trial. Rev Bras Odontol 2017;74:251–60. https://doi.org/10.18363/rbo.v74n4.p.251
- 124) Gonçalves DFM, Shinohara MS, Carvalho PRM de A, Ramos F de S e S, Oliveira L de C, Omoto ÉM, et al. Three-year evaluation of different adhesion strategies in non-carious cervical lesion restorations: a randomized clinical trial. J Appl Oral Sci 2021;29. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-7757-2021-0192.
- 125) Shinohara MS, Carvalho PRM de, Neves Marcon L, Gonçalves DFM, Ramos F de SE, Fagundes TC. Randomized clinical trial of different adhesion strategies in noncarious cervical lesion restorations: 1-year follow-up. Quintessence Int 2020;51:352–63. https://doi.org/10.3290/j.qi.a44367.
- 126) Ranjitha GR, Vikram R, Meena N, Vijayalakshmi L, Murthy CS. Clinical efficacy of universal adhesives for the restoration of noncarious cervical lesions: A randomized clinical trial. J Conserv Dent JCD 2020;23:227–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/JCD.JCD_51_20</u>.
- 127) Armstrong S, Breschi L, Ozcan M, Pfefferkorn F, Ferrari M, Van Meerbeek B. Academy of Dental Materials guidance on in vitro testing of dental composite bonding effectiveness to dentin/enamel using micro-tensile bond strength (muTBS) approach. Dent Mater 2017;33:133-143.
- 128) Lopes FC, Roperto R, Akkus A, de Queiroz AM, Francisco de Oliveira H, Sousa-Neto MD. Effect of carbodiimide and chlorhexidine on the bond strength longevity of resin cement to root dentine after radiation therapy. Int Endod J 2020;53:539-552.
- 129) Mazzoni A, Marchesi G, Cadenaro M, Mazzotti G, Di Lenarda R, Ferrari M, et al. Push-out stress for fibre posts luted using different adhesive strategies. Eur J Oral Sci 2009;117:447-453.
- Saboia VP, Nato F, Mazzoni A, Orsini G, Putignano A, Giannini M, et al. Adhesion of a two-step etch-and-rinse adhesive on collagen-depleted dentin. J Adhes Dent 2008;10:419-422.
- 131) Cieplik F, Scholz KJ, Tabenski I, May S, Hiller KA, Schmalz G, et al. Flowable composites for restoration of non-carious cervical lesions: Results after five years. Dent Mater. 2017;33:e428-e37.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2017.09.012</u>
- Briso ALF, Mestrener SR, Delício G, Sundfeld RH, Bedran-Russo AK, de Alexandre RS, et al. Clinical assessment of postoperative sensitivity in posterior composite restorations. Oper Dent 2007;32:421-6.<u>https://doi.org/10.2341/06-141</u>

- Chee B, Rickman LJ, Satterthwaite JD. Adhesives for the restoration of non-carious cervical lesions: a systematic review. J Dent. 2012;40:443-52.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2012.02.007
- 134) Peumans M, De Munck J, Mine A, Van Meerbeek B. Clinical effectiveness of contemporary adhesives for the restoration of non-carious cervical lesions. A systematic review. Dent Mater. 2014;30:1089-103.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2014.07.007</u>
- 135) Szesz A, Parreiras S, Reis A, Loguercio A. Selective enamel etching in cervical lesions for self-etch adhesives: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Dent. 2016;53:1-11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2016.05.009</u>
- 136) Schroeder M, Correa IC, Bauer J, Loguercio AD, Reis A. Influence of adhesive strategy on clinical parameters in cervical restorations: A systematic review and metaanalysis. J Dent. 2017;62:36-53.
- 137) Reis A, Dourado Loguercio A, Schroeder M, Luque-Martinez I, Masterson D, Cople Maia L. Does the adhesive strategy influence the post-operative sensitivity in adult patients with posterior resin composite restorations?: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Dent Mater. 2015;31:1052-67.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2015.06.001
- 138) Berkowitz G, Spielman H, Matthews A, Vena D, Craig R, Curro F, et al. Postoperative hypersensitivity and its relationship to preparation variables in Class I resin-based composite restorations: findings from the practitioners engaged in applied research and learning (PEARL) Network. Part 1. Compend Contin Educ Dent. 2013;34:e44-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.12816/0010811</u>
- Tay FR, Pashley DH. Resin bonding to cervical sclerotic dentin: A review. J Dent.
 2004;32:173-96.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2003.10.009</u>
- 140) Dettori JR. Loss to follow-up. Evid Based Spine Care J. 2011;2:7-10. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0030-1267080
- 141) Nunan D, Aronson J, Bankhead C. Catalogue of bias: attrition bias. BMJ Evid Based
 Med. 2018;23:21-2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/ebmed-2017-110883</u>
- 142) Kharouf N, Ashi T, Eid A, Maguina L, Zghal J, Sekayan N, et al. Does Adhesive Layer Thickness and Tag Length Influence Short/Long-Term Bond Strength of Universal Adhesive Systems? An In-Vitro Study. Appl Sci 2021;11:2635. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app11062635</u>.
- 143) Josic U, Maravic T, Mazzitelli C, Del Bianco F, Mazzoni A, Breschi L. The effect of chlorhexidine primer application on the clinical performance of composite restorations: a literature review. J Esthet Restor Dent 2021;33:69–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jerd.12701</u>.

- 144) Rosa WL de O da, Piva E, Silva AF da. Bond strength of universal adhesives: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Dent 2015;43:765–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2015.04.003.
- Carrilho E, Cardoso M, Marques Ferreira M, Marto CM, Paula A, Coelho AS. 10 MDP Based Dental Adhesives: Adhesive Interface Characterization and Adhesive Stability A Systematic Review. Mater Basel Switz 2019;12:E790.
 https://doi.org/10.3390/ma12050790.
- 146) Yoshida Y, Yoshihara K, Nagaoka N, Hayakawa S, Torii Y, Ogawa T, et al. Selfassembled Nano-layering at the Adhesive interface. J Dent Res 2012;91:376–81. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022034512437375.
- 147) Mancuso E, Comba A, Mazzitelli C, Maravic T, Josic U, Del Bianco F, et al. Bonding to dentin using an experimental zirconium oxynitrate etchant. J Dent 2021;108:103641. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2021.103641.
- 148) Takamizawa T, Barkmeier WW, Tsujimoto A, Endo H, Tsuchiya K, Erickson RL, et al. Influence of Pre-etching Times on Fatigue Strength of Self-etch Adhesives to Enamel. J Adhes Dent 2016;18:501–11. https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.a37361.
- 149) Chen C, Niu L-N, Xie H, Zhang Z-Y, Zhou L-Q, Jiao K, et al. Bonding of universal adhesives to dentine--Old wine in new bottles? J Dent 2015;43:525–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2015.03.004.
- 150) Kumagai RY, Hirata R, Pereira PNR, Reis AF. Moist vs over-dried etched dentin: FE-SEM/TEM and bond strength evaluation of resin-dentin interfaces produced by universal adhesives. J Esthet Restor Dent 2020;32:325–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jerd.12537</u>.
- 151) Loguercio AD, Muñoz MA, Luque-Martinez I, Hass V, Reis A, Perdigão J. Does active application of universal adhesives to enamel in self-etch mode improve their performance? J Dent 2015;43:1060–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2015.04.005</u>.
- 152) Pannuti CM, Sendyk DI, GraÇas YT das, Takai SL, SabÓia V de PA, Romito GA, et al. Clinically relevant outcomes in dental clinical trials: challenges and proposals. Braz Oral Res 2020;34 Suppl 2:e073. https://doi.org/10.1590/1807-3107bor-2020.vol34.0073.
- 153) Bitter, K., Paris, S., Martus, P., Schartner, R., & Kielbassa, A. M. (2004). A Confocal Laser Scanning Microscope investigation of different dental adhesives bonded to root canal dentine. International Endodontic Journal, 37(12), 840–848. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2591.2004.00888.x
- Josic, U., Mazzitelli, C., Maravic, T., Comba, A., Mayer-Santos, E., Florenzano, F.,Breschi, L., & Mazzoni, A. (2022). Evaluation of Fiber Post Adhesion to Root Dentin

Achieved with Different Composite Cements: 1-year In Vitro Results. The Journal of Adhesive Dentistry, 24(1), 95–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.3290/j.jad.b2838131</u>

- 155) Mjo'r IA, Smith MR, Ferrari M, Mannocci F (2001) The structure of dentine in the apical region of human teeth. International Endodontic Journal 34, 346–53.
- 156) Mazzoni, A., Maravić, T., Tezvergil-Mutluay, A., Tjäderhane, L., Scaffa, P. M. C., Seseogullari-Dirihan, R., Bavelloni, A., Gobbi, P., Pashley, D. H., Tay, F. R., & Breschi, L. (2018). Biochemical and immunohistochemical identification of MMP-7 in human dentin. Journal of Dentistry, 79, 90–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdent.2018.10.008
- 157) Frassetto A, Breschi L, Turco G, Marchesi G, Di Lenarda R, Tay FR, et al. Mechanisms of degradation of the hybrid layer in adhesive dentistry and therapeutic agents to improve bond durability--A literature review. Dent Mater. 2016;32(2):e41-53.
- 158) Van Meerbeek B, Van Landuyt K, De Munck J, Hashimoto M, Peumans M, Lambrechts P, et al. Technique-sensitivity of contemporary adhesives. Dent Mater J. 2005;24(1):1-13.
- 159) Tay FR, Pashley DH, Suh BI, Carvalho RM, Itthagarun A. Single-step adhesives are permeable membranes. J Dent. 2002;30(7-8):371-82.
- 160) Jacobsen T, Soderholm KJ. Some effects of water on dentin bonding. Dent Mater.1995;11(2):132-6.
- Breschi L, Mazzoni A, Ruggeri A, Cadenaro M, Di Lenarda R, De Stefano Dorigo E.
 Dental adhesion review: aging and stability of the bonded interface. Dent Mater.
 2008;24(1):90-101.
- 162) Magne, P., Mahallati, R., Bazos, P., & So, W. S. (2008). Direct dentin bonding technique sensitivity when using air/suction drying steps. Journal of Esthetic and Restorative Dentistry, 20(2), 130–138. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1708-8240.2008.00164.x</u>
- 163) Sauro, S., Pashley, D. H., Montanari, M., Chersoni, S., Carvalho, R. M., Toledano, M., Osorio, R., Tay, F. R., & Prati, C. (2007). Effect of simulated pulpal pressure on dentin permeability and adhesion of self-etch adhesives. Dental Materials, 23(6), 705–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dental.2006.06.010
- 164) Pashley DH, Depew DD. Effects of the smear layer, Copalite, and oxalate on microleakage. Oper Dent 1986;11:95-102
- 165) Josic, U., Maravic, T., Bossù, M., Cadenaro, M., Comba, A., Ierardo, G., Polimeni, A., Florenzano, F., Breschi, L., & Mazzoni, A. (2020). Morphological characterization of deciduous enamel and dentin in patients affected by osteogenesis imperfecta. Applied Sciences (Switzerland), 10(21), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/app10217835</u>

- 166) Reynolds, I. R. (1975). A review of direct orthodontic bonding. British Journal of Orthodontics, 2(3), 171-178.
- 167) Patusco, V. C., Montenegro, G., Lenza, M. A., & de Carvalho, A. A. (2009). Bond strength of metallic brackets after dental bleaching. Angle Orthodontist, 79(1), 122–126.
- 168) Gardner, A., & Hobson, R. (2001). Variations in acid-etch patterns with different acids and etch times. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 120(1), 64–67.
- 169) da Rosa, W. L. D. O., Piva, E., & da Silva, A. F. (2015). Bond strength of universal adhesives: A systematic review and meta-analysis. In Journal of Dentistry (Vol. 43, Issue 7, pp. 765–776). Elsevier Ltd.
- 170) Van Meerbeek, B., De Munck, J., Yoshida, Y., Inoue, S., Vargas, M., Vijay, P., Van Landuyt, K., Lambrechts, P., Vanherle, G. (2003). Adhesion to enamel and dentin: current status and future challenges. Operative Dentistry, 28(3), 215-235.
- 171) Janiszewska-Olszowska, J., Szatkiewicz, T., Tomkowski, R., Tandecka, K., & Grocholewicz, K. (2014). Effect of orthodontic debonding and adhesive removal on the enamel – Current knowledge and future perspectives – A systematic review. In Medical Science Monitor (Vol. 20, pp. 1991–2001). International Scientific Literature Inc.
- 172) Cochrane, N. J., Lo, T. W. G., Adams, G. G., & Schneider, P. M. (2017). Quantitative analysis of enamel on debonded orthodontic brackets. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 152(3), 312–319.
- 173) Cacciafesta, V., Sfondrini, M. F., de Angelis, M., Scribante, A., & Klersy, C. (2003). Effect of water and saliva contamination on shear bond strength of brackets bonded with conventional, hydrophilic, and self-etching primers. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 123(6), 633–640.
- 174) Dorminey, J. C., Dunn, W. J., & Taloumis, L. J. (2003). Shear bond strength of orthodontic brackets bonded with a modified 1-step etchant-and-primer technique. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 124(4), 410–413.
- 175) Arnold, R. W., Combe, E. C., & Warford, J. H. (2002). Bonding of stainless steel brackets to enamel with a new self-etching primer. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 122(3), 274–276.
- 176) Cal-Neto, J. P., Miguel, J. A. M. (2006). Scanning electron microscopy evaluation of the bonding mechanism of a self-etching primer on enamel. The Angle Orthodontist, 76(1), 132-136.

- 177) Fleming, P. S., Johal, A., & Pandis, N. (2012). Self-etch primers and conventional acid-etch technique for orthodontic bonding: A systematic review and meta-analysis. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 142(1), 83–94.
- 178) Scougall Vilchis, R. J., Yamamoto, S., Kitai, N., & Yamamoto, K. (2009). Shear bond strength of orthodontic brackets bonded with different self-etching adhesives. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 136(3), 425–430.
- Gracco, A., Lattuca, M., Marchionni, S., Siciliani, G., & Alessandri Bonetti, G. (2015).
 SEM-Evaluation of enamel surfaces after orthodontic debonding: A 6 and 12-month followup in vivo study. Scanning, 37(5), 322–326.
- D'Amario, M., Bernardi, S., di Lauro, D., Marzo, G., Macchiarelli, G., & Capogreco,
 M. (2020). Debonding and clean-up in orthodontics: Evaluation of different techniques and
 micro-morphological aspects of the enamel surface. Dentistry Journal, 8(2).
- 181) Fjeld, M., & Øgaard, B. (2006). Scanning electron microscopic evaluation of enamel surfaces exposed to 3 orthodontic bonding systems. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 130(5), 575–581.
- 182) de Munck, J., Vargas, M., van Landuyt, K., Hikita, K., Lambrechts, P., & van Meerbeek, B. (2004). Bonding of an auto-adhesive luting material to enamel and dentin. Dental Materials, 20(10), 963–971.
- 183) Taschner, M., Krämer, N., Lohbauer, U., Pelka, M., Breschi, L., Petschelt, A., & Frankenberger, R. (2012). Leucite-reinforced glass ceramic inlays luted with self-adhesive resin cement: A 2-year in vivo study. Dental Materials, 28(5), 535–540.
- 184) Bishara, S. E., VonWald, L., Laffoon, J. F., & Warren, J. J. (2001). Effect of a selfetch primer/adhesive on the shear bond strength of orthodontic brackets. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 119(6), 621–624.
- 185) Zope, A., Zope-Khalekar, Y., Chitko, S. S., Kerudi, V. v., Patil, H. A., Bonde, P. V., Jaltare, P., & Dolas, S. G. (2016). Comparison of self-etch primers with conventional acid etching system on orthodontic brackets. Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research, 10(12), ZC19–ZC22.
- Seeliger, J. H., Botzenhart, U. U., Gedrange, T., Kozak, K., Stepien, L., & Machoy,
 M. (2017). Enamel shear bond strength of different primers combined with an orthodontic adhesive paste. Biomedizinische Technik, 62(4), 415–420.
- 187) Bhattacharjee, D., Sharma, K., Sahu, R., Neha, K., Kumari, A., Rai, A. (2021). Comparative evaluation of shear bond strength of brackets bonded with self etch

primer/adhesive and conventional etch/primer and adhesive system. Journal of Pharmacy and Bioallied Sciences, 13(2), S1168-S1173.

- 188) Griffin, J., Mavreas, D., Ruddy, M., Nace, S., Stanton, K. T., & Vannet, B. vande. (2020). Comparison of shear bond strength and ARI of four different adhesive systems used to bond molar tubes: An in-vitro study.
- 189) Boruziniat, A., Khazaei, Y., Motaghi, S., & Moghaddas, M. (2015). Evaluation of bond strength of orthodontic brackets without enamel etching. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Dentistry, 7(4), e519–e523.
- 190) Hellak, A., Ebeling, J., Schauseil, M., Stein, S., Roggendorf, M., & Korbmacher-Steiner, H. (2016). Shear Bond Strength of Three Orthodontic Bonding Systems on Enamel and Restorative Materials. BioMed Research International, 2016.
- Menini, A., Cozzani, M., Sfondrini, M. F. rancesca, Scribante, A., Cozzani, P., & Gandini, P. (2014). A 15-month evaluation of bond failures of orthodontic brackets bonded with direct versus indirect bonding technique: a clinical trial. Progress in Orthodontics, 15, 70.
- 192) Milton Martins de Oliveira Penido, S., Valéria de Sousa Resende Penido, C., dos Santos-Pinto, A., Sakima, T., & Raquel Fontana, C. (2008). Dental Press Ortodon Ortop Facial 66 Maringá (Issue 3).
- 193) Brauchli, L., Zeller, M., & Wichelhaus, A. (2011). Scherkräfte von sieben selbstätzenden Primern nach Thermozyklierung. Journal of Orofacial Orthopedics, 72(5), 371–380.
- 194) Claudino, D., Kuga, M. C., Belizário, L., & Pereira, J. R. (2018). Enamel evaluation by scanning electron microscopy after debonding brackets and removal of adhesive remnants. Journal of Clinical and Experimental Dentistry, 10(3), e248–e251.
- 195) Bishara, S.E., Laffoon, J.F., VonWald, L., Warren, J.J. (2002). The effect of repeated bonding on the shear bond strength of different orthodontic adhesives. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 121(5), 521-5.
- 196) Ryf, S., Flury, S., Palaniappan, S., Lussi, A., van Meerbeek, B., & Zimmerli, B. (2012). Enamel loss and adhesive remnants following bracket removal and various clean-up procedures in vitro. European Journal of Orthodontics, 34(1), 25–32.
- 197) Leão Filho, J. C. B., Braz, A. K. S., de Araujo, R. E., Tanaka, O. M., & Pithon, M. M. (2015). Enamel quality after debonding: Evaluation by optical coherence tomography. Brazilian Dental Journal, 26(4), 384–389.

- Alessandri Bonetti, G., Zanarini, M., Incerti Parenti, S., Lattuca, M., Marchionni, S., & Gatto, M. R. (2011). Evaluation of enamel surfaces after bracket debonding: An in-vivo study with scanning electron microscopy. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 140(5), 696–702.
- Pinzan-Vercelino, C. R. M., Souza Costa, A. C., Gurgel, J. A., & Salvatore Freitas, K.
 M. (2021). Comparison of enamel surface roughness and color alteration after bracket debonding and polishing with 2 systems: A split-mouth clinical trial. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 160(5), 686–694.
- Janiszewska-Olszowska, J., Tomkowski, R., Tandecka, K., Stepien, P., Szatkiewicz, T., Sporniak-Tutak, K., & Grocholewicz, K. (2016). Effect of orthodontic debonding and residual adhesive removal on 3D enamel microroughness. PeerJ, 2016(10).
- 201) Eliades, T., Gioka, C., Eliades, G., Makou, M. (2004). Enamel surface roughness following debonding using two resin grinding methods. European Journal of Orthodontics, 26(3), 333-338.
- 202) Zarrinnia, K., Eid, N. M., Kehoe, M. J. (1995). The effect of different debonding techniques on the enamel surface: an in vitro qualitative study. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 108(3), 284-293.
- 203) Özer, T., Başaran, G., & Kama, J. D. (2010). Surface roughness of the restored enamel after orthodontic treatment. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 137(3), 368–374.
- 204) Eliades, T., Kakaboura, A., Eliades, G., Bradley, T. G. (2001). Comparison of enamel colour changes associated with orthodontic bonding using two different adhesives. European Journal of Orthodontics, 23(1), 85-90.
- 205) Karamouzos, A., Athanasiou, A. E., Papadopoulos, M. A., & Kolokithas, G. (2010). Tooth-color assessment after orthodontic treatment: A prospective clinical trial. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 138(5), 537.e1-537.e8.
- 206) Boncuk, Y., Çehreli, Z. C., & Polat-Özsoy, Ö. (2014). Effects of different orthodontic adhesives and resin removal techniques on enamel color alteration. Angle Orthodontist, 84(4), 634–641.
- 207) Gorucu-Coskuner, H., Atik, E., & Taner, T. (2018). Tooth color change due to different etching and debonding procedures. Angle Orthodontist, 88(6), 779–784.
- 208) al Maaitah, E. F., Omar, A. A. A., & Al-Khateeb, S. N. (2013). Effect of fixed orthodontic appliances bonded with different etching techniques on tooth color: A prospective

clinical study. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 144(1), 43–49.